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 3. Financial statements 2007

01. Company Profile & Strategy

Ternium is one of the leading steel companies in Latin America. We manufacture and 
process a broad spectrum of value-added steel products, including tinplate, galvanized 
and electro-galvanized sheets, pre-painted sheets, welded pipes, and hot rolled and cold 
rolled steel, as well as slit and cut-to-length offerings through our service centers.
We also produce long steel products such as bars and wire rod.

Our customers range from large global companies to small enterprises operating in the 
construction, home appliances, capital goods, container, food and automotive industries. 
We aim to build close relationships with our customers and recognize that our success is 
closely linked with theirs.

With a deeply-engrained industrial culture, Ternium supports its operations with 
21,600 employees. Our manufacturing facilities, with an annual production capacity 
of approximately 12 million tons of finished steel products, are located in Mexico, 
Venezuela, Argentina, the southern US and Guatemala, providing us with a strong 
position from which to serve our core markets.

We are the supplier of choice in some of the most dynamic steel markets in the Americas. 
Our proximity to some of the region’s main steel consuming markets, favorable access 
to energy and iron ore sources and high level of vertical integration, enable us to develop 
profitable capital expenditure programs in the steel value chain, from the development
of iron ore mines to the launch of new products and services, to expand our presence
in attractive steel market segments in the Americas.

We operate with a broad and long-term perspective. We voluntarily take steps to 
improve the quality of life for our employees and their families as well as for the local 
communities and society at large.

For a description of the recent events in Venezuela relating to the Sidor nationalization 
process, see Section 03. Subsequent Events – Sidor nationalization process.



 4. Ternium

02. Operating and Financial Highlights

The financial and operational information contained 
in this annual report is based on consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with International 

EBITDA equals operating income of USD 1.6 billion plus depreciation and 
amortization of USD 565.8 million in 2007, and operating income of USD 1.6 
billion plus depreciation and amortization of USD 424.5 million and other non 
cash items of USD 13.3 million in 2006.

Free cash flow equals net cash provided by operating activities of USD 1.6 
billion and USD 1.2 billion less capital expenditures of USD 436.3 million and 
USD 405.8 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Each ADS represents 10 shares of Ternium common stock.

Shares outstanding were 2,004,743,442 as of December 31, 2007 and 
2,004,743,442 as of December 31, 2006.

Headcount does not include third party services. Headcount increased during 2007 
as a result of the acquisition of Grupo Imsa.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

SALES VOLUME (thousand tons)

Flat products

Long products

Total flat and long products

FINANCIAL INDICATORS (USD millions)

Net sales

Operating income

EBITDA(1)

Income before income tax expense

Net income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interest

Net income for the year

Free cash flow (2)

Capital expenditures

BALANCE SHEET (USD millions)

Total assets

Total financial debt

Net financial debt

Total liabilities

Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders

Minority interest

STOCK DATA (USD per share / ADS)

Basic Earnings per share

Basic Earnings per ADS (3)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (4) (thousand shares)

HEADCOUNT (5)

2007

8,143.9

2,385.9

10,529.7

8,184.4

1,586.4

2,152.3

1,153.0

784.5

216.7

1,001.2

1,127.9

436.3

13,767.3

4,084.9

2,893.6

7,400.4

4,452.7

1,914.2

0.39

3.91

2,004,743.4

23,645

2006

6,861.3

2,173.7

9,035.0

6,565.6

1,636.6

2,074.3

1,258.3

795.4

200.5

996.0

839.2

405.8

8,770.5

1,057.1

413.7

3,283.4

3,757.6

1,729.6

0.41

4.11

1,936,833.1

18,257

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and presented in 
USD (US dollars) and metric tons.
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Sale of non-core US assets
On February 1, 2008, Ternium completed the sale of its
interests in Steelscape, Inc., ASC Profiles Inc., Varco Pruden
Buildings Inc. and Metl-Span LLC to BlueScope Steel
North America Corporation, a subsidiary of BlueScope
Steel Limited, for a total consideration of USD 726 million.
Ternium used the proceeds of the sale to prepay financial debt.

Ternium sold these assets, which had been acquired as
part of the Grupo Imsa transaction in July 2007, after
determining that they were not a strategic fit with our
production system. However, Ternium continues to
own Steelscape’s Shreveport, LA plant, which is already
integrated into our operations, and the pre-engineered metal
buildings and insulated steel panels businesses in Mexico.

03. Subsequent Events

Sidor nationalization process
On March 31, 2008, Ternium controlled approximately 59.7% 
of Sidor, while CVG Corporación Venezolana de Guayana 
(a company owned by the Venezuelan government) held 
approximately 20.4% of Sidor and certain Sidor employees 
and former employees held the remaining 19.9% interest. 

On April 8, 2008, the Venezuelan government announced 
its intention to take control over Sidor. Following the 
confirmation of the Venezuelan government’s decision to 
nationalize Sidor on April 16, 2008, Ternium, Sidor and 
the Venezuelan government entered into an agreement 
providing for the creation of a transition committee, 
composed of representatives of the government, the labor 
union and class B employee shareholders. This committee 
is charged with overseeing Sidor’s operations during the 
transition period until the nationalization is completed, 
acting in coordination with Sidor’s board of directors. 

On April 29, 2008, the National Assembly of the 
Republic of Venezuela passed a resolution declaring 
that the shares of Sidor, together with all of its assets, 
are of public and social interest. This resolution 
authorizes the Venezuelan government to take any  
action it may deem appropriate in connection with any 
such assets, which may include expropriation.

The discussions among representatives of Ternium and 
the Venezuelan government regarding adequate and fair 
terms and conditions upon which all or a significant 
part of Ternium’s interest in Sidor would be transferred 
to the government began with the formation of a 
negotiating committee and are presently under way.  
The date on which control over Sidor would be 
transferred to the government is uncertain at this time.

The impact of the potential government actions with 
respect to Sidor on Ternium’s financial position 
is not determinable at this time. 

Ternium continues to preserve all of its rights under 
contracts, investment treaties and Venezuelan and 
international law and will continue to evaluate its options 
in realizing the fair value of its interest in Sidor.
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Dear Shareholder,

2007 was a busy year for Ternium. Through the acquisition of Imsa, we consolidated our position in the Mexican 
market for flat products and increased our capacity to serve markets with higher value processed products. 
Our shipments of finished steel products continued to grow, reaching 10.5 million tons for the year and 
consolidating our position as the leading Latin American producer of finished steel products. We are investing 
extensively in our industrial system and have embarked on a major steel slab capacity expansion project in our 
San Nicolás plant. 

In August, we successfully acquired Imsa, whose operations, like those of the former Hylsamex, are based in 
Monterrey. These two companies shared a strong focus on industrial excellence and on serving the customer, 
values which are at the core of Ternium’s identity. The former operations of Imsa have been rapidly integrated into 
Ternium and we sold those considered outside our prime area of focus in February 2008 to BlueScope Steel. 

All Ternium’s operations in Mexico now operate under the single Ternium brand and our position in Mexico 
and the southern USA has been reinforced by Imsa’s extensive processing and distribution network and the 
clear customer focus of its human resources. Today, Ternium serves 45% of the market for finished flat steel 
products in Mexico and North America accounts for close to 50% of Ternium’s sales.

In April 2008, the Venezuelan government notified us of their decision to renationalize Sidor, our operation in 
Venezuela, in the midst of a labor dispute with the local steel workers union. Over the past 10 years we have 
worked hard to transform Sidor into an efficient, productive steel complex, which currently has an annual 
capacity of 5 million tons of crude steel. We are negotiating with the government to realize an adequate 
compensation for the value of our participation and the terms on which we will hand over the operation.
The loss of Sidor represents a setback for Ternium in the short term but will not deflect us from our long-term 
goal of being the leading steel producer in Latin America. 

Our markets in South and Central America continued to grow strongly in 2007 and have solid growth 
prospects for the coming years. Our sales in the region increased 23% in 2007 with shipments up 10%.
In North America, the US economic slowdown and inventory adjustments impacted demand less in Mexico 
than in the rest of the region in 2007.

04. Chairman’s Letter
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In a market environment characterized by higher volatility, with sharp rises in raw material costs, Ternium 
continues to invest to strengthen the competitiveness of its industrial system. In addition to our expansion 
project in Argentina, which will increase our crude steel capacity by 1.2 million tons, we are investing to 
increase production capacity at our iron ore mines in Mexico and at our hot and cold rolling mills. These 
investments, which will result in an increased capital expenditure budget for the next two to three years, will 
help to reduce costs consolidating one of Ternium’s core competitive strengths. We will also be looking at 
investment opportunities to offset in whole or in part the loss of Sidor.

We continue to work closely with our small and medium enterprise customers to improve their 
competitiveness in a world where competition is increasingly global. In Argentina, we are helping customers 
to obtain finance and develop export markets and in Mexico, we are participating in federal government 
programs to strengthen the competitiveness of Mexican industrial production.

We remain committed to the sustainable development of the communities where we have our roots and 
are active participants in the definition of industry best practices for protecting the environment under the 
auspices of the International Iron and Steel Institute. In 2007, we installed new air emission control equipment 
at our sinter facilities in Argentina and new bag houses to control dust emissions at our steel shops in 
Argentina and Venezuela.

Our results remained stable compared to 2006. Sales grew by 25% to USD 8.2 billion for the year, but 
operating income and net income remained flat at USD 1.6 billion and USD 1.0 billion respectively. 
This reflected the current high costs of purchasing slabs to meet demand for our finished products and a less 
favorable cost environment for our operations in Argentina and Venezuela. Earnings per ADS were USD 3.91. 

With the increase in our debt level following the Imsa acquisition, and considering our increased capital 
expenditure program over the next two to three years, as well as the opportunities for further growth and 
consolidation of our competitive position that may arise in the current market environment, we propose to 
maintain the dividend for the year at USD 0.50 per ADS. This would be distributed to shareholders in June if 
approved at the annual shareholders’ meeting.

Ternium has evolved rapidly over the past three years and our human resources have been at the forefront of 
our success. I would like to thank our employees for their efforts in another demanding year. I would also like 
to welcome our new colleagues from Imsa and to thank our customers, suppliers and shareholders for their 
continued support and confidence in our company.

Sincerely,

Paolo Rocca
Chairman of the Board of Directors

May 5, 2008
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NORTH AMERICA REGION

Ternium believes it can leverage its competitive 
advantage of being a local producer in Mexico to 
achieve its objectives in the country. Ternium’s local 
producer status provides it with many competitive 
advantages, including low freight costs associated with 
finished product deliveries, direct contact and the ability 
to offer value- added services to end-user customers. 

Such advantages are further enhanced by Ternium’s 
comprehensive downstream integration, which enables 
Ternium to offer value-added steel cost-effectively. 

The economies in the North America Region slowed down
in 2007. The Mexican economy showed less dynamism in
consumption and lower investment activity compared to
2006, though it picked up during the year. GDP increased
3% year-over-year in 2007. The US economy was affected
by a decrease in residential construction and the instability
in financial markets during the second half of the year.
While apparent steel use in Mexico decreased 1% year-over-
year in 2007 to approximately 17.8 million tons, apparent

05. Business Review

steel usage in the entire North America Region decreased
9% during the year, due to lower steel consumption rates
in the US and Canada, coupled with a destocking process
that took place throughout the year. The year-over-year
decrease in apparent steel use in 2007 for the NAFTA
region was offset, to a large extent, by a decrease in steel
imports compared to 2006 levels.
Steel-consuming sectors in Mexico such as construction
and the automotive industry grew in 2007, although at

lower rates than in 2006. In the US, on the other hand,
activity softened in 2007, particularly in the construction,
automotive and home appliance sectors, compared to the
previous year.
The outlook for 2008 in the North America Region is
mixed. GDP growth is expected to be lower compared
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Ternium is the leading supplier of flat and long steel 
products to the Mexican market and, through the 
North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), 
has preferential access to the US and Canadian 
markets.  Among the main steel markets in the 
Americas, Mexico is one of the largest and one in 
which imports account for a significant share of the 
market. Ternium views Mexico as offering attractive 
opportunities for sales growth.
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to 2007. Activity in steel-consuming sectors is expected 
to decrease in the US compared to 2007, though apparent 
steel use is expected to remain relatively unchanged due
to the end of the inventory correction that occurred during 

2007. In Mexico, the main steel-consuming sectors and 
apparent steel use are expected to grow in 2008.
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Grupo Imsa integration
On July 26, 2007, Ternium obtained full control of Grupo 
Imsa, a steel processor with operations in Mexico, the US 
and Guatemala. On February 1, 2008, Grupo Imsa sold 
several manufacturing assets in the US that were not a 
strategic fit with Ternium’s production system.

Following the sale of the non-strategic assets, Grupo 
Imsa’s facilities are mostly located in Mexico and have an 
annual steel processing capacity of approximately
2.3 million tons of hot rolled coils, 1.5 million tons of 
cold rolled products, 1.3 million tons of coated products 
and 0.5 million tons of pre-painted steel. The transaction 
involved a total equity consideration of USD 1.7 billion, 
plus the assumption of USD 1.4 billion of Grupo Imsa’s 
net debt. Ternium reduced Grupo Imsa’s net debt by
USD 0.7 billion using the proceeds of the sale of Grupo 
Imsa’s non-core US assets on February 1, 2008.

With the completion of this transaction, Ternium 
significantly expanded its business in North America,
a region that now accounts for approximately half of its net 
sales, and broadened its presence in Mexico, which is one 
of the largest flat steel markets in the Americas. As of the 
end of the first quarter 2008, Ternium had approximately 
10,600 employees in the North America Region, out of a 
total of 21,600 employees. Revenues in the North America 
Region in 2007 accounted for approximately 42% of 
Ternium’s total revenues.

Integration of Ternium’s Mexican operations
Ternium moved promptly to integrate Grupo Imsa into its 
industrial and supply-chain systems in order to achieve the 
planned synergies beginning in 2008. In this regard, by August 
7, 2007, Ternium’s Mexican operations, comprising Grupo 
Imsa’s and Hylsamex’s assets in the country, began to operate 
under one new functional structure. Most of the assets of 
Grupo Imsa and Hylsamex are expected to be consolidated 
into a single legal entity – Ternium Mexico – during 2008. 

Integration initiatives were launched during the third 
quarter of 2007. These initiatives included:

Specialization of mills, which allows for larger runs and 
greater efficiencies from dedicated mills;

Consolidation of procurement and logistics, resulting in 
better purchasing terms and higher efficiencies arising from 
the supply chain management system; 

Restructuring of the management team, which reduced 
headcount and related expenses; and

Consolidation of marketing activities, which have resulted 
in a more cohesive marketing effort and a better use of the 
Company’s distribution channels.

During 2007, Ternium completed its efforts to improve 
layout and product flow, as well as to increase free land 
availability at its facilities in Monterrey. Activities included 
the scrapping of certain facilities and the integration of 
newly acquired land, as well as the construction of new 
warehouses. The new configuration is the result of the 
reassessment of Ternium Mexico’s operation and flow 
related to the consolidation of Grupo Imsa’s assets into 
Ternium’s value chain.

Ternium also initiated a project designed to expand its
thin slab casting production capacity. The investment,
which is expected to be concluded during 2008, is aimed
at streamlining the facility and is expected to expand annual 
steel production capacity by approximately 85,000 tons to
a total of 1.9 million tons.

Ternium completed the revamping of one of its hot strip 
mills in Monterrey, which included the commissioning of 
a new slab heating furnace. The investment has increased 
the facility’s annual processing capacity by approximately 
350,000 tons of hot rolled coils. Additionally, it has 
improved the quality of its production and the reliability of 
its operation. In 2007, the Company also began revamping 
another hot strip mill in Monterrey, which is expected to 
be completed during 2008. This project will allow Ternium 
to increase the annual processing capacity of the line by 
approximately 280,000 tons.
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As a result of these projects, Ternium Mexico’s annual
hot rolled coil processing capacity is expected to increase
to approximately 5.4 million tons as of year-end 2008.

Ternium also launched in 2007 a revamping project
aimed at enhancing one four-strand cold rolled mill into
a continuous roller. Upon completion of the project
(expected to happen in the first half of 2009), Ternium
Mexico’s annual cold rolled coils processing capacity is
expected to expand by approximately 350,000 tons to
a total of 2.6 million tons.

During 2007, Ternium also completed the expansion
and revamping of its galvanizing lines in Monterrey;
added cutting facilities in its service centers in
Churubusco, Apodaca and San Luis Potosi, Mexico;
and commissioned a new facility in Shreveport, US,
which includes galvanizing, pre-painting and cutting 
facilities. As a result, Ternium’s North American
annual processing capacity increased to 1.8 million
tons of galvanized, 0.8 million tons of pre-painted and
3.8 million tons of service center's customized products,
as of year-end 2007.

The impact, if any, of the nationalization of Sidor in our
North American operations is not presently determinable.
For a description of the recent events in Venezuela relating to
the Sidor nationalization process, see Section 03. Subsequent
Events – Sidor nationalization process.
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SOUTH AND CENTRAL
AMERICA REGION
In 2007, Ternium was the leading supplier of flat steel 
products to Argentina, Venezuela, Colombia, Peru, 
Ecuador, Chile, Paraguay and Uruguay. The Company 
benefited from the steady growth of the per capita 
steel consumption in these economies, which still is 
substantially lower than that of developed economies.

The construction, automotive and capital equipment 
sectors had another positive year in 2007. In Argentina,
the construction sector grew 6% year-over-year in 2007,
while the automotive sector achieved record-high 

The economies of South and Central America continued 
to enjoy strong growth, characterized by good prices for 
commodities, healthy public finances and moderate interest 
rates. The main regional economies showed robust growth 
for the fifth year in a row and a good performance in their 
construction and industrial sectors.

Finished steel demand continued to grow in Ternium’s 
markets in the region. Apparent steel use in South and 
Central America (ex Brazil) is estimated to have grown 9% 
year-over-year in 2007, with advances in every major market.

production levels and 13% year-over-year growth in the 
same year. Construction activity in Venezuela grew for the 
fourth year in a row in 2007, by 10% compared to 2006. 

GDP PERFORMANCE 
LATIN AMERICA (*)

Gr
ow

th
(%

 y
ea

r/
ye

ar
)

5.0

6.0

7.0

4.0

3.0

2.0

1.0

1.9

6.2

4.6

5.5 5.6

0.0

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007E

APPARENT STEEL USE
SOUTH AND CENTRAL 
AMERICA EX BRAZIL (*)

Al
l p

ro
du

ct
s

(0
00

 to
ns

)

11,000

12,000

13,000

14,000

15,000

16,000

17,000

18,000

19,000

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007E
(*) Source: IISI.

(*) Source: IISI.

CONSTRUCTION 
ARGENTINA (*)

CONSTRUCTION 
VENEZUELA (*)

Gr
ow

th
(%

 y
ea

r/
ye

ar
)

Gr
ow

th
(%

 y
ea

r/
ye

ar
)

30 30

40 40

50 50

20 20

10 10

0 0

-10 -10

36.2

-7.6

20.2

43.4

14.7
20.0

16.0

35.6

6.1
10.2

-20 -20

2003 20032004 20042005 20052006 20062007E 2007E



 14. Ternium

Demand for steel products in Argentina continued at 
healthy levels in 2007. The country’s economy performed 
well in 2007, exhibiting GDP growth of 9% year-over-
year, mainly driven by solid growth in domestic demand. 
Flat steel use grew 14% to about 2.6 million tons in 2007, 
supported by increased consumption in the construction 
and industrial sectors.

Steel demand in Venezuela continued to be strong in 2007. 
The country’s economic performance during the year, 
which exhibited GDP growth of 8%, was aided by strong 
government spending, which grew 3% in real terms in 
2007 on top of a 32% expansion in the previous year. The 
Venezuelan steel market grew 12% year-over-year in 2007 
to about 3.6 million tons of apparent steel use, supported 
by the expansion of the construction sector. Activity in 
the country’s oil industry was softer in 2007 than it was in 
2006. In spite of this, Ternium maintained strong shipment 
levels to Venezuela’s oil industry due to the development 
of natural gas projects. The Colombian steel market 
maintained its positive performance of previous years in 
2007, with apparent steel use at about 3.1 million tons, an 
increase of 14% year-over-year, which resulted mainly from 
strong activity in the construction sector. In Peru, apparent 
steel use grew to approximately 1.8 million tons in 2007, 
an increase of 22% year-over-year. The country’s economy 
continued to show one of the highest growth rates in the 
region, particularly in the construction sector. 

Steel demand also was strong in Chile, Bolivia, Paraguay 
and Uruguay. The economies of these countries performed 
well in 2007, recording GDP growth rates of between 4% 
and 6% year-over-year. Ternium’s steel product shipments 
to these markets were higher as a result of increased 
economic activity. This was particularly true in Paraguay 
and Bolivia where Ternium’s shipments grew 45% and 
39%, respectively, year-over-year in 2007.

The outlook for the South and Central America Region 
in 2008 is mixed following the announcement of the 
Venezuelan government’s decision to nationalize Sidor. 
The economies of the region should continue to enjoy a 
strong environment for commodities and relatively stable 
financial conditions. GDP performance is expected to be 
lower compared to 2007, as the main economies continue 
to adhere to their longer-term growth trends.

In this context, apparent steel use is expected to post 
another year of growth in the region, although the current 
instability in international financial markets and the 
slowdown in the US economy may affect the region’s 
steel market to an extent that is not yet certain. However, 
Ternium’s shipments to South & Central America are 
expected to decrease significantly upon completion of the 
Sidor nationalization. For a description of the recent events 
in Venezuela relating to the Sidor nationalization process, see 
Section 03. Subsequent Events – Sidor nationalization process.

During 2007, Ternium continued developing its capital 
expenditures program in Venezuela. First, it commissioned a 
new ladle furnace at its facilities in Puerto Ordaz, Venezuela, 
to streamline production processes in its flat steel shop 
there. The investment was expected to be supplemented 
with improvement projects in the mill’s loading system 
and in the slabs shipping area during 2008. In addition, 
Ternium launched the revamping of one direct reduced iron 
(DRI) production facility in Puerto Ordaz, Venezuela, with 
the objective of increasing annual production capacity by 
400,000 tons to a total of 800,000 tons.

Ternium also made significant capital expenditures in 
Argentina. For example, the Company commissioned 
a new coke battery in San Nicolás, Argentina, which 
resulted in an increase in annual coke production capacity 
of 200,000 tons to a total of 1.3 million tons. The higher 
availability of internally-produced coke will allow Ternium 
to reduce its overall cost of steel production. Additionally, 
the Company launched the revamping of two coke batteries 
in operation, with the goal of improving performance and 
reducing gas emissions.

In addition, in January 2007, the Company re-started a blast 
furnace in San Nicolás, Argentina, following a relining that 
took 95 days to complete. The project is expected to allow 
continuous operation of the mill for a new 12- to 15-year 
production campaign. Additionally, Ternium prepared for 
the planned relining of its other blast furnace, which should 
be blown down during the fourth quarter of 2008 for a 
period of approximately 90 days.
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The investment associated with the relining of the second 
blast furnace is part of the Company’s plan to increase its 
annual steelmaking capacity in Argentina by 1.2 million 
tons to a total of 4.0 million tons in 2010.

Ternium also completed the revamping of its hot strip mill 
in San Nicolás, Argentina, in January 2007, which included 
the commissioning of a new slab heating furnace. During 
2007, Ternium launched a new project in the hot strip mill 
aimed at further expanding its production capacity. The 
addition of a new coiler, to be commissioned during 2009, 
is expected to increase Ternium’s annual hot rolled coil 
processing capacity by a further 100,000 tons to a total
of 2.9 million tons.

Finally, Ternium initiated a project for a new ladle furnace 
and slab continuous casting facility for the steel shop in 
Argentina. The new facilities, which are central to the 
1.2 million ton slabs expansion plan, are expected to be 
completed by early 2010. The higher availability of slabs
is expected to lead to a reduction in Ternium’s overall cost 
of finished steel production.

IRON ORE MINING
In 2006, Ternium created its Office of Mining Development 
to oversee the existing production activities in iron ore mining 
and the development of new projects in Mexico. Its main 
objective is to secure the supply of iron ore for Ternium’s 
facilities in Mexico for at least a 20-year operating period. 
The surplus production of iron ore is commercialized to 
hedge the iron ore procurement requirements of Ternium’s 
facilities in Argentina and Venezuela.

The Office of Mining Development operates two 
production areas responsible for the extraction, processing 
and production of iron ore. It also oversees an area 
responsible for geological studies and the exploration of 
new reserves, as well as the development of new projects and 
expansion programs and an area responsible for community 
relations initiatives for promoting and maintaining close 
relations with communities in mining zones.

Current facilities are organized under two operating 
companies: Las Encinas (LESA), which is 100% owned by 
Ternium; and Peña Colorada, which is 50% owned
by Ternium and 50% owned by Arcelor Mittal.

The Office of Mining Development has approximately 1,300 
direct employees and a combined production capacity of
5.9 million tons per year of pellets, 0.4 million tons per year 
of concentrate and 0.4 million tons per year of fines. Of these 
totals, Arcelor Mittal is entitled to receive up to 2.0 million tons 
per year of pellets and 0.2 million tons per year of concentrate.

LESA
LESA has a pellets plant located in the community of 
Alzada in the Colima state of Mexico, with a production 
capacity of 1.9 million tons per year. In addition to the 
production of pellets, approximately 0.4 million tons per 
year of hematite iron ore is produced as fines for export.

The Company has three mines in operation in Mexico: 
Cerro Nahuatl, located in Colima; Aquila, located in nearby 
Michoacan and El Encino, located in nearby Jalisco and 
currently in stand-by mode. Management estimates that 
these mines, together with Colomera, located in Michoacan, 
and Sierra del Alo, located in Jalisco, have proven reserves of 
51 million tons of concentrate equivalent, or 22 plus years of 
operation at current production rates.

Additionally, probable and potential reserves are estimated 
to be approximately 30 million tons in Sierra del Alo; 
20 million tons in Aquila-Colomera; 50 million tons at 
a new mining concession in La Vainilla-La Aguja in the 
Aquila-Colomera region; 165 million tons in Guayabera and 
San Martin, Michoacan; and 100 million tons in San Jorge-
San Quintin, in northern Baja California.

During 2007, LESA’s mining concession area was doubled. 
Of note was the new 56,000-acre concession in the Aquila-
Colomera region which is located in an area that is close to 
other Ternium mines. This proximity will facilitate the mine’s 
integration with the Company’s existing operations. LESA 
began exploration in this new concession area in early 2008.

Peña Colorada
Ternium has a two-line pellets plant in Manzanillo port in 
Colima, with a combined production capacity of 4.4 million 
tons per year of pellets and concentrate. The pellets plant 
is fed from a mine in the Minatitlan municipality located in 
Colima. Management estimates that the mine has proven 
reserves of 94 million tons of concentrate equivalent, or
21 plus years of operation at current production rates.
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Additionally, probable and potential reserves are estimated 
to be approximately 48 million tons in Minatitlan and
44 million tons in Arrayanes.

Probable and potential reserves at LESA’s and Peña 
Colorada’s current concessions, if proven, could permit 
the development of new mining projects to increase iron 
ore production. Extensive exploration projects began in 
2008. These involve more than 50,000 meters of drilling to 
continue the quantification of proven and probable reserves.

SUPPORT PROGRAM FOR SMALL- AND
MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES
Ternium sponsors a small- and medium-sized enterprise 
(SME) support program called “Pro-pymes”. The program, 
created by the Techint group of companies, is focused on 
helping SMEs in the steel industry’s value chain to grow. 
First launched in Argentina in 2002, in 2007, Pro-pymes

assisted over 700 SMEs in Mexico, Venezuela and Argentina.

Customers and suppliers are invited to join the program, 
provided they comply with certain qualifications, 
including specific management skills and growth potential. 
Suppliers who join the program have the opportunity to 
become suppliers of participating companies worldwide. 
The ultimate goal of the program is to enhance SMEs’ 
competitiveness and to stimulate investments in the value chain.

In 2007, Ternium organized its participation in Pro-

pymes into three departments, each responsible for the 
program’s execution in Mexico, Venezuela and Argentina. 
Each department operated under local management 
supervision and was centrally coordinated by a Pro-pyme

program director responsible for Ternium’s and the other 
participating companies’ initiatives in the three countries.

One of the pillars of the program is industrial assistance. 
The activities are carried out either by professionals from 
the Company payroll or by first-class local universities.

Starting in 2008, Ternium has been recognized as an SME 
foster company by the Mexican Government. As a result, 
Ternium is able to facilitate SMEs’ access to the United 
Nations Development Program (UNDP), thereby providing 

SMEs with the opportunity to receive financing, personnel 
training and industrial and marketing studies.

In Argentina, the program has also focused on SME 
difficulties in accessing financial markets. Ternium, together 
with other sponsoring companies, offers financial assistance 
and advice to those companies seeking credit facilities to 
fund projects aimed at increasing production levels and 
updating production technology.

The program has also assisted companies with growth 
opportunities in international markets. Ternium promoted 
marketing reports by different institutions and consultants. 
Furthermore, the program offered advice with respect to 
international negotiations and patenting of new products, 
and facilitates the participation of SMEs in government-
organized commercial missions abroad. Ternium has given 
SMEs access to its vast commercial network in order to 
provide them with added logistical and commercial support.

In 2008, the program will focus on increasing industrial 
assistance and implementing training courses for SME 
personnel of all levels.

PRODUCT RESEARCH AND 
DEVELOPMENT
Ternium continuously seeks to introduce new value-added 
products and transform its technical knowledge into 
competitive advantages. The Company carries out its 
applied research efforts in conjunction with universities 
and research centers, and through its participation in 
international consortia.

Product development and research activities at Ternium 
are conducted through a central Product Development 
Department, in coordination with local teams that 
operate in each production unit. The department, with 
approximately 40 members, has a consolidated product 
development plan that combines the initiatives of the 
Company’s different production units.

Ternium’s new product research and development activities are 
carried out in three simultaneous and complementary tracks: 
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The first track, comprising one- to two- year-term projects, 
primarily encompasses Ternium’s in-house new product and 
process development activities.

The second track, comprising two- to three-year-term 
projects, primarily encompasses the applied metallurgical 
research required to support the development of new 
products. These activities are conducted mainly in 
coordination with universities and research centers such as 
the Center for Industrial Research (CINI) in Argentina; the 
Argentine Steel Institute (IAS); the Buenos Aires Institute 
of Technology (ITBA) in Argentina; and the Research 
and Advanced Studies Centre of the National Polytechnic 
Institute (Cinvestav) in Mexico, among others.

The third track, comprising three- to five-year-term projects, 
primarily encompasses the feasibility studies for innovative 
ideas. These types of projects generate the knowledge that 
establishes the basis for advanced processing technologies 
and product development and improvement. Activities are 
mostly carried out through international research consortia 
such as the Galvanized Autobody Partnership, conducted 
by the International Lead Zinc Research Organization 
(ILZRO); the Coil Coated Materials Committee led by the 
French Corrosion Institute; the Steel Research Center at 
McMaster University; the Thin Slab Casting and Rolling 
Consortium run by Pittsburgh University; the Tinplate 
Group at Tin International; and Interzac, within the 
International Zinc-Aluminum Coaters Association.

During 2007, the development of new flat and long steel 
products targeted the requirements mainly of customers 
within the automotive, oil and gas tubular products, electric 
motor and domestic appliance industries. The assessment of 
customer needs and subsequent developments were possible due 
to Ternium’s direct technical contact with end-user customers.

Ternium’s association with Mexican and Argentine car 
manufacturers and auto-parts suppliers resulted in the 
development of new parts for different vehicles. This 
required new hot rolled, coated and wire rod steels, 
supported by the design of new chemical compositions 
and the achievement of new thermo-mechanical processing 
conditions.

New products developed in 2007 by Ternium for the 
automotive industry include hot rolled high-strength alloyed 
steel for beams and crossbars; hot dip galvanized steel 
grades for non-exposed applications; and wire rod high-
strength steel grade for springs.

The Company’s advancement in product research and 
development allowed Ternium to tap new market niches 
such as the rail wagon manufacturing industry in Mexico 
and Venezuela, through the development of hot rolled 
cupper-alloyed corrosion-resistant structural steel. It also 
helped the Company reinforce its strategic position in 
the oil industry in Mexico and Venezuela, through the 
introduction of new flat steel products for the production 
of API (American Petroleum Institute) line pipe for oil and 
gas conduction projects, including hot rolled and polygonal 
ingots for certain API grades.

The Company strengthened its position in the motor 
manufacturers’ industry through the development of 
efficiency- and productivity-enhancing products, such as the 
ultra-low carbon motor-lamination cold rolled grades.

For the home appliance market, Ternium continued 
introducing high value-added coated products which are 
designed for specific functional or aesthetic applications. 
Recent developments in this area include a scratch-resistant 
hot dip galvanized and pre-painted steel for refrigerator 
doors, and antimicrobial pre-painted steel for heating, 
ventilating and air conditioning units.

For 2008, Ternium has focused its research and development 
efforts in further improving product characteristics for 
the main industrial segments, including advanced high-
strength steel for the automotive, construction and pipe 
industries; environmentally-friendly coatings with superior 
performance for the domestic appliance and food canning 
industry segments; special grades for electrical use; and 
improved corrosion-resistant coated steels for industrial, 
commercial and construction applications.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND COMMUNITIES
The development of its human resources is a key component 
of Ternium’s corporate strategy. The Company actively 
develops its management. Currently more than 53% of 
Ternium’s top management positions and 60% of its middle 
management positions are held by employees who joined 
the Company in the early stages of their career as part of a 
training program for recently-graduated professionals. This 
is a two-year program where graduates, coached by a senior 
employee assigned as tutor, join Ternium in anticipation 
of an eventual job opening and hold different assistant 
positions during the first year, gaining in-depth knowledge 
in several areas of expertise. In addition, Ternium sponsors 
employees that show high potential to pursue graduate 
studies in leading universities around the world.

Ternium also has developed and implemented a training 
program for all of its non-operating employees, designed 
to educate them on the main business processes of the 
Company, so that they can assess and understand how day-
to-day decisions across Ternium can affect the businesses' 
value chain. The program is designed to provide a basic 
understanding of Ternium’s production processes, marketing 
approach, administration and finance objectives, human 
resources management and information technology 
applications.

Ternium has also developed an on-going training program 
for operating employees that includes several customized 
courses. These courses are designed to inform our 
employees of the latest concepts and tools in relevant fields 
to encourage them to achieve the highest possible levels
of productivity and operating efficiency.

Ternium’s well-established human resources and employee 
development programs played a critical role in the 
acquisition of Grupo Imsa at the end of July 2007 and
its consolidation with Hylsamex, as the various employee 
constituencies and diverse cultures required careful 
consideration. The integration thus far has been successful 
and is proceeding according to plan.

Communities
In 2007, Ternium designed and implemented programs and 
activities aimed at improving the overall quality of life in the 
communities in which it has facilities.

These include Mexico, Venezuela, Argentina, Guatemala 
and the United States. We led projects and partnered with 
public and private institutions in community improvement 
programs focused on education, health and culture.
Ternium’s programs aim to establish long-term sustainable 
relationships and foster a sense of collaboration in the 
community's where the Company operates. Our community 
budget supports a select number of high-impact programs. 
On occasion, funding also is directed toward specific 
community requests. 

Communities in Mexico
Ternium is now one of Monterrey’s major industrial 
employers after the acquisition of Grupo Imsa. To uphold 
its responsibility as a good corporate citizen, Ternium 
underwrote several initiatives in Monterrey that promote 
health, education, culture and sports among its employees, 
their families and the broader community.

In the mining areas the focus is mainly in health-related 
initiatives. The program includes promoting a prophylactic 
medicine program, providing medical equipment and 
infrastructure support to rural medical centers.

Ternium’s education efforts include participating in the 
renovation of facilities and equipment for local public 
schools, as well as the development of technical facilities 
to advance the technical training of teachers. Ternium 
has established scholarship programs for university 
undergraduates as well as for talented school students.
The Company also organized a program to foster and 
encourage the development of young leaders.

In addition, Ternium sponsored activities to encourage 
social integration and increase the quality of life of its 
employees and the broader communities. These included 
supporting sports training schools, where events were 
organized across several disciplines, as well as the 
organization of cultural seminars and leisure activities
for employees and their families.
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Communities in Venezuela
In 2007, community programs in Venezuela were focused on 
education, health and the support of sport and cultural activities.
In the area of education, Ternium’s contributions were 
directed at infrastructure improvements and new equipment 
for local public schools. Additionally, Ternium partnered 
with the Junior Achievement Foundation to provide grants 
to several students to help them continuing their education. 
Ternium also supported the development of technical 
careers through a scholarship program aimed at university 
undergraduates pursuing technical degrees.

Ternium continued to address the housing needs of its 
employees. Under the Company’s housing plan, 83% of the 
Company’s employees had their own housing as of year-end 2007.

Ternium’s sponsored activities to encourage social 
integration and sports among its employees and with the 
broader community included a local marathon and inter-
company athletic programs. 

Communities in Argentina
In 2007, the Company implemented several programs 
aimed at advancing education, health and culture. Activities 
included direct support to local educational and healthcare 
institutions, scholarships, seminars, cultural activities and 
sports events, including a local city marathon.

The Company continued its program to strengthen 
local technical schools. This endeavor included funding 
scholarships and providing training for students and 
teachers, and expanding the infrastructure of the 
participating technical schools. Ternium also started a 
program aimed at reducing student drop-out rates in some 
regions. Under this program, students at certain local schools 
who were at risk of dropping out were granted scholarships.

The Company also participated in the complete remodeling 
of a local hospital and in the design of a training program 
aimed at improving the quality of its management, 
assistance and operation.

In addition, Ternium continued several initiatives to 
enhance the quality of life of its employees, such as 
providing assistance with home financing, supporting home 
equipment enhancements, conducting nutrition seminars, 
and organizing leisure activities for employees’ children.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY
Ternium’s facilities abide by a common environmental, 
safety and occupational health policy. Environmental 
investment projects in Ternium are coordinated by a 
corporate Technical Director and executed by the local 
Engineering and Environment managers. Likewise, safety 
activities are coordinated through a central department 
within the corporate Industrial Direction of the Company, 
in coordination with local departments operating in each 
production unit.

The Company adopted the International Iron and Steel 
Institute (IISI) policy statement and its principles for 
excellence in safety and occupational health, as well as the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s (OSHA) 
18,000 international standard directives.

Ternium has actively participated in the IISI forums focused 
on sustainable development, environment, safety and 
occupational health, with the aim of developing and sharing 
state-of-the-art best practices. These forums include the 
Climate Change Policy Group, Life Cycle Assessment, CO2

Breakthrough Program, Water Management, Sustainability 
Reporting, By-product Management, and the Safety and 
Occupational Health Committee and its
working subgroups.

Chief among Ternium top management’s core 
responsibilities are prevention, education, workplace 
intervention and incident and accident analysis.
The Company continues to develop a unified safety 
management information system to support
the implementation and execution of its safety 
management programs.
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The first two modules, which encompass the processing
of events and improvement plan management, are already
in operation. The unified safety management information
project will be completed during 2008 with the addition of
two more modules, encompassing safety risk identification
and assessment, and management control and follow-up.

Ternium’s injuries frequency rate (1 )

 (2 )

(IFR) reached a new low
of 7.9 in 2007, down from an IFR of 9.2 the previous year.
Likewise, the Company’s lost time injuries frequency rate
(LTIFR) was 4.3 in 2007, down from 6.5 in the previous
year. These measures encompass the activities of our
personnel and of the personnel of third party companies
operating in our facilities. The results demonstrate the
growing commitment and participation of management and
workers in activities aimed at improving safety.

In 2007, Ternium initiated a new program designed to prevent
the occurrence of serious accidents. Under this program, the
safety measures within key processes and tasks were surveyed
and comprehensively reassessed. Recommendations and
corrective measures, as well as a permanent audit program,
are expected to be in operation during 2008.

The audit program, which will be conducted by middle and
senior management, is expected to ensure the continuous
commitment to safety by all interested parties.

Ternium continually reviews its operations to maximize the
efficient use of energy resources, the re-use of by-products
and the appropriate treatment and disposal of wastes air
emissions and waste water. Noteworthy developments in
2007 were the new air emission control equipment at our
sinter facilities and two new bag houses for the steel shops
in Argentina and Venezuela.

The new air emission control equipment for the sinter plant
includes an electrostatic precipitator and bag house at a
total investment of USD 13 million. The new bag house for
the steel shops in Argentina and Venezuela increased the
waste gas treatment efficiency of these facilities, at a total
investment of USD 14 million.

TERNIUM - INJURIES FREQUENCY RATE - OWN AND CONTRACTORS' PERSONNEL
MONTHLY AND ROLLING YEAR AVG. EVOLUTION

TERNIUM - LOST TIME INJURIES FRECUENCY RATE - OWN AND CONTRACTORS' PERSONNEL
MONTHLY AND ROLLING YEAR AVG. EVOLUTION

0.0 0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

Ja
n-

06

Ja
n-

06

Fe
b-

06

Fe
b-

06

M
ar

-0
6

M
ar

-0
6

Ap
r-0

6

Ap
r-0

6

M
ay

-0
6

M
ay

-0
6

Monthly Values Monthly ValuesRolling Year Avg. Rolling Year Avg.

7.9 4.3

6.3 3.6

Ju
n-

06

Ju
n-

06

Ju
l-0

6

Ju
l-0

6

Au
g-

06

Au
g-

06

Se
p-

06

Se
p-

06

Oc
t-

06

Oc
t-

06

No
v-

06

No
v-

06

Di
c-

06

Di
c-

06

Ja
n-

07

Ja
n-

07

Fe
b-

07

Fe
b-

07

M
ar

-0
7

M
ar

-0
7

Ap
r-0

7

Ap
r-0

7

M
ay

-0
7

M
ay

-0
7

Ju
n-

07

Ju
n-

07

Ju
l-0

7

Ju
l-0

7

Au
g-

07

Au
g-

07

Se
p-

07

Se
p-

07

Oc
t-

07

Oc
t-

07

No
v-

07

No
v-

07

De
c-

07

De
c-

07

Injuries frequency rate refers to total quantity of injuries per million 
of hours worked.
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Greenhouse gas emissions
According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC), the steel industry accounts for between 
3% to 4% of total world greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. 
Ternium supports the steel industry’s on-going efforts to 
develop innovative solutions to reduce GHG emissions
over the lifecycle of steel products.

Today, steel producers utilize complex energy and gas 
management systems for optimal energy use in their 
processes. Gaseous by-products are used as fuels, replacing 
primary energy. As a result of these strategies, the 
current industrial processes associated with primary steel 
production are achieving GHG-specific emission levels that 
are close to the theoretical minimum. This is the case for the 
electric arc furnace route, which is the technology employed 
in our steel production facilities in Mexico and Venezuela.

Additionally, certain clean development mechanism 
projects (CDM, as outlined in the Kyoto Protocol) were 
internally evaluated and some will be developed at our steel 
production facility in Argentina, such as the blast oxygen 
furnace waste gas recovery system for electricity generation. 
A formal undertaking of this project under the CDM 
scheme is scheduled to begin in mid-2008.

PCB
Studies made on polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) 
questioned the utilization of this product as cooling 
oil in electric transformers, among other applications, 
as PCB may pose inappropriate risks to health and the 
environment. Consequently, and in compliance with 
local laws and regulations as well as with the Stockholm 
Convention Guidelines, Ternium developed a plan to 
replace and manage all PCB-based electric transformers 
according to each country’s defined schedule. Upon the 
conclusion of this plan, all of Ternium’s facilities will 
become PCB-free, beginning with its Mexican facilities in 2008.

Air quality monitoring program
The environmental authority of the Buenos Aires province, 
Argentina, promotes the development of an air quality 
monitoring system. Ternium will contribute the equipment 
to be installed during 2008 in the surroundings of its main 
facility in the country, located near the city of San Nicolás 
in said province. These autonomous devices will report 
real time air quality information to feed a dedicated public 
website.
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05. Corporate Governance

SHARES
Ternium has a single class of shares, with each share having 
equal rights, including the entitlement to one vote at our 
general shareholders’ meetings. Our articles of association 
provide that the annual ordinary general shareholders’ 
meeting, at which our annual financial statements are 
approved and the members of our board of directors are 
appointed, occur in Luxembourg on the first Wednesday of 
every June at 2:30 p.m., Luxembourg time.

We have an authorized share capital of a single class of 3.5 
billion shares, with a nominal value of USD 1.00 per share. 
Our articles of association currently authorize our board 
of directors, for a period commencing on June 17, 2005 
and ending on October 26, 2010, to issue shares within the 
limits of our authorized share capital at such times and on 
such terms and conditions as the board of directors
or its delegates may determine. Accordingly, until October 
26, 2010, shares may be issued up to the authorized share 
capital limit of USD 3.5 billion by a decision of the board 
of directors. With the exception of some cases set out in 
the articles of association, any issuance of shares for cash 
within the limits of the authorized share capital shall be,
as long as our shares are listed on a regulated market, 
subject to the pre-emptive subscription rights of the
then existing shareholders.

There are no limitations currently imposed by Luxembourg 
Law on the rights of non-resident shareholders to hold or 
vote our shares.

The Company may repurchase its own shares in the cases 
and subject to the conditions set by the Luxembourg Law 
of August 10, 1915, as amended.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Our articles of association provide for a board of directors 
consisting of a minimum of five (5) members (when 
the shares of the Company are listed on a regulated 
market as they currently are) and a maximum of fifteen 
(15) members. The board of directors is vested with the 
broadest powers to act on behalf of the Company and 
accomplish or authorize all acts and transactions of 
management and disposal which are within its corporate 
purpose and which are not specifically reserved in the 
articles of association to the general shareholders’ meetings.

The board of directors is required to meet as often as required 
by the interests of Ternium. A majority of the members of
the board of directors in office present or represented at
each board of directors’ meeting constitutes a quorum,
and resolutions may be adopted by the vote of a majority
of the directors present or represented. In case of a tie,
the chairman is entitled to cast the deciding vote. 

Directors are elected at the annual ordinary general 
shareholders’ meeting to serve one-year renewable terms,
as determined by the shareholders. Our current board of directors 
is comprised of 11 directors and an audit committee, which is 
comprised entirely of independent directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
Ternium has an audit committee consisting of three 
independent directors. The members of the audit committee 
are not eligible to participate in any incentive compensation 
plan for Ternium employees or any of its subsidiaries. Under 
our articles of association and the audit committee charter, 
the audit committee: 

Assists the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities relating to the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Company, including periodically 
reporting to the board of directors on its activity; 

Is responsible for making recommendations for the 
appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of, 
and assessment of the independence of, the Company’s 
independent auditors; 

Reviews Material Transactions (as such term is defined 
in the Company’s articles of association and the audit 
committee charter) between Ternium or its subsidiaries 
with Related Parties (as such term is defined in the 
Company’s articles of association; other than transactions 
that were reviewed and approved by the independent 
members of the board of directors or other governing 
body of any subsidiary of Ternium) to determine whether 
their terms are consistent with market conditions or are 
otherwise fair to Ternium and its subsidiaries; and
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Performs such other duties imposed to it by applicable laws 
and regulations of the regulated market or markets on 
which the shares of Ternium are listed, as well as any other 
duty entrusted to it by the board of directors. 

The audit committee has the authority to conduct any 
investigation appropriate to fulfilling its responsibilities, 
and has direct access to the Company’s internal and 
external auditors as well as Ternium’s management and 
employees and, subject to applicable laws, its subsidiaries. 

AUDITORS
Our articles of association require the appointment of 
at least one independent auditor chosen from among the 
members of the Luxembourg Institute of Independent 
Auditors. Auditors are appointed by the shareholders 
through a resolution passed by a simple majority vote
at the annual general shareholders’ meeting, irrespective
of the number of shares present or represented, on the 
audit committee’s recommendation.

Shareholders may determine the number and the term of the 
office of the auditors at the ordinary general shareholders’ 
meeting, provided however that an auditor’s term shall not 
exceed one year and that any auditor may be reappointed or 
dismissed by the shareholders. As part of their duties,
the auditors report directly to the audit committee. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers (acting, in connection with our 
statutory annual accounts required under Luxembourg 
law, through PricewaterhouseCoopers S.ár.l., Réviseur 

d’entreprises, and, in connection with our annual and 
interim consolidated financial statements required 
under the laws of other relevant jurisdictions, through 
Price Waterhouse & Co. S.R.L.) was appointed as the 
Company’s independent auditor at the ordinary general 
shareholders’ meeting held on June 6, 2007. On June 
17, 2005, our general shareholders’ meeting resolved to 
amend and restate the Company’s articles of association, 
as a result of which the position of statutory auditor was 
eliminated in accordance with the provisions of applicable 
Luxembourg law.
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06. Board of Directors and 
Executive Officers

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman
Paolo Rocca

Vice Chairman 
Rinaldo Campos Soares

Ubaldo Aguirre (*)

Roberto Bonatti

Carlos Condorelli

Adrián Lajous Vargas (*)

Bruno Marchettini 

Daniel Novegil 

Gianfelice Rocca 

Pedro Pablo Kuczynski (*)

Bertoldo Machado Veiga

Secretary
Raúl Darderes

(*) Audit Committee Members

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Chief Executive Officer and Director 
Daniel Novegil

Chief Financial Officer 
Roberto Philipps 

North Region Area Manager 
Julián Eguren

South Region Area Manager 
Martín Berardi

Central Region Area Manager 
Ricardo Prósperi

International Area Manager
Fernando Landa

Planning and Operations General Director 
Oscar Montero 

Technical Director 
Luis Andreozzi 

Human Resources Director 
Miguel Angel Punte

Chief Information Officer
Rubén Bocanera
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07. Corporate Information / 
Investor Information

REGISTERED OFFICE

46a Avenue John F. Kennedy

L1855 Avenue - Luxembourg

Luxembourg

(352) 26 68 31 52 tel

(352) 26 68 31 53 fax

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES

Mexico
Av. Guerrero Nte. 151

San Nicolás de los Garza

Nuevo León

66452 México

(52) 81 8865 2828 tel

INVESTOR INFORMATION
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The review of Ternium’s financial condition and results
of operations is based on, and should be read in conjunction
with, the Company’s audited consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in the annual report.

Ternium prepares its consolidated financial statements
according to International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), which differ in certain significant respects from
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United
States (US GAAP) and other accounting standards.
It is important to note that as a consequence of the
consolidation of results and other financial data of Grupo
Imsa as of July 26, 2007, results vary significantly from
those in 2006.

On February 1, 2008, Ternium completed the sale of its
non-strategic interests in certain US subsidiaries of Grupo
Imsa to BlueScope Steel North America Corporation,
a subsidiary of BlueScope Steel, for a total consideration
of USD 726 million. Ternium used the proceeds of the sale
to prepay financial debt. The decision to sell the afore-
mentioned assets was made on November 30, 2007. The
results of these operations up until that date were recorded
under a single line item on the income statement item and
defined as income from discontinued operations. Ternium
expects to record an after-tax gain of approximately USD
101 million from the asset sale, which will be accounted for
in Ternium’s first quarter 2008 consolidated results.

On April 8, 2008, the Venezuelan government 
announced its intention to take control over Sidor. 
Following the confirmation of the Venezuelan 
government’s decision to nationalize Sidor on April 16, 
2008, Ternium, Sidor and the Venezuelan government 
entered into an agreement providing for the creation 
of a transition committee, composed of representatives 
of the government, the labor union and class B employee 
shareholders. This committee is charged with overseeing 
Sidor’s operations during the transition period until the 
nationalization is completed, acting in coordination with 
Sidor’s board of directors. 

On April 29, 2008, the National Assembly of the Republic 
of Venezuela passed a resolution declaring that the shares
of Sidor, together with all of its assets, are of public
and social interest. This resolution authorizes the Venezuelan
government to take any action it may deem appropriate 
in connection with any such assets, which may
include expropriation.  

The discussions among representatives of Ternium and 
the Venezuelan government regarding adequate and fair 
terms and conditions upon which all or a significant part 
of Ternium’s interest in Sidor would be transferred to 
the government began with the formation of a negotiating
committee and are presently under way. The date on 
which control over Sidor would be transferred to the 
government is uncertain at this time. 

The impact of the potential government actions with  
respect to Sidor on Ternium’s financial position  is not

determinable at this time.

Ternium continues to preserve all of its rights under contracts,
investment treaties and Venezuelan and international 

law and will continue to evaluate its options in realizing 
the fair value of its interest in Sidor. 
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Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Other operating income and expenses

Operating income

Financial income (expenses), net

Equity in earnings (losses) of associated companies

Income before income tax expense and minority interests

Income tax expenses

Income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net income for the year

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interest

2007 2006

All amounts in USD million

8,184.4

(5,796.0)

2,388.3

(825.8)

  23.9

1,586.4

(426.4)

(7.1)

1,153.0

(162.6)

  990.3

  10.8

1,001.2

  784.5

  216.7

6,565.6

(4,297.0)

2,268.6

(624.8)

(7.3)

1,636.6

(382.8)

4.5

1,258.3

(262.4)

996.0

–

996.0

            795.4 

200.5

100.0%   

-70.8%

29.2%

-10.1%

0.3%

19.4%

-5.2%

-0.1%

14.1%

-2.0%

12.1%

0.1%

12.2%

9.6%

2.6%

100.0%

-65.4%

34.6%

-9.5%

-0.1%

24.9%

-5.8%

0.1%

19.2%

-4.0%

15.2%

–

15.2%

12.1%

3.1%

Results of operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, 
selected financial data from Ternium’s consolidated income 
statement and the Company’s operating costs and other 
expenses for the fiscal years 2007 and 2006.



 32. Ternium

2007 2006

4,779.7

3,124.7

239.5

8,143.9

1,257.4

1,113.4

15.0

2,385.9

10,529.7

4,360.6

2,412.6

88.2

6,861.3

948.3

1,225.4

0.0

2,173.7

9,035.0

Net sales

Net sales for the fiscal year 2007 increased 25% to USD 
8.2 billion, compared with 2006. The sales figure was 
higher due to the effect of the consolidation of Grupo 
Imsa, as well as higher shipments and revenue per ton.  
Shipments of flat and long products were 10.5 million 
tons during 2007, an increase of 17% compared to 
shipment levels in 2006, mainly due to Grupo Imsa’s 
consolidation, higher shipment levels in the South & 
Central America Region and lower shipment activity 
in the North America Region. Revenue per ton shipped 
increased 8% to USD 758 in 2007 versus 2006, mainly 
as a result of higher prices and the consolidation of 
Grupo Imsa’s higher value-added product mix.

During 2007 steel consumption in the North America 
Region decreased 9% year-over-year, due to the economic 
slowdown. The lower steel usage largely took place in 
the US and Canadian steel markets, as industries such as 
construction, home appliances and automotive softened 
during 2007. The Mexican steel market was relatively 
stable in 2007, as it showed a decrease of 1% in apparent 
steel consumption, while GDP grew 3% for the year.

Ternium’s markets in the South and Central America 
Region continued their rapid expansion. Steel demand 
from countries in the Andean Community and the 
Mercosur benefited from significant GDP growth as well 
as from an increase in per capita consumption given the 
large infrastructure and development needs within the 
region. Steel markets in Argentina and Venezuela showed 
relatively strong growth rates during 2007, with apparent 
steel consumption increases of 14% and 12%, respectively.  
Argentina benefited from solid GDP growth of 9% in 
2007, driven by significant growth in steel consumption 
in both the industrial and construction sectors. Venezuela 
also benefited from a positive environment as GDP grew 
at a rate of 8%, mainly supported by an expansion of the 
construction sector. The oil industry in Venezuela operated 
in a less favorable environment, although Ternium was 
able to maintain healthy shipment levels to this industry 
as a result of the development of natural gas projects.

SHIPMENTS

South & Central America

North America

Europe & Other

Total flat steel 

South & Central America

North America

Europe & Other

Total long steel

Total flat and long sales 

Metric tons (thousands)
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Flat product sales

Flat steel sales in 2007 totaled USD 6.5 billion, 29% higher 
than in 2006, as a result of the consolidation of Grupo Imsa 
and higher shipments and revenue per ton. Shipments of flat 
products totaled 8.1 million tons in 2007, an increase of 19% 
compared with 2006, mainly due to higher shipment levels 
in the South & Central America Region, the consolidation 
of Grupo Imsa and lower shipment activity in the North 
America Region. Healthy steel demand in the South & Central 
America steel markets, fueled by growth in construction, capital 
equipment and automotive industries, helped offset the decrease 
in sales volume to the North America Region.

Revenue per ton shipped increased  8% to USD 800 in 2007 
compared with 2006, mainly as a result of higher steel 
prices and the consolidation of Grupo Imsa’s higher 
value-added product mix.

Long product sales

Long steel sales reached USD 1.5 billion in 2007, an increase 
of 16% compared to 2006 due to higher shipment levels 
in the South & Central America Region partially offset by 
lower sales volume in the North America Region, while prices 
were higher across all of Ternium’s markets. Shipments of 
long products totaled 2.4 million tons in 2007, representing 

2007 2006

783

838

631

800

608

625

457

615

758

700

813

549

738

555

600

–

581

700

REVENUE PER TON

South & Central America

North America

Europe & Other

Total flat steel 

South & Central America

North America

Europe & Other

Total long steel

Total flat and long sales 

USD/Ton

2007 2006

3,743.5

2,617.3

151.0

6,511.8

764.1

696.0

6.9

1,466.9

7,978.7

205.7

8,184.4

3,051.4

1,960.7

48.4

5,060.6

526.8

735.8

0.0

1,262.6

6,323.2

242.4

6,565.6

NET SALES

South & Central America

North America

Europe & Other

Total flat steel 

South & Central America

North America

Europe & Other

Total long steel

Total flat and long sales 

Other products

Total net sales       

USD millions
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a 10% increase versus 2006. The strong construction 
activity in South and Central America, in particular that 
of Argentina and Venezuela, offset the softness observed 
in the NAFTA markets. Revenue per ton shipped increased 
6% to USD 615 in 2007 over 2006.

Sales by region

Flat and long product sales in the South & Central America 
Region were USD 4.5 billion during 2007, an increase of 
26% versus 2006. This increase was due to higher volumes 
and revenue per ton. Shipments in the region totaled 6.0 
million tons during 2007, an increase of 14% compared to 
2006. Demand for steel grew in 2007 as a result of healthy 
economic growth in the region, spurred mainly by strong 
commodity prices. Revenue per ton shipped in the South & 
Central America Region increased 11% to USD 747 in 2007 
over 2006, mainly due to favorable pricing conditions.

Sales of flat and long products in the North America 
Region totaled USD 3.3 billion in 2007, an increase 
of 23% versus 2006. Shipments in the region were 4.2 
million tons during 2007, an increase of 16% versus 
2006, mainly due to the effect of the consolidation of 
Grupo Imsa, partially offset by a decrease in shipments 
mainly due to the softening economy and a destocking 
process that took place throughout 2007. Revenue per ton 
shipped increased 5% to USD 782 in 2007 versus 2006, 
mainly as a result of the consolidation of Grupo Imsa’s 
higher value-added product mix.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales totaled USD 5.8 billion in 2007, or 71% of 
net sales, compared to USD 4.3 billion, or 65% of net 
sales, in 2006. Cost of sales increased as a result of the 
consolidation of Grupo Imsa, which increased Ternium’s 
cost per ton due to Grupo Imsa’s higher production cost 
structure and higher value added product sales mix.  
Additionally, Ternium experienced higher year-over-year 
cost of sales due mainly to an increase in shipment volume; 
higher costs for raw materials and other supplies, as well as 
increased costs for freight, services, labor and maintenance; 
and higher amortizations. Cost of sales in 2006 was largely 
impacted by certain one-time events, which increased costs 
in the fourth quarter of that year.

Prices for slab supplies to Ternium’s Mexican operations 
were higher during 2007 compared to 2006. In addition, 
the consolidation of Grupo Imsa resulted in an increased 
volume of purchased slabs with a cost per ton significantly 
higher than Ternium’s average cost of slab production.

Prices for iron ore supplies to Ternium’s Argentine and 
Venezuelan operations were higher during 2007 than they 
were in 2006. In addition, the metallic mix cost reflected 
lower efficiencies at Siderar that resulted from iron ore river 
transportation constraints during the fourth quarter 2007.

Scrap prices increased year-over-year in Mexico during 
2007. Additionally, labor costs in Argentina and Venezuela 
increased during 2007 versus the prior year.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses 
in 2007 were USD 825.8 million, or 10% of net sales, 
compared with USD 624.8 million, or 10% of net sales, 
in 2006. The increase in SG&A expenses in absolute 
terms in 2007 resulted in part from the consolidation of 
Grupo Imsa. In addition, Ternium’s SG&A increased 
mainly from higher freight expenses associated with 
higher shipment levels and related costs, as well as a year-
over-year tax increase in Venezuela related to a recently-
enacted tax on debits in checking accounts and higher 
personnel costs in Argentina and Venezuela.

Operating income and EBITDA* 

Operating income in 2007 was USD 1.6 billion, or 19% 
of net sales, compared with USD 1.6 billion, or 25% of net 
sales, in 2006. EBITDA in 2007 was USD 2.2 billion, 
or 26% of net sales, compared to USD 2.1 billion, or 32% 
of net sales, in 2006. The reduction in Ternium’s EBITDA 
margin resulted from the consolidation of Grupo Imsa, 
which as a steel processor has lower EBITDA margins than 
integrated producers. In addition, Ternium’s EBITDA 
margin in 2007 was affected by higher costs partially offset 
by higher volumes and prices. Equity holders’ EBITDA in 
2007 was 68% of Ternium’s EBITDA.

EBITDA in 2007 equals operating income of USD 1.6 billion plus depreciation 
and amortization of USD 565.8 million.

*
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Net financial expenses

Net financial expenses totaled USD 426.4 million in 2007, 
compared with USD 382.8 million in 2006. This increase was 
due mainly to:

A USD 20.3 million increase in net foreign exchange 
losses – an effect that is offset to a large extent by changes 
in Ternium’s net equity position – that resulted primarily 
from the impact of the Mexican peso depreciation on the 
Company’s Mexican subsidiaries’ US dollar-denominated 
debt. Ternium’s subsidiaries prepare their financial statements 
in currencies other than the US dollar in accordance with 
IFRS; 

A USD 14.9 million increase in net interest expense that is 
primarily associated with an increase in net debt as a result 
of the Grupo Imsa transaction; and 

A USD 12.4 million increase in the excess cash distribution 
related to Sidor’s participation accounts, partially offset by 
a USD 13.0 million net increase in the fair value of some 
derivative instruments entered into by Ternium in order to 
mitigate energy prices and interest rate fluctuations.

Ternium Sidor’s excess cash distribution related to 
the participation accounts recognized in 2007 was 
USD 701.6 million, compared with USD 670.9 million 
in 2006. The recognition of payments to minority 
shareholders of Sidor resulted in expenses for Ternium 
of USD 282.5 million in 2007, compared with expenses of 
USD 270.2 million in 2006.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for 2007 was USD 162.6 million,
or 14% of income before income tax and minority interest.  
This figure includes a gain of USD 135.2 million as a 
result of Sidor’s lower deferred tax liability, which resulted 
mainly from an adjustment for inflation concerning the 
value of Sidor’s depreciable fixed assets for tax purposes in 
accordance with Venezuelan tax law. The 2007 income tax 
expense compares with a 2006 income tax expense of 
USD 262.4 million, or 21% of income before income tax 
and minority interest.

Income attributable to minority interest

Income attributable to minority interest for 2007 was USD 
216.7 million, compared with USD 200.5 million in 2006.  
The year-over-year increase was due mainly to higher 
income attributable to minority interest in Sidor, partially 
offset by the reduction in minority interest on account 
of Ternium’s acquisition of an additional 4.85% stake in 
Siderar on December 29, 2006.

Liquidity and financial resources

Our financing strategy is to maintain adequate financial 
resources at hand and access to additional liquidity to 
meet our objective of strategic acquisitions and organic 
growth. In 2007, we tapped the capital markets to obtain 
bank financing for our USD 1.7 billion equity investment in 
Grupo Imsa. However, cash flow from operations was still 
Ternium’s principal source of funding during the year.

We are confident that our cash flow from operations and 
our access to external borrowings are sufficient to meet 
our needs for working capital and that we have ample 
debt coverage to service our obligations for the foreseeable 
future. We believe that our liquidity and access to capital 
and international bank markets give us significant flexibility 
to execute our planned capital expenditures and to carry 
out strategic acquisitions if such opportunities arise. 

We hold money market investments and variable rate or 
fixed rate securities from investment grade issuers. We 
concentrate our cash in major financial centers, mainly 
New York. We hold our cash primarily in US dollars and 
limit our holdings of other currencies to the minimum 
required to fund our cash operating needs. Liquid financial 
assets as a whole represented 9% of our total assets at the 
end of 2007.

Historical cash flows

Operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2007 was 
USD 1.6 billion compared to USD 1.2 billion in 2006.  
Net cash provided by operating activities in 2007 was 
comprised of net income of USD 1.0 billion plus added-
back depreciation and amortization of USD 565.8 million, 
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a deduction of USD 181.0 million for income tax accruals, 
less payments mainly related to Sidor’s lower deferred tax 
liabilities and other adjustments, including working capital 
needs, which increased the figure by USD 178.2 million. 
Net cash provided by operating activities in 2006 consisted 
of net income of USD 996.0 million, plus added-back 
depreciation of USD 424.5 million and other adjustments 

Net cash provided by operating activities

Acquisition of business

Capital expenditures

Other investing activities, net 

Net cash used in investing activities 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31

2007 2006

All amounts in USD million 

1,564.2

(1,538.8)

(436.3)

(348.6)

(2,323.6)

1,252.7

493.3

(0.3)

633.0

1,126.1

1,245.0

(210.5)

(405.8)

6.0

(610.4)

(756.3)

(121.7)

(0.3)

755.0

633.0

including working capital needs which reduced the figure 
by USD 175.5 million. The year-over-year increase in net 
cash provided by operating activities resulted mainly from 
a reduction in working capital needs and higher 
depreciation and amortization charges, partially offset by 
an increase in income tax accruals less payments.

Investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities during 2007 was 
USD 2.3 billion compared to USD 610.4 million in 2006. 
Net cash used in investing activities in 2007 was mainly 
comprised of USD 436.3 disbursed for capital expenditures, 
USD 1.5 billion used for the acquisition of Grupo Imsa 
and USD 297.7 million of income tax paid in connection 
with the same acquisition that constitutes an income tax 
credit. Net cash used in investing activities in 2006 consisted 
mainly of USD 405.8 million for capital expenditures and 
USD 210.5 million used to acquire Impeco, as well to make 
a 50% equity investment in Acerex and to acquire a 4.85% 
stake in Siderar.

Capital expenditures disbursed in 2007 included the 
following main investments:

Mexico: the upgrading of the hot strip mills and a cold 
rolled mill; 

Argentina: the relining of a blast furnace, the revamping 
and expansion of the coking facilities and the construction 
of a new bag house for the steel shop; and

Venezuela: the revamping of a DRI production unit, 
the upgrading of the loading system and the construction 
of a new ladle furnace in a steel shop.  
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Ternium’s USD 405.8 million capital expenditures 
disbursed in 2006 included the following investments: 

Mexico: the installation of facilities for storing and 
handling slabs, a new reheating furnace and the upgrading 
of the hot strip mill #1; 

Argentina: the relining of blast furnace #1 as well as 
improvements and enhancements in the areas of sinter 
production, coking facilities and the hot strip mill; and

Venezuela: new oxygen production facilities, the revamping 
and expansion of the Midrex direct reduction of iron 
modules and disbursements associated with the installation 
of a new ladle furnace. 

Financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2007 was USD 
1.3 billion compared to net cash used in financing activities 
of USD 756.3 million in 2006. Proceeds from borrowings 
during 2007 were USD 4.1 billion, mainly related to the 
Grupo Imsa transaction. A majority of this debt is held by 
Ternium’s Mexican subsidiaries. Repayment of borrowings 
in 2007 was USD 2.8 billion, related to the refinancing of 
most of Ternium’s Mexican subsidiaries’ outstanding debt 
and to debt payments upon maturity. Ternium also paid 
dividends of USD 100.2 million in 2007. 

In 2006, Ternium did not engage in major acquisitions 
and applied a large positive cash flow from operations, 
the net proceeds of its IPO for USD 525 million and new 
borrowings of USD 167.3 million to pay scheduled debt 
maturities and to pre-pay outstanding borrowings for 
a total of USD 1.4 billion.

Principal sources of funding

Funding policy 

Our policy is to maintain a high degree of flexibility in 
our operating and investment activities by maintaining 
adequate liquidity levels and ensuring our access to readily 
available sources of financing. Most of our financing is 
conducted in US dollars. We select the type of facility, 
associated rate and term after considering the intended 
use of proceeds.

Financial liabilities

Ternium’s borrowings as of December 31, 2007, consisted 
mainly of different bank loans and facilities. Outstanding 
financial debt amounted to USD 4.1 billion at year end, 
compared with USD 1.1 billion as of December 31, 2006, 
an increase of USD 3.0 billion largely resulting from new 
financing and debt assumed in connection with the Grupo 
Imsa transaction. Ternium’s net debt position (borrowings 
less cash and cash equivalents and other current 
investments) increased by USD 2.5 billion during 2007 
to USD 2.9 billion as of December 31, 2007, compared to 
net debt of USD 413.7 million as of December 31, 2006. 

In a subsequent event corresponding to the sale of Grupo 
Imsa’s non-strategic interests in the US, the net proceeds of 
USD 726 million were used to pre-pay financial debt and, 
as a result of this pre-payment, Ternium’s net financial 
debt got reduced to approximately USD 2.2 billion, or 
approximately 1.0x net debt to 2007 EBITDA.

The dollar-denominated portion of the USD 4.1 billion 
of Ternium’s outstanding financial debt is 97.8%.  
For 2007, the average interest rate, which incorporates 
instruments denominated in various currencies, was 
6.15%. The Company has in place a variety of interest rate 
derivatives put in place to mitigate interest rate fluctuations 
as most  of the Company’s long term borrowings 
outstanding as of December 31, 2007, were Libor-based 
variable rates.  The amounts, tenor and main characteristics 
of the instruments can be found on Note 25 in the Financial 
Statements section.
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Consolidated 
financial statements
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

46a, Avenue John F. Kennedy, 2nd floor
L – 1855 
R.C.S. Luxembourg : B 98 668
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Price Waterhouse & Co. S.R.L.
Firma miembro de PricewaterhouseCoopers
Bouchard 557, piso 7º
C1106ABG – Ciudad de Buenos Aires
Tel.: (54–11) 4850–0000
Fax: (54–11) 4850–1800
www.pwc.com/ar

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Ternium S.A. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated 
statements of income, of cash flows and of changes in shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Ternium S.A. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 
2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements 
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Price Waterhouse & Co. S.R.L.
by

Marcelo D. Pfaff  

(Partner)

Report of Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm

Buenos Aires, Argentina

February 26, 2008
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2006

 6,565,582

(4,296,979)

 2,268,603

(624,784)

(7,250)

 1,636,569

(112,918)

  52,554

(322,417)

–

  4,534

 1,258,322

(262,356)

  995,966

–

  995,966

  795,424

  200,542

  995,966

1,936,833,060

0.41

0.41

2005

 4,449,771 

(2,486,974)

 1,962,797

 (504,687)

 (65,949)

 1,392,161

 (81,608)

  32,324

 (261,452)

  188,356

  21,524

 1,291,305

 (218,492)

 1,072,813

–

 1,072,813

  704,406

  368,407

 1,072,813

1,209,476,609

0.58

0.54

TERNIUM S.A.

Consolidated financial statements as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Consolidated income statements

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit 

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Other operating income (expenses), net 

Operating income 

Interest expense

Interest income

Other financial expenses, net 

Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over cost

Equity in (losses) earnings of associated companies 

Income before income tax expense

Income tax expense 

Income from continuing operations

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Income from discontinued operations

Net income for the year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interest 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity
holders of the Company (expressed in USD per share)

Diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity
holders of the Company (expressed in USD per share)

NOTES

30

6 & 30

7

9

30 & 31

30

10 & 30

3

14

11

29

28

28

All amounts in USD thousands

2007

 8,184,381

(5,796,040)

 2,388,341

(825,807)

  23,874

 1,586,408

(142,137)

  66,878

(351,096)

–

(7,065)

 1,152,988

 (162,640)

  990,348

  10,818

 1,001,166

  784,490

  216,676

 1,001,166

2,004,743,442

0.39

0.39

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2006

 5,420,683

  551,587

  16,285

  13,387

  36,439

  78,903

  175,818

  7,852

 1,241,325

  577,866

–

  643,352 

  60,543

  985,155

  274,566

  7,229

  548,401

  103,195

  158,374

  621,754

  15,487

   508,694 

Consolidated balance sheets

DECEMBER 31

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment, net 

Intangible assets, net 

Investments in associated companies

Other investments, net 

Deferred tax assets 

Receivables, net

CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Inventories, net

Trade receivables, net

Other investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Total assets

EQUITY 

Capital and reserves attributable to the company’s equity holders 

MINORITY INTEREST

Total equity 

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions

Deferred income tax

Other liabilities

Trade payables

Borrowings

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current tax liabilities

Other liabilities 

Trade payables 

Derivative financial instruments

Borrowings

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale

Total liabilities 

Total equity and liabilities

NOTES

12

13

14

15 & 30 

23

16 & 30 

17 & 30

25

18

19 & 30

20

20

29

21

23

24

30

26

24 & 30

30

25

26

29

All amounts in USD thousands

2007

 6,858,779

 1,452,230

  44,042

  14,815

  31,793

  217,638

  426,038

577

 1,913,051

  847,827

  65,337

 1,126,041 

  57,345

 1,337,039

  336,500

  6,690

 3,677,497

  184,766

  182,239

  983,884

  13,293

  407,404

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 8,619,297

 4,378,871

  769,142

 5,148,013

 13,767,310

 4,452,680

 1,914,210

 6,366,890

 5,415,071

 1,771,586

  213,763

 1,985,349

 7,400,420

 13,767,310

 6,117,284

 2,646,213

  7,042

 2,653,255

 8,770,539

 3,757,558

 1,729,583 

  5,487,141 

 1,875,894

 1,407,504

–

 1,407,504

 3,283,398

 8,770,539
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Consolidated statements of changes 
in shareholders’ equity

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1

Currency translation adjustment

Net income for the year 

Total recognized income for the year

Dividends paid in cash and other distributions

Dividends paid in cash and other distributions by subsidiary companies

Acquisition of business – Note 3

Contributions from shareholders – Note 1

Conversion of Subordinated Convertible Loans – Note 1

Initial Public Offering – Note 1

Balance at December 31 

All amounts in USD thousands

Capital 
stock 

 

 1,396,552

 

  33,801

  302,962

  271,429

 2,004,744

Initial Public 
Offering 

expenses 

 (5,456)

(17,839)

(23,295)

Revaluation 
and other 
reserves

 1,462,137

(32,429)

  43,100

  302,962

  271,429

 2,047,199

Capital 
stock issue 

discount 

(2,298,048)

(26,818)

(2,324,866)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE COMPANY’S EQUITY HOLDERS (1)

(2)

(3)

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1

Currency translation adjustment

Net income for the year 

Total recognized income for the year

Dividends paid in cash and other distributions

Dividends paid in cash and other distributions by subsidiary companies

Acquisition of business – Note 3

Contributions from shareholders – Note 1

Contributions from minority shareholders in consolidated subsidiaries

Conversion of Subordinated Convertible Loans – Note 1

Initial Public Offering – Note 1

Balance at December 31 

All amounts in USD thousands

Capital 
stock 

 

 2,004,744

 

  

 

  

 

 2,004,744

Initial Public 
Offering 

expenses 

 (23,295)

(23,295)

Revaluation 
and other 
reserves

 2,047,199

(100,237)

 1,946,962

Capital 
stock issue 

discount 

(2,324,866)

(2,324,866)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE COMPANY’S EQUITY HOLDERS (1)

(2)

(3)



 45. Financial statements 2007

(1) Shareholders’ equity determined in   
 accordance with accounting principles  
 generally accepted in Luxembourg is  
 disclosed in Note 27 (IV). 
(2) At December 31, 2007, the Capital stock  
 adds up to 2,004,743,442 shares at a  
 nominal value of USD1 each.
(3) Represents the difference between book  
 value of non-monetary contributions  
 received from shareholders under   
 Luxembourg GAAP and IFRS.

 Dividends may be paid by Ternium to  
 the extent distributable retained earnings  
 calculated in accordance with Luxembourg  
 law and regulations exist. Therefore,  
 retained earnings included in these   
 consolidated financial statements may not  
 be wholly distributable. See Note 27 (IV).  
 The accompanying notes are an integral part  
 of these consolidated financial statements.

Currency
translation
adjustment

(92,691)

(28,917)

(28,917)

(121,608)

Retained
earnings

 1,379,960

  795,424

  795,424

 2,175,384

Total

 1,842,454

(28,917)

  795,424

  766,507

(32,429)

  50,083

  605,924

  525,019

 3,757,558

Minority
interest

 1,733,465

(7,990)

  200,542

  192,552

(27,175)

(122,261)

(46,998)

 1,729,583

2006

3,575,919

(36,907)

  995,966

  959,059

–

(27,175)

(154,690)

  3,085

  605,924

  525,019

 5,487,141

2005

 1,771,851

(120,246)

 1,072,813

  952,567

(238,652)

(130,571)

 1,171,422

  54,758

–

(5,456)

 3,575,919

TOTAL EQUITY AT DECEMBER 31

Currency
translation
adjustment

(121,608)

10,869

10,869

(110,739)

Retained
earnings

 2,175,384

  784,490

  784,490

 2,959,874

Total

 3,757,558

10,869

  784,490

  795,359

 (100,237)

 4,452,680

Minority
interest

 1,729,583

(13,019)

  216,676

  203,657

(20,000)

(195)

–

  1,165

–

–

 1,914,210

2007

5,487,141

(2,150)

 1,001,166

  999,016

(100,237)

(20,000)

(195)

–

  1,165

–

–

 6,366,890

2006

 3,575,919

(36,907)

  995,966

  959,059

–

(27,175)

(154,690)

  3,085

–

  605,924

  525,019

 5,487,141

TOTAL EQUITY AT DECEMBER 31



2006

  995,966 

  424,495

(18,075)

  13,323

–

  46,947

(4,534)

  4,197

  33,802

(276,153)

–

  25,005

 1,244,973

(405,817)

  5,185

(210,548)

–

–

–

(2,598)

  3,425

–

(610,353)

–

(27,175)

  525,019

  3,085

–

  167,283

(1,424,495)

(756,283)

(121,663)

  754,980

(315)

(121,663)

  633,002

  605,924

Consolidated cash flow statements

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income for the year 

ADJUSTMENTS FOR

 Depreciation and amortization 

 Income tax accruals less payments 

 Derecognition of property, plant and equipment 

 Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over cost

 Changes to pension plan 

 Equity in loss (earnings) of associated companies

 Interest accruals less payments 

Changes in provisions

Changes in working capital 

Discontinued operations

Others

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures 

Changes in trust funds

Acquisition of business: 

 Purchase consideration

 Cash acquired (1)

Income tax credit paid on business acquisition

Increase in other investments

Investments in associated companies

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 

Discontinued operations

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid in cash and other distributions to company’s shareholders

Dividends paid in cash and other distributions by subsidiary companies

Net proceeds from Initial Public Offering

Contributions from shareholders

Contributions from minority shareholders in consolidated subsidiaries

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayments of borrowings

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At January 1 (2)

Effect of exchange rate changes

Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Conversion of debt instruments into shares

NOTES

12 & 13

31

9 (III)

3

24

14

31

21 & 22

31

29

12 & 13

3

3

3

29

 20

All amounts in USD thousands

2007

 1,001,166  

  565,848

(181,048)

–

–

–

  7,065

  89,465

(10,125)

  24,883

  6,535

  60,412

 1,564,201

(436,268)

–

(1,728,869)

  190,087

(297,700)

(65,337)

–

  24,883

(10,435)

(2,323,639)

(100,237)

(20,000)

–

–

  1,165

 4,132,745

(2,760,938)

 1,252,735

  493,297

  633,002

(258)

   493,297

 1,126,041

–

(1) The amount of cash acquired of USD 520,753 was presented as a movement in cash 
 and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005.
(2)  In addition, the Company has restricted cash for USD 10,350 and USD 10,650 at December 31, 
 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2005

1,072,813

  316,405

(44,008)

  54,348

(188,356)

–

(21,524)

  24,523

  19,046

  54,420

–

(25,212)

 1,262,455

(244,939)

  83,570

(2,196,678)

  520,753

–

–

–

  6,063

–

(1,831,231)

(238,652)

(130,571)

–

  54,758

–

 2,135,430

(657,597)

 1,163,368

  594,592

  194,875

(34,487)

  594,592

  754,980

  127,576



Index to the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

Business of the Company, Initial Public Offering and corporate reorganization

Basis of presentation

Acquisition of business

Accounting policies

Segment information

Cost of sales

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Labor costs (included in cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses)

Other operating income (expense), net

Other financial expenses, net

Income tax expense

Property, plant and equipment, net

Intangible assets, net

Investments in associated companies

Other investments, net – non-current

Receivables, net – non-current

Receivables – current 

Inventories, net 

Trade receivables, net

Cash, cash equivalents and other investments

Allowances and provisions – non-current 

Allowances – current 

Deferred income tax 

Other liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments 

Borrowings 

Contingencies, commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits

Earnings per share

Discontinued operations

Related party transactions 

Cash flow disclosures 

Recently-issued accounting pronouncements 

Financial risk management 

Post-balance sheet events

 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

TERNIUM S.A.

Consolidated financial statements as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
(All amounts in USD thousands)
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1. Business of the Company, Initial Public Offering 

and corporate reorganization

Ternium S.A. (the “Company” or “Ternium”), a 
Luxembourg Corporation (Societé Anonyme), was 
incorporated on December 22, 2003 to hold investments 
in flat and long steel manufacturing and distributing 
companies. 

Towards the end of 2004, Ternium was acquired by 
its ultimate parent company San Faustín N.V. (“San 
Faustín”), a Netherlands Antilles company, to serve as a 
vehicle in the restructuring of San Faustín’s investments 
in the flat and long steel manufacturing and distribution 
business. This restructuring was carried out by means 
of a corporate reorganization through which Ternium 
was assigned the equity interests previously held by San 
Faustín and its subsidiaries in various flat and long steel 
manufacturing and distributing companies (the “Corporate 
Reorganization”). The Corporate Reorganization took 
place in fiscal year 2005. Until that date, Ternium was a 
dormant company. 

On January 11, 2006, the Company successfully completed 
its registration process with the United States Securities 
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and announced the 
commencement of its offer to sell 24,844,720 American 
Depositary Shares (“ADS”) representing 248,447,200 
shares of common stock through Citigroup Global 
Markets Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., JP Morgan 
Securities Inc., Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, BNP 
Paribas Securities Corp., Caylon Securities (USA) Inc. and 
Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG (collectively, the 
“Underwriters” and the offering thereunder, the “Initial 
Public Offering”). The Company’s Initial Public Offering 
was priced at USD 20 per ADS. The gross proceeds from 
the Initial Public Offering totaled USD 496.9 million and 
have been used to fully repay Tranche A of the Ternium 
Credit Facility, after deducting related expenses.

Ternium’s ADSs began trading on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the symbol “TX” on February 1, 2006. 
The Company’s Initial Public Offering was settled on 
February 6, 2006.

Also, the Company granted the Underwriters an option, 
exercisable for 30 days from January 31, 2006, to purchase 
up to 3,726,708 additional ADSs at the public offering price 
of USD 20 per ADS less an underwriting discount of USD 
0.55 per ADS. On February 23, 2006, the Underwriters 
exercised partially this over-allotment option granted by 
the Company. In connection with this option, on March 1, 
2006, the Company issued 22,981,360 new shares. The gross 
proceeds from this transaction totaled USD 46.0 million.

In addition, during 2005, the Company entered into 
the Subordinated Convertible Loan Agreements for a 
total aggregate amount of USD 594 million to fund the 
acquisition of Hylsamex. As per the provisions contained 
in the Subordinated Convertible Loan Agreements, the 
Subordinated Convertible Loans would be converted 
into shares of the Company upon delivery of Ternium’s 
ADSs to the Underwriters. On February 6, 2006, the 
Subordinated Convertible Loans (including interest accrued 
through January 31, 2006) were converted into shares at 
a conversion price of USD 2.00 per share, resulting in the 
issuance of 302,962,261 new shares on February 9, 2006.

Furthermore, in November 2005, Siderúrgica del Turbio 
Sidetur S.A. (“Sidetur”), a subsidiary of Siderúrgica 
Venezolana Sivensa S.A. (“Sivensa”), exchanged with 
Inversora Siderúrgica Limited (“ISL”, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Ternium’s majority shareholder) its 3.42% 
equity interest in Consorcio Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd. 
(“Amazonia”) and USD 3.1 million in cash for shares of 
the Company. On February 9, 2006, ISL contributed all of 
its assets and liabilities (including its interest in Amazonia) 
to the Company in exchange for 959,482,775 newly-issued 
shares of the Company after the settlement of the Initial 
Public Offering. The increase in equity resulting from 
this transaction is reflected under Contributions from 

shareholders line items in the Statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity and amounts to USD 50,083.

After the completion of the Initial Public Offering, the 
conversion of the Subordinated Convertible Loans, the 
exercise of the option granted to the Underwriters and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated in the 
Corporate Reorganization agreement, 2,004,743,442 shares 
(including shares in the form of ADSs) were outstanding. 

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
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2. Basis of presentation

These Consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with those IFRS standards and 
IFRIC interpretations issued and effective or issued and 
early adopted as at the time of preparing these statements 
(February 2008) ), as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. These Consolidated financial statements 
are presented in thousands of United States dollars (“USD”).

As mentioned in Note 1, Ternium was assigned the equity 
interests previously held by San Faustín and its subsidiaries 
in various flat and long steel manufacturing and distributing 
companies. As these transactions were carried out among 
entities under common control, the assets and liabilities 

contributed to the Company have been accounted for at the 
relevant predecessor’s cost, reflecting the carrying amount 
of such assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the Consolidated 
financial statements include the financial statements of the 
above-mentioned companies on a combined basis at historical 
book values on a carryover basis as though the contribution 
had taken place on January 1, 2003, (the transition date to 
IFRS ) and no adjustment has been made to reflect fair values 
at the time of the contribution. 

Detailed below are the companies whose consolidated 
financial statements have been included in these Consolidated 
financial statements.

COMPANY COUNTRY OF
ORGANIZATION

MAIN ACTIVITY PERCENTAGE OF OWNERSHIP
AT DECEMBER 31

2007 2006

Ternium S.A.

Hylsamex S.A. de C.V. (1)

Siderar S.A.I.C. 

Sidor C.A. (2)

Ternium Internacional S.A. 
(formerly Techintrade Uruguay S.A.)

I.I.I. Industrial Investments Inc. S.A. de C.V. (3)

Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A.

Ylopa – Serviços de Consultadoria Lda. (4)

Consorcio Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd. (5)

Fasnet International S.A.

Alvory S.A. 

Comesi San Luis S.A.I.C. (6)

Inversiones Basilea S.A. (7)

Prosid Investments S.C.A.(7)

Impeco S.A. (7)

Socominter de Guatemala S.A. (8)

Luxembourg

Mexico

Argentina

Venezuela

Uruguay

Mexico

Panama

Madeira – Free zone

Cayman Islands

Panama

Uruguay

Argentina

Chile

Uruguay

Argentina

Guatemala

Holding of investments in flat and 
long steel manufacturing and 
distributing companies 

Holding company

Manufacturing of flat steel products 

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Holding company and marketing of 
steel products

Holding company

Holding company

Participation in the debt restructuring 
process of Amazonia and Sidor C.A.

Holding of investments in Venezuelan 
steel companies

Holding company

Holding of investment in procurement 
services companies

Production of cold or hot rolled 
prepainted, formed and skelped steel 
sheets

Purchase and sale of real estate 
and other

Holding company

Manufacturing of pipe products

Marketing of steel products

100.00%

88.23%

60.93%

56.38%

100.00%

–

–

95.66%

94.39%

100.00%

100.00%

61.32%

60.93%

60.93%

60.93%

100.00%

100.00%

88.22%

60.93%

56.38%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

95.66%

94.39%

100.00%

100.00%

61.32%

60.93%

60.93%

60.93%

100.00%

2005

100.00%

86.68%

56.07%

53.20%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

95.12%

89.07%

100.00%

100.00%

56.07%

56.07%

56.07%

60.93%

100.00%
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100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

88.22%

88.22%

88.22%

88.22%

88.22%

88.22%

88.22%

88.22%

88.22%

–

–

44.11%

44.11%

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

88.23%

88.23%

88.23%

88.23%

88.23%

88.23%

88.23%

88.23%

88.23%

–

–

44.12%

44.12%

100.00%

100.00%

65.73%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

COMPANY COUNTRY OF
ORGANIZATION

MAIN ACTIVITY PERCENTAGE OF OWNERSHIP
AT DECEMBER 31

2007 2006

Ternium Internacional España S.L.U 
(formerly Socominter de España S.A.U.) (8)

Ternium International Ecuador SA. 
(formerly Socotrading S.A.) (8)

Ternium International USA Corporation 
(formerly Techintrade Corporation) (8)

Ternium Internationaal B.V. (formerly 
Techint Engineering Company B.V.) (8)

Ternium Internacional Perú S.A.C. 
(formerly Techintrade del Perú S.A.C.) (8)

Ternium International Inc. (8)

Hylsa S.A. de C.V. (9)

Ferropak Comercial S.A. de C.V. (9)

Ferropak Servicios S.A. de C.V. (9)

Galvacer America Inc. (9)

Galvamet America Corp (9)

Transamerica E. & I. Trading Corp (9)

Galvatubing Inc. (9)

Las Encinas S.A. de C.V. (9)

Técnica Industrial S.A. de C.V. (9)

Acerex S.A. de C.V. 

Acerex Servicios S.A. de C.V. 

Consorcio Minero Benito Juarez Peña 
Colorada S.A.de C.V. (10)

Peña Colorada Servicios S.A. de C.V. (10)

Ternium Treasury Services S.A.

Ternium Treasury Services B.V

Servicios Integrales Nova de Monterrey S.A. 
de C.V.(11)

Ternium Mexico S.A. de C.V. 
(formerly Grupo Imsa S.A.B. de C.V.)

Imsa Acero S.A. de C.V. (12)

Enermex S.A. de C.V. (12)

Sefimsa S.A. de C.V. (12)

Ecore Holding S. de R.L. de C.V. (12)

Neotec L.L.C. (12)

Treasury Services L.L.C.(12)

APM, S.A. de C.V.

Spain

Ecuador

USA

The Netherlands

Peru

Panama

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

USA

USA

USA

USA

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Uruguay

The Netherlands

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

USA

USA

Mexico

Marketing of steel products

Marketing of steel products

Marketing of steel products

Marketing of steel products

Marketing of steel products

Marketing of steel products

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Scrap company

Services

Distributing company

Manufacturing and selling of insulated 
panel products

Scrap company

Manufacturing and selling of pipe 
products

Exploration, explotation and pelletizing 
of iron ore

Services

Tooling services

Services

Exploration, explotation and pelletizing 
of iron ore

Services

Financial services

Financial services

Medical and social services

Holding company

Holding company

Holding company

Financial services

Holding company

Holding company

Financial services

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

–

86.68%

86.68%

86.68%

86.68%

86.68%

86.68%

86.68%

86.68%

86.68%

43.34%

43.34%

43.34%

43.34%

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

2005
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–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

 100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

99,30%

99.20%

99.93%

100.00%

COMPANY COUNTRY OF
ORGANIZATION

MAIN ACTIVITY PERCENTAGE OF OWNERSHIP
AT DECEMBER 31

2007

Acedor S.A. de C.V.

Empresas Stabilit S.A. de C.V. (12)

Acerus S.A. de C.V. (12)

Imsa Monclova S.A. de C.V. (12)

Imsamex Ecuador S.A. (12)

Industrias Monterrey S.A. (12)

Imsaacero Ecuador Holding S.A. (12)

Corporativo Grupo Imsa S.A. de C.V. (12)

Industrias Monterrey S.A. de C.V. (12)

Ternium USA Inc. 
(formerly Imsa holding Inc.) (12)

Industria Galvanizadora S.A. (12)

Imsa Americas Inc. (12)

Imsa Caribbean Inc. (12)

Imsa Colombia S.A. (12)

Imsa Andina S.A. (12)

Multypanel de América S.A. (12)

Industria Galvanizadora S.A. (12)

Industria Galvanizadora de Honduras S.A. 
de C.V. (12)

Industria Galvanizadora S.A. de C.V. (12)

Industrias Monterrey S.A. (12)

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Ecuador

Guatemala

Ecuador

Mexico

Mexico

USA

Guatemala

USA

Puerto Rico

Colombia

Peru

Costa Rica

Nicaragua

Honduras

El Salvador

Costa Rica

2006

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

2005

Holding company

Holding company

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Services

Marketing of steel products

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Holding company

Services

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Holding company

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Marketing of steel products

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Marketing of steel products

Marketing of steel products

Manufacturing and selling of insulated 
panel products

Manufacturing and selling of steel
products

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

Manufacturing and selling of steel 
products

(1) Indirectly through the participation of Ternium Mexico S.A. de C.V. (70.00%)  
 and Siderar S.A.I.C. (29.92%). Total voting rights held: 99.92%.
(2) Indirectly through the participation in Amazonia (59.73%). 
 Total voting rights held: 59.73%.
(3) Formerly I.I.I. Industrial Investment Inc. B.V.I. As of December 13, 
 2007, it was merged into Ternium México S.A. de C.V.
(4) Directly (88,89%), indirectly through Prosid Investments S.C.A. (11.11%).  
 Total voting rights held: 100.00%.
(5) Directly (85,62%) and indirectly through the participation in Prosid   
 Investments S.C.A. (14.38%). Total voting rights held: 100.00%.
(6) Indirectly through Siderar S.A.I.C. (99.00%) and Ternium Internacional   
 Uruguay S.A. (1.00%). Total voting rights held: 100.00%.
(7) Indirectly through Siderar S.A.I.C. Total voting rights held 100.00%.
(8) Indirectly through Ternium Internacional S.A. Uruguay.
(9) Indirectly through the participation in Hylsamex. Total voting rights held:   
 99.92%. See Note 3 (E).
(10) Indirectly through the participation in Hylsamex. Total voting rights held:   
 50.00%.
(11) Incorporated during 2007.
(12) Subsidiary of Ternium Mexico S.A. de C.V. See Note 3 (A).
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Elimination of all material intercompany transactions 
and balances between the Company and their respective 
subsidiaries have been made in consolidation. 

The Consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, 
and financial assets and financial liabilities (including 
derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to 
conform to changes in presentation in the current period.

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that 
might affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the balance sheet dates, and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

These Consolidated financial statements have been 
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 
26, 2008.

3. Acquisition of business

A. Grupo Imsa S.A.B. de C.V. (“Grupo Imsa”)

On April 29, 2007, Ternium entered into an agreement with 
Grupo Imsa S.A.B. de C.V. (“Grupo Imsa”) and Grupo 
Imsa’s controlling shareholders under which Ternium 
obtained control of Grupo Imsa for a total consideration 
(equity value) of approximately USD 1.7 billion.

Under the agreement, Ternium, through its wholly-owned 
subsidiary Ternium Internacional España S.L.U., made a 
cash tender offer under applicable Mexican law for all of 
the issued and outstanding share capital of Grupo Imsa at 
a price of USD 6.40 per share. Pursuant to the tender offer, 
Ternium acquired 25,133,856 shares representing 9.3% of 
the issued and outstanding capital of the company.

Concurrently with the consummation of the tender 
offer, on July 26, 2007, all the shares of Grupo Imsa that 
were not tendered into the tender offer (including the 

shares owned by Grupo Imsa’s majority shareholders), 
representing 90.7% of Grupo Imsa’s issued and 
outstanding share capital were redeemed for cash 
pursuant to a capital reduction effected at the same price 
per share.

Accordingly, Ternium now owns all of Grupo Imsa’s 
issued and outstanding share capital.

Grupo Imsa is a steel manufacturer with operations in 
Mexico, the United States and Guatemala. It has an 
annual production capacity of 2.2 million tons of hot 
rolled coils, 1.8 million tons of cold rolled products and 
1.7 million tons of coated products. In addition, Grupo 
Imsa produces panels and other steel products. 

Grupo Imsa contributed revenues of USD 976.3 million 
and a net loss of USD 77.5 million in the period from July 
26, 2007, to December 31, 2007 (these amounts do not 
include revenues or net profits generated by discontinued 
operations). The book value of Grupo Imsa’s net assets 
acquired totals USD 543.9 million. The fair value of assets 
and liabilities arising from the transaction is as follows:

 1,602,398

  456,404

  501,304

  190,087

(481,930)

(10,011)

(1,437,676)

(99,069)

  485,651

 1,207,158

  455,776

  65,740

 1,728,674

  297,700

USD thousands

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Inventories

Cash and cash equivalents

Deferred tax liabilities

Provisions

Borrowings

Other assets and liabilities, net

Net assets pertaining to discontinued 
operations (1)

Net

Goodwill

Goodwill – discontinued operations

Total purchase consideration

Other cash consideration – income 
tax paid on the transaction

 1,205,128

  73,227

  501,304

  190,087

(253,991)

(10,011)

(1,437,676)

(99,069)

  374,949

  543,948

Fair value Book value

(1) These amounts do not include the goodwill attributable to discontinued 
 operations for USD 65.7 million.
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•

•

Goodwill, representing the excess of the purchase price 
paid over the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities totaled USD 521.5 million. Goodwill 
derives principally from synergies expected to be obtained 
by the Company after the transaction, as well as the fair 
value of the going concern element of the acquiree.

Upon consummation of the transaction, the Company 
was subject to an income tax payment of USD 297.7 
million. This payment can be credited against future 
income tax obligations for the following three fiscal years. 
As the Company expects to generate sufficient taxable 
income in that period, the above-mentioned amount has 
been considered as an income tax prepayment (USD 222.7 
million have been disclosed under Other receivables

line item and USD 75.0 million have been offset against 
Current tax liabilities at December 31, 2007).

The transactions were financed primarily through the 
incurrence of debt as follows:

Ternium made several borrowings in an aggregate 
principal amount of USD 125 million under a loan facility 
(the “Ternium Facility”) with a syndicate of banks led 
by Calyon New York Branch as administrative agent, 
the proceeds of which were primarily used to finance the 
tender offer described above. Ternium’s loans under the 
Ternium Facility will be repaid in nine consecutive and 
equal semi-annual installments commencing on July 26, 
2008. On January 28, 2008, the Company prepaid all of its 
outstanding obligations with Calyon New York Branch, 
amounting to approximately USD 129.1 million.

Ternium’s subsidiary Hylsa S.A. de C.V. (“Hylsa”) made 
several borrowings in an aggregate principal amount 
of USD 3,485 million under a loan facility (the “Hylsa 
Facility”) with a syndicate of banks led by Calyon New 
York Branch as administrative agent, the proceeds of 
which were primarily used to finance the above described 
capital reduction by Grupo Imsa, to refinance the existing 
indebtedness of Grupo Imsa and Hylsa and to pay the 
taxes, fees and expenses related to the transactions. 

Grupo Imsa assumed on August 3, 2007, certain of Hylsa’s 
loans under the Hylsa Facility, as well as a portion of 
Hylsa’s remaining unused commitments. Following the 
assumption date:

Hylsa’s debt under the Hylsa Facility amounted to USD 
2,070 million as principal amount, and Grupo Imsa’s debt 
under that facility amounted to USD 1,415 million in 
principal amount; and

Grupo Imsa’s unused commitment under the Facility 
amounted to USD 140 million. 

The loans of Hylsa and Grupo Imsa are each divided in 
two Tranches of equal principal amount. Tranche A loans 
will be repaid in seven equal semi-annual installments 
beginning on January 26, 2009, while Tranche B loans will 
be repaid in one installment due on July 26, 2012.

Both the Ternium Facility and the Hylsa Facility each 
contain covenants customary for transactions of this 
type, including limitations on liens and encumbrances, 
restrictions on investments and capital expenditures, 
limitations on the sale of certain assets and compliance 
with financial ratios (e.g., leverage ratio and interest 
coverage ratio). There are no limitations to the payment 
of dividends under either facility, except in case of non- 
compliance of the above mentioned covenants. 

Pro forma data including acquisitions for the year ended 

December 31, 2007

Had the Grupo Imsa transaction been consummated on 
January 1, 2007, then Ternium’s unaudited pro forma 
net sales and net income for the year ended December 
31, 2007 would have been approximately USD 9.6 billion 
and USD 0.8 billion, respectively. These pro forma results 
were prepared based on public information and unaudited 
accounting records maintained prior to such a transaction 
and adjusted by the depreciation and amortization of 
tangible and intangible assets and interest expense of the 
borrowing incurred for the transaction as described above.

B. Acerex S.A. de C.V.

In April 2006, the Company acquired a 50% equity interest 
in Acerex S.A. de C.V. (“Acerex”) through its subsidiary 
Hylsa S.A. de C.V. for a total purchase price of USD 44.6 
million. Upon completion of this transaction, Hylsa S.A. 
de C.V. owns 100% of Acerex. Acerex is a service center 
dedicated to processing steel to produce short-length and 
steel sheets in various widths. Acerex operates as a cutting 
and processing plant for Ternium’s Mexican operations 

•

•
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The acquired business contributed revenues of USD 73.3 
million in the year ended December 31, 2006. The fair 
value of assets and liabilities arising from acquisition is
as follows:

E. Hylsamex

On May 18, 2005, I.I.I B.V.I, Hylsamex S.A. de C.V. and 
Alfa entered into the Hylsamex Acquisition Agreement. 
Pursuant to the terms of the Hylsamex Acquisition 
Agreement, on July 26, 2005, I.I.I B.V.I launched a cash 
tender offer in Mexico for the acquisition of all the 
outstanding shares of Hylsamex. On August 22, 2005, 
the acquisition by I.I.I B.V.I of a controlling interest in 
Hylsamex and of Alfa’s minority interests in Amazonia, 
Ylopa and Hylsa Latin was consummated. The Company 
acquired an indirect controlling interest in Hylsamex 
and its subsidiaries, and the indirect equity stakes owned 
by Hylsamex’s former controlling shareholder, Alfa, in 
Amazonia and Ylopa. I.I.I B.V.I and Siderar acquired 
70.0% and 29.3% of the shares of Hylsamex, respectively 
for a total amount of USD 2,095 million. I.I.I B.V.I also 
acquired an additional 10.5% direct and indirect interest 
in Amazonia and an additional 11.1% interest in Ylopa 
for USD 91.9 million. Subsequently, Siderar purchased 
additional shares of Hylsamex in the open market for a 
total amount of USD 9.7 million, thus reaching a 29.9% 
equity interest in that company. 

Hylsamex’s main business is the production of flat and long 
steel products, with manufacturing plants located in the 
cities of Monterrey and Puebla, Mexico, and is a leader in 
the production of coated steel. 

The acquired business contributed revenues of 
USD 723.8 million and net income of USD 25.4 million 
to the Company in the year ended December 31, 2005. 

and as an independent processor for other steel companies. 
On August 31, 2006, Acerex S.A. de C.V. was merged into 
Hylsa S.A. de C.V.

As permitted by IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” (“IFRS 
3”), the Company accounted for this acquisition under the 
economic entity model, which requires that the acquisition 
of an additional equity interest in a controlled subsidiary 
be accounted for at its carrying amount, with the difference 
arising on purchase price allocation (amounting to USD 
24.3 million) being recorded directly in equity. 

C. Additional shares of Siderar bought by Ternium S.A. 

On December 28, 2006, Ternium S.A. acquired from 
CVRD International S.A. 16,860,000 shares of Siderar 
S.A.I.C, representing 4.85% of that company, for an 
aggregate purchase price of USD 107.5 million. After 
this acquisition Ternium increased its ownership in 
Siderar to 60.93%. 

As permitted by IFRS 3, the Company accounted for 
this acquisition under the economic entity model, which 
requires that the acquisition of an additional equity interest 
in a controlled subsidiary be accounted for at its carrying 
amount, with the difference arising on purchase price 
allocation (amounting to USD 8.1 million) being recorded 
directly in equity.

D. Impeco S.A.

On November 18, 2005, Ternium’s Argentine subsidiary 
Siderar agreed to acquire the assets and facilities of 
Acindar Industria Argentina de Aceros S.A. related to 
the production of welded steel pipes in the province of 
Santa Fe in Argentina, as well as 100% of the issued and 
outstanding shares of Impeco S.A., which in turn owns 
a plant located in the province of San Luis in Argentina. 
Purchase price paid totaled USD 55.2 million. These two 
plants have a production capacity of 140 thousand tons per 
year of tubes to be used in the construction, agricultural 
and manufacturing industries. The acquisition was 
approved by the Argentine competition authorities and 
completed on January 31, 2006. This acquisition did not 
give rise to goodwill. 

47,825

  8,180

(875)

53

  55,183 

USD thousands

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories

Deferred tax liabilities

Other assets and liabilities, net

Net
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The book value of net assets acquired totals USD 1,492 
million. The fair value of assets and liabilities arising from 
the acquisition is as follows:

Goodwill, representing the excess of the purchase price 
paid over the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired, totaled USD 399.7 million.

F. Additional shares of Hylsamex bought by Siderar

On June 19, 2006, Siderar completed the acquisition of 
940,745 additional shares of Hylsamex, representing 
0.2% of that company’s issued and outstanding common 
stock, for a total consideration of USD 3.3 million. This 
acquisition was effected through a trust fund established 
by Siderar in 2005 in connection with the initial acquisition 
of Hylsamex. See Note 3 E. Goodwill resulting from this 
acquisition totaled USD 0.7 million. During 2007, Siderar 
completed the acquisition of 56,502 additional shares of 
Hylsamex, representing 0.01% of that company’s issued 
and outstanding common stock, for a total consideration 
of USD 0.2 million.

G. Amazonia

On February 3, 2005, Ylopa exercised its option to convert 
the outstanding balance of the Amazonia convertible 
debt instrument into newly-issued shares of that company. 
On February 15, 2005, new shares of Amazonia were 
issued in exchange for the convertible instrument. As 
a result, Ternium’s indirect participation in Amazonia 
increased from 31.03% to 53.47%, thereby increasing its 
indirect participation in Sidor from 18.53% to 31.94%. 

This acquisition has been accounted for following the 
provisions contained in IFRS 3 and, accordingly, assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed have been valued at fair 
value. Total purchase consideration, representing the 
carrying amount of the convertible debt instrument at 
the date of conversion, accounted for USD 127.6 million, 
of which USD 82.0 million correspond to the majority 
shareholders. The excess of Ternium’s interest in the net 
fair value of Amazonia’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities over the purchase price 
(amounting to USD 188.4 million) has been recognized 
in income for the year. The main factor that contributed 
to a purchase price significantly below the fair value of 
net assets acquired is the downturn experienced by steel 
prices until 2003. Thus, the convertible debt instrument 
was issued at a time when Amazonia was undergoing 
a severe crisis affecting its business and financial 
condition, this situation being opposed to the current 
business conditions on the date the conversion feature 
was exercised and the business combination effected. 
In addition, as also required by IFRS 3, the Company 
recorded in equity the excess of the fair value of its pre-
acquisition interest in Amazonia’s net assets over their 
corresponding carrying amounts. 

The acquired business contributed revenues of USD 1,863.5 
million to the Company in the year ended December 31, 
2005. The book value of net assets acquired totals USD 928 
million. The fair value of assets and liabilities arising from 
acquisition is as follows:

2,129,325

  345,053 

  215,411 

(449,537)

(116,860)

(751,730)

  488,297 

(156,651)

 1,703,308 

USD thousands

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories

Cash and cash equivalents

Deferred tax liabilities

Pension benefits

Borrowings

Other assets and liabilities, net

Minority interest
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2,444,289

  284,676 

  305,342

(284,242)

(78,425)
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(656,658)

(13,459)

(795,178)

 1,169,182 

USD thousands

Property, plant and equipment
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Cash and cash equivalents
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4. Accounting policies

The following is a summary of the principal accounting 
policies followed in the preparation of these Consolidated 
financial statements:

A. Group accounting

1. Subsidiary companies

Subsidiary companies are those entities in which the 
Company has an interest of more than 50% of the voting 
rights or otherwise has the power to exercise control over 
the operating decisions. Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Company and are no longer consolidated from the date 
that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting 
is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. 
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value 
of assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken 
at the date of acquisition, plus costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition. The excess of the acquisition cost 
over the Company’s share of the fair value of net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. Acquisition of minority 
interests in subsidiaries is accounted for following the 
economic entity model and, accordingly, assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed are valued at book value and the 
difference arising on purchase price allocation is recorded 
in equity under the Revaluation and other reserves line 
item. Material intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealized gains on transactions among the Company and 
its subsidiaries are eliminated; unrealized losses are also 
eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. However, 
the fact that the functional currency of some subsidiaries 
is their respective local currency, generates some financial 
gains (losses) arising from intercompany transactions, that 
are included in the Consolidated income statement under 
Other financial expenses, net.

2. Associated companies

Associated companies are entities in which Ternium 
generally has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, 
or over which Ternium has significant influence, but 
does not control. Investments in associated companies 
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
Under this method, the Company’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses of an associated company is 
recognized in the income statement and its share of post-

acquisition changes in reserves is recognized in reserves. 
The cumulative post-acquisition changes are adjusted 
against the cost of the investment. Unrealized gains on 
transactions between the Company and its associated 
companies are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s 
interest in such an associated company; unrealized 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. When 
the Company’s share of losses in an associated company 
equals or exceeds its interest in such an associate, the 
Company does not recognize further losses unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of such 
an associated company. 

3. First-time application of IFRS

The Company’s transition date is January 1, 2003. Ternium 
prepared its opening IFRS balance sheet at that date. 

In preparing its financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS 1, the Company has applied the mandatory 
exceptions and certain of the optional exemptions from full 
retrospective application of IFRS, as detailed below:

3.1. Exemptions from full retrospective application – elected 

by the Company 

The Company has elected to apply the following optional 
exemptions from full retrospective application.

a. Fair value as deemed cost exemption

Ternium has elected to measure its property, plant and 
equipment at fair value as of January 1, 2003.

b. Cumulative translation differences exemption

Ternium has elected to set the previously-accumulated 
cumulative translation to zero at January 1, 2003. 
This exemption has been applied to all subsidiaries in 
accordance with IFRS 1.

3.2 Exceptions from full retrospective application followed by 

the Company

Ternium has applied the following mandatory exceptions 
from retrospective application.



 57. Financial statements 2007

a. Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities exception

Financial assets and liabilities derecognized before January 
1, 2003, are not re-recognized under IFRS. However, this 
exception had no impact on these financial statements as it 
was not applicable since the Company did not derecognize 
any financial assets or liabilities before the transition date 
that qualified for recognition.

b. Hedge accounting exception 

The Company has no derivatives that qualify for hedge 
accounting. This exception is therefore not applicable.

c. Estimates exception

Estimates under IFRS at January 1, 2003, should be 
consistent with estimates made for the same date under 
previous GAAP.

d. Assets held for sale and discontinued operations exception

Ternium did not have assets that met the held-for-sale 
criteria (as defined by IFRS 5) at the transition date 
(January 1, 2003).

B. Foreign currency translation

1. Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the financial statements of each of 
the Company’s subsidiaries and associated companies are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). The functional currency of the Company is 
the US dollar. Although Ternium is located in 
Luxembourg, it operates in several countries with different 
currencies. The USD is the currency that best reflects 
the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to Ternium as a whole. 

2. Subsidiary companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities 
(none of which operates in a hyperinflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency, are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows:

I. Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate 
of each balance sheet;
II. Income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated at average exchange rates; and
III. All resulting translation differences are recognized 
as a separate component of equity.

In the case of a sale or other disposition of any such 
subsidiary, any accumulated translation differences would 
be recognized in the income statement as part of the gain 
or loss on sale.

3. Transactions in currencies other than the functional 

currency

Transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing 
at the date of the transactions. Gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in currencies other than the functional currency are 
recognized in the income statement, including the foreign 
exchange gains and losses from intercompany transactions.

C. Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories  and 
offices. All property, plant and equipment are recognized 
at historical acquisition or construction cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
(if applicable), except for land, which is carried at 
acquisition cost less accumulated impairment (if 
applicable). Nevertheless, as mentioned in Note 4 A, 
property, plant and equipment have been valued at their 
deemed cost at the transition date to IFRS.

Major overhaul and rebuilding expenditures are 
recognized as a separate asset when future economic 
benefits are expected from the item, and the cost can 
be measured reliably.

Ordinary maintenance expenses on manufacturing 
properties are recorded as cost of products sold in the 
period in which they are incurred.
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In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs that are 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of certain 
capital assets could be capitalized as part of the cost of 
the assets. Capital assets for which borrowing costs may 
be capitalized are those that require a substantial period 
of time to prepare for their intended use. At December 31, 
2007, no borrowing costs have been capitalized.

Where a tangible fixed asset comprises major components 
having different useful lives, these components are 
accounted for as separate items. 

Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the 
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period 
of the lease.

The depreciation method is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to amortize the cost of each asset to its residual 
value over its estimated useful life as follows:

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the corresponding carrying amounts and 
are included in the Income statement.

If the carrying amount of an asset were greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount, it would be written down to 
its recoverable amount. See Note 4 E Impairment.

D. Intangible assets 

1. Information system projects

Generally, costs associated with developing or maintaining 
computer software programs are recognized as an expense 

as incurred. However, costs directly related to the 
acquisition and implementation of information systems 
are recognized as intangible assets if they have a probable 
economic benefit exceeding the cost beyond one year.

Information system projects recognized as assets are 
amortized using the straight-line method over their useful 
lives, not exceeding a period of 3 years. Amortization 
charges are included in Cost of  sales, Selling, general and 

administrative expenses.

2. Mining concessions and exploration costs

Mining licenses were recognized as a separate intangible 
asset upon the acquisition of Hylsamex, comprising the 
right to exploit or explore the mines and recognized at fair 
value less accumulated amortization. The amortization 
charge is calculated according to the mineral extracted in 
each period and is included in Cost of  sales.

Exploration costs are classified as intangible assets 
until production begins. Exploration costs are tested 
for impairment annually.

3. Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost 
over the fair value of Ternium’s participation in acquired 
companies’ net assets at the acquisition date. Under IFRS 
3, goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life and not 
amortized, but is subject to annual impairment testing.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the 
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made 
to those cash-generating units expected to benefit from 
the business combination which generated the goodwill 
being tested.

4. Research and development

Research expenditures are recognized as expenses as 
incurred. Development costs are recorded as cost of sales 
in the income statement as incurred because they do 
not fulfill the criteria for capitalization. Research and 
development expenditures for the years ended December 
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 totaled USD 1.5 million, USD 1.8 
million and USD 2.1 million, respectively.

Land

Buildings and improvements

Production equipment

Vehicles, furniture and fixtures and other equipment

 No depreciation

20-40 years

15-25 years

5-15 years
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5. Customer relationships intangible asset acquired in a 

business combination

In accordance with IFRS 3 and IAS 38, Ternium has 
recognized the value of customer relationships 
separately from goodwill attributable to the acquisition 
of Grupo Imsa.

Customer relationships are amortized over a useful life 
of approximately 10 years.

6. Trademarks

In accordance with IFRS 3 and IAS 38, Ternium has 
recognized the value of trademarks separately from 
goodwill attributable to the acquisition of Grupo Imsa.

Trademarks are amortized over a useful life of 
approximately 5 years.

E. Impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject 
to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortization and investments in 
affiliates are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows. For purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). 

At December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, no impairment 
provisions were recorded. 

F. Other investments

Other investments consist primarily of investments in 
financial debt instruments and equity investments where 
the Company holds less than 20% of the outstanding 
equity and does not exert significant influence.

Under IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”, investments have to be classified into 
the following categories: financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss; held-to-maturity investments; loans 
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired.

Management determines the classification of its 
investments at initial recognition. The entity classifies 
its investments as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss.

All purchases and sales of investments are recognized on 
the trade date, which is not significantly different from the 
settlement date, which is the date that Ternium commits to 
purchase or sell the investment. 

Income from financial instruments is recognized in Other 

financial expenses, net in the Income statement. Interest 
receivable on investments in debt securities is calculated 
using the effective rate. Dividends from investments 
in equity instruments are recognized in the Income 
statement when the Company’s right to receive payments is 
established.

G. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (calculated using 
the first-in-first-out “FIFO” method) or net realizable value. 
The cost of finished goods and goods in process comprises 
raw materials, direct labor, depreciation, other direct 
costs and related production overhead costs. It excludes 
borrowing costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of 
completion and selling expenses. Goods acquired in transit 
at year end are valued at the supplier’s invoice cost.

For the purposes of determining net realizable value, the 
Company establishes an allowance for obsolete or slow-
moving inventory in connection with finished goods and 
goods in process. The allowance for slow-moving inventory 
is recognized for finished goods and goods in process based 
on management’s analysis of their aging. 
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In connection with supplies and spare parts, the calculation 
is based on management’s analysis of their aging, the 
capacity of such materials to be used based on their levels 
of preservation and maintenance and their potential 
obsolescence due to technological change. 

H. Trade receivables

Trade and other receivables are carried at face value less 
an allowance for doubtful accounts, if applicable. This 
amount does not differ significantly from fair value.

A provision for impairment is established when there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is 
impaired. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to 
the attention of the Company about a loss event, such as a 
significant financial difficulty of the obligor or a breach of 
contract. The amount of the impairment is determined as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the asset’s original effective interest rate. The amount of the 
loss is recognized in the Income statement.

I. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents and highly liquid short-term 
securities are carried at fair market value.

For the purposes of the Cash flow statement, cash and 
cash equivalents comprise cash, bank current accounts 
and short-term highly liquid investments (original maturity 
of less than 90 days).

In the Consolidated balance sheet, bank overdrafts are 
included in Borrowings within Current liabilities.

J. Non-current assets (disposal group) classified 

as held for sale

Non-current assets (disposal groups) are classified as assets 
held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell if their carrying amount is 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through a continuing use.

The carrying value of non-current assets classified as 
held for sale, net of liabilities directly associated with 
them, at December 31, 2007, totals USD 555.4 million, of 
which USD 547.9 correspond to discontinued operations 
(see Notes 29 and 34) and USD 7.5 million correspond 
principally to land and other real estate items. Sale is 
expected to be completed within a one-year period.

K. Shareholders’ equity

The consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ 
equity for the years 2007, 2006 and 2005 was prepared 
based on the following criteria:

Currency translation differences arising from the 
translation of financial statements expressed in currencies 
other than the US dollar are shown in a separate line.

Expenses incurred in connection with the Initial Public 
Offering at December 31, 2006 and 2005 totaled USD 17.8 
million and USD 5.5 million, respectively, and have been 
deducted from equity, since they directly relate to 
a transaction which itself is to be recorded in equity.

For the purposes of preparing the combined statement 
of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year ended 
December 31, 2005, shown as comparative information, 
dividends include the dividends paid by I.I.I. (B.V.I) to 
San Faustín, and dividends paid by Ylopa to Tenaris, as if 
they had been paid by Ternium to San Faustín or Tenaris. 
Other distributions comprise loans granted by Ylopa and 
Amazonia to its shareholders that are in substance capital 
nature transactions. These loans are non-interest bearing 
facilities granted by Ylopa to its shareholders based on 
their respective stockholdings. These loans mature in one 
year, although debtors are allowed to make partial or full 
pre-payments at any time. However, Ylopa’s intention is 
to offset the outstanding balance of such facilities against 
future dividend distributions. Accordingly, these credits 
have been shown as a reduction of equity.

L. Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially for an amount equal 
to the proceeds received. In subsequent periods, borrowings 
are stated at amortized cost; any difference between 
proceeds and redemption value is recognized in the income 
statement over the period of the borrowings.

•

•

•
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Capitalized borrowing costs are amortized over the life 
of their respective debt.

M. Income taxes – current and deferred

Under present Luxembourg Law, so long as the Company 
maintains its status as a holding company, no income tax, 
withholding tax (including with respect to dividends), or 
capital gain tax is payable in Luxembourg by the Company. 

The Company has qualified for, and was admitted to, 
the Billionaire holding company tax regime in conjunction 
with the financing holding company tax regime in 
Luxembourg starting January 1, 2006.

On December 29, 2006, the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg 
announced the decision to terminate its 1929 holding 
company regime, effective January 1, 2007. However, under 
the implementing legislation, pre-existing publicly-listed 
companies (including Ternium S.A.) will be entitled to 
continue benefiting from their current tax regime until 
December 31, 2010.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the 
basis of the tax laws in force in the countries in which 
Ternium’s subsidiaries operate. Management evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulations could be subject to 
interpretation. A liability is recorded for tax benefits 
that were taken in the applicable tax return but have not 
been recognized for financial reporting.

Deferred income taxes are calculated, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements. The principal temporary 
differences arise concerning fixed assets, originated in the 
different valuation and useful lives considered by accounting 
standards and tax regulations, tax loss carry-forwards, 
inventories valuation and provisions for pensions. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the 
balance sheet date. Under IFRS, deferred income tax assets 
(liabilities) are classified as non-current assets (liabilities).

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent it is 
probable that future taxable income will be available 
to offset temporary differences. 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associated 
companies, except where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference is controlled by the Company and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

Under Mexican law, Ternium’s subsidiaries are required 
to pay their employees an annual benefit calculated on a 
basis similar to that used for local income tax purposes. 
Employee statutory profit sharing is calculated using the 
liability method, and is recorded in Current other liabilities 

and Non-current other liabilities on the Balance sheet. 
Because Mexican employee statutory profit sharing is 
determined on a basis similar to that used for determining 
local income taxes, the Company accounts for temporary 
differences arising between the statutory calculation and 
the reported expense determined under IFRS in a manner 
similar to the calculation of deferred income tax.

N. Employee liabilities

1. Pension obligations

The Company has defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines 
an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive 
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors 
such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect 
of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date, 
together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial 
gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to income over the employees’ expected 
average remaining working lives.
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Past-service costs are recognized immediately in income, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on 
the employees remaining in service for a specified period 
of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service 
costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period.

Sidor

In compliance with the requirements established by the 
share purchase agreement subscribed in connection with 
the acquisition of Sidor, and as provided by the agreement 
entered into with the union representing Sidor’s employees, 
on July 6, 1998, Sidor established a defined contribution 
plan providing for certain pension and other post-retirement 
benefits for qualifying employees. This plan is financed 
through contributions made by both that company and 
active employees. Although the plan does not provide for 
the amounts to be paid to employees upon retirement, for 
purposes of International Accounting Standard No. 19 
“Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”) Sidor’s obligations have been 
calculated based on actuarial calculations prepared on the 
assumption that this plan qualifies as a defined benefit plan.

Hylsamex

The valuation of the liabilities for employee retirement 
plans (pensions and seniority premiums) covers all 
employees and is based primarily on their years of service, 
their present age and their remuneration at the date of 
retirement. The cost of the employee retirement plans 
(pension, health-care expenses and seniority premiums) 
is recognized as an expense in the year in which services 
are rendered in accordance with actuarial studies made 
by independent actuaries. The formal retirement plans 
are congruent with and complementary to the retirement 
benefits established by the Mexican Institute of Social 
Security. Additionally, the Company has established a plan 
to cover the health-care expenses of retired employees. 
The Company has established irrevocable trust funds for 
the payment of pensions and seniority premiums, as well 
as for health-care expenses.

Siderar

Siderar implemented an unfunded defined benefit employee 
retirement plan for certain officers on August 1, 1995. 
The plan is designed to provide retirement, termination 
and other benefits to those officers. For its main plan, 

Siderar is accumulating assets for the ultimate payment of 
those benefits in the form of investments that carry time 
limitations for their redemption. The investments are not 
part of a particular plan, nor are they segregated from 
Siderar’s other assets, and therefore this plan is classified as 
“unfunded” under IFRS definitions. Benefits provided by 
the plan are denominated in US dollars and are calculated 
based on a seven-year salary average.

Grupo Imsa

Grupo Imsa has a defined contribution pension plan 
with the objective of offering retirement benefits, benefits 
for total and permanent disability and death benefits. 
In accordance with this plan, Grupo Imsa is obligated 
to contribute to the pension fund an amount equivalent 
to 4% of the participant’s salary as well as additional 
contributions up to an amount equivalent to 2% of the 
participant’s salary when and if the employee decides 
to make additional contributions. The benefit to the 
participants consists of receiving a pension derived from 
the accumulated amount from each of the individual 
accounts. A respected financial institution administers 
the contributed funds. For the purposes of IAS 19, this 
plan qualifies as a defined contribution plan.

2. Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever 
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits. The Company recognizes termination 
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: 
(I) terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility 
of withdrawal, or (II) providing termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

3. Other compensation obligations

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long-service 
leave are accrued as earned.

During 2007, Ternium launched an incentive retention 
program (the “Program”) applicable to certain senior 
officers and employees of the Company, who will be 
granted a number of Units throughout the duration of 
the Program. The value of each of these Units is based 
on Ternium’s shareholders’ equity (excluding minority 
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interest). Also, the beneficiaries of the Program are entitled 
to receive cash amounts based on (I) the amount of 
dividend payments made by Ternium to its shareholders, 
and (II) the number of Units held by each beneficiary to 
the Program. Units vest ratably over a period of four years 
beginning January 1, 2007, and will be redeemed by the 
Company ten years after the grant date. As of December 
31, 2007, the outstanding liability corresponding to the 
Program amounts to USD 1.9 million.

4. Social security contributions

Social security laws in force in Argentina, Mexico and 
Venezuela provide for pension benefits to be paid to 
retired employees from government pension plans and/or 
private fund-managed plans to which employees may 
elect to contribute. As stipulated by the respective laws, 
Siderar, Hylsamex and Sidor make monthly contributions 
calculated based on each employee’s salary to fund such 
plans. The related amounts are expensed as incurred. No 
additional liabilities exist once the contributions are paid.

O. Provisions and other liabilities

Ternium has certain contingencies with respect to existing 
or potential claims, lawsuits and other proceedings. Unless 
otherwise specified, Ternium accrues a provision for a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, when it is probable that future cost could be incurred 
and that cost can be reasonably estimated. Generally, 
accruals are based on developments to-date, Ternium’s 
estimates of the outcomes of these matters, and the advice 
of Ternium’s legal advisors.

P. Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognized as sales when revenue is earned 
and is realized or realizable. This includes satisfying all of 
the following criteria: the arrangement with the customer 
is evident, usually through the receipt of a purchase order; 
the sales price is fixed or determinable; delivery as defined 
by the risk transfer provision of the sales contracts has 
occurred, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Interest income is recognized on an effective yield basis. 

Income from participation account is recognized when 
earned according to its contractual terms. See Note 10.

Q. Cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses 

Cost of sales and expenses are recognized in the Income 
statement on the accrual basis of accounting.

R. Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net 
income attributable to shareholders by the daily weighted 
average number of ordinary shares issued during the year. 
See Note 28.

S. Derivative financial instruments

Information about accounting for derivative financial 
instruments and hedging activities is included in Note 33 
Financial risk management.

T. Segment information 

Business segments: for management purposes, 
the Company is organized on a worldwide basis into 
the following segments: flat steel products, long steel 
products and others. 

The flat steel products segment comprises the 
manufacturing and marketing of flat steel products. Flat 
steel products include hot rolled coils and sheets, cold 
rolled coils and sheets, tin plate, welded pipes, hot dipped 
galvanized and electrogalvanized sheets, pre-painted 
sheets and other tailor-made products to serve its 
customers’ requirements. 

The long steel products segment comprises the 
manufacturing and marketing of long steel products. Long 
steel products include billets (steel in its basic, semi-finished 
state), wire rod and bars. 

The other products segment includes products other than 
flat and long steel, mainly pig iron and pellets. 

The secondary reporting format is based on a geographical 
location. Ternium sells its products to three main 
geographical areas: South and Central America, North 
America, and Europe and Other. The North American 
segment comprises principally United States, Canada 
and Mexico. The South and Central American segment 
comprises principally Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, 
Venezuela and Ecuador.
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Allocation of net sales is based on the customers’ locations. 
Allocation of assets, liabilities and capital expenditures is 
based on their corresponding locations.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Other operating income, net

Operating income

Capital expenditures – PP&E

Depreciation – PP&E

SEGMENT ASSETS

Inventories, net

Trade receivables, net

Property, plant and equipment, net

Intangibles assets, net

Other assets 

SEGMENT LIABILITIES

Total

8,184,381

(5,796,040)

 2,388,341

(825,807)

  23,874

 1,586,408

  396,973

  514,759

 1,913,051

  847,827

 6,858,779

 1,452,230

 2,695,423

 7,400,420

5. Segment information

Primary reporting format – business segments

Long steel 
products  

1,466,907

(1,032,666)

  434,241

(148,976)

  7,707

  292,972

  36,230

  75,681

  188,562

  116,788

  812,885

  82,741

–

  221,083

Other

  205,691

(151,961)

  53,730

(17,687)

  1,208

  37,251

622

  10,789

  21,712

  20,074

  47,747

  57,174

–

  26,847

Unallocated

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

 2,695,423

 6,214,244

 Flat steel 
products  

 6,511,783

(4,611,413)

 1,900,370

(659,144)

  14,959

 1,256,185

  360,121

  428,289

 1,702,777

  710,965

 5,998,147

 1,312,315

–

  938,246
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Total

6,565,582

(4,296,979)

 2,268,603

(624,784)

(7,250)

 1,636,569

  383,672

  404,184

 1,241,325

  577,866

 5,420,683

  551,587

  979,078

 3,283,398

Long steel 
products

 1,262,603

(860,724)

  401,879

(119,065)

(6)

  282,808

  17,730

  57,765

  109,143

  141,228

  732,131

  79,424

–

  109,870

Other

  242,397

(141,675)

  100,722

(12,781)

  6,112

  94,053

  7,401

  12,493

  53,228

  28,954

  56,279

  61,178

–

  24,820

Unallocated

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

  979,078

 2,555,974

Flat steel 
products

 5,060,582

(3,294,580)

 1,766,002

(492,938)

(13,356)

 1,259,708

  358,541

  333,926

 1,078,954

  407,684

 4,632,273

  410,985

–

  592,734

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Other operating expenses, net

Operating income

Capital expenditures – PP&E

Depreciation – PP&E

SEGMENT ASSETS

Inventories, net

Trade receivables, net

Property, plant and equipment, net

Intangibles assets, net

Other assets

SEGMENT LIABILITIES 

Total

4,449,771

(2,486,974)

 1,962,797

(504,687)

(65,949)

 1,392,161

  223,359

  301,966

 1,000,119

  472,760

 5,463,871

  552,882

 1,170,349

 5,084,062

Long steel 
products

625,368

(390,177)

  235,191

(77,024)

(2,163)

  156,004

  14,587

  32,604

  126,536

  74,925

  749,305

  78,102

–

  193,247

Other

  143,821

(82,570)

  61,251

(15,621)

(7,505)

  38,125

–

  1,387

  14,313

  34,262

  61,374

  71,348

–

  31,117

Unallocated

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

 1,170,349

 4,141,843

Flat steel 
products

 3,680,582

(2,014,227)

 1,666,355

(412,042)

(56,281)

 1,198,032

  208,772

  267,975

  859,270

  363,573

 4,653,192

  403,432

–

  717,855

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Other operating (expenses) income, net

Operating income

Capital expenditures – PP&E

Depreciation – PP&E

SEGMENT ASSETS

Inventories, net

Trade receivables, net

Property, plant and equipment, net

Intangibles assets, net

Other assets

SEGMENT LIABILITIES 
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Secondary reporting format – geographical segments

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Net sales 

SEGMENT ASSETS

Trade receivables, net

Property, plant and equipment 

Depreciation – PP&E 

Capital expenditures – PP&E 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

Net sales 

SEGMENT ASSETS

Trade receivables, net

Property, plant and equipment 

Depreciation – PP&E

Capital expenditures – PP&E 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 

Net sales 

SEGMENT ASSETS

Trade receivables, net 

Property, plant and equipment 

Depreciation – PP&E

Capital expenditures – PP&E 

Total

8,184,381

  847,827

 6,858,779

  514,759

  396,973

 6,565,582

  577,866

 5,420,683

  404,184

  383,672

 4,449,771

  472,760

 5,463,871

  301,966

  223,359

South and 
Central

America

 4,593,470

  219,840

 3,338,282

  326,105

  226,081

 3,700,489

  202,784

 3,450,176

  270,453

  286,008

 2,793,725

  64,837

 3,409,045

  249,808

  180,867

North
America

 3,421,906

  615,559

 3,520,447

  188,616

  170,892

 2,769,105

  355,631

 1,970,420

  133,688

  97,662

 1,293,464

  335,795

 2,054,687

  52,132

  42,473

Europe
and other

  169,005

  12,428

50

38

–

  95,988

  19,451

87

43

2

  362,582

  72,128

139

26

19
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6. Cost of sales 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

INVENTORIES AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Acquisition of business

PLUS: CHARGES FOR THE YEAR

Raw materials and consumables used and other movements

Services and fees

Labor cost

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortization of intangible assets

Maintenance expenses

Office expenses

Freight and transportation

Insurance

(Recovery) Allowance for obsolescence

Recovery from sales of scrap and by-products

Others

LESS: INVENTORIES AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Cost of sales

2006

 1,000,119

  8,180

 3,004,001 

  152,978

  520,717

  388,810

  14,470

  350,903

  8,135

  25,451

  10,041

  30,320

(48,488)

  72,667

(1,241,325)

 4,296,979

2005

254,286

  629,729

 1,624,729

  119,155

  306,215

  295,538

  10,488

  207,490

  8,020

  22,746

  4,749

  7,927

(35,266)

  31,287

(1,000,119)

 2,486,974

2007

 1,241,325

  501,304

 4,162,226

  213,294

  603,614

  499,424

  17,557

  403,108

  8,763

  30,899

  11,407

(4,417)

(83,936)

  104,523

(1,913,051)

 5,796,040

7. Selling, general and administrative expenses 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Services and fees

Labor cost

Depreciation of property plant and equipment

Amortization of intangible assets

Maintenance and expenses

Taxes

Office expenses

Freight and transportation

Insurance

Recovery of allowance for doubtful accounts

Others

Selling, general and administrative expenses 

2006

  52,169

  157,155

  15,374

  5,841

  17,397

  56,795

  29,722

  271,286

  1,234

(5,207)

  23,018

  624,784

2005

  48,668

  119,960

  6,428

  3,951

  7,316

  65,263

  24,529

  217,368

475

(2,467)

  13,196

  504,687

2007

  68,811

  209,456

  15,335

  33,532

  20,080

  76,393

  29,591

  344,165

  1,845

(1,524)

  28,123

  825,807
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8. Labor costs (included in cost of sales, selling, general 

and administrative expenses)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Wages, salaries and social security costs

Termination benefits 

Pension benefits – Note 24 (I)

2006

  558,800

  18,176

  100,896

  677,872

2005

  361,250

  40,364

  24,561

  426,175

2007

  707,888

  41,118

  64,064

  813,070

9. Other operating income (expenses), net

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(I) OTHER OPERATING INCOME

 Gain from the sale of sundry assets

 Others

Total other operating income 

(II) OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

  Recovery (provision) for legal claims and other matters

 Others

Total other operating expenses

(III) DERECOGNITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Total other operating income (expenses), net

2006

  1,064

  15,652

  16,716

(8,645)

(1,998)

(10,643)

(13,323)

(7,250)

2005

2,443

4,100

6,543

(13,586)

(4,558)

(18,144)

(54,348)

(65,949)

2007  

  17,411

  11,338

  28,749

  4,184

(9,059)

(4,875)

–

  23,874
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10. Other financial expenses, net 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Debt issue costs

Net foreign exchange transaction gains and change in fair value 
of derivative instruments

Income from participation account (I)

Loss from participation account (I)

Others

Other financial expenses, net

2005

 (3,171)

(28,828)

44,050

(265,207)

(8,296)

(261,452)

2007

 (9,061)

(19,083)

–

(282,534)

(40,418)

(351,096)

2006

(13,686)

(16,541)

–

(270,161)

(22,029)

(322,417)

As a result of the debt restructuring process carried out by Sidor in 2003, Ylopa 
became Sidor’s creditor in a Participation Account Agreement. This agreement 
provides for a compensation in the form of cash payments to be paid on a quarterly 
basis and has a term of 14 years, or until the fiscal year prior to the date of the 
settlement in full of certain bank borrowings (BANDES) due by Sidor. 

Until February 15, 2005, the Company accounted for its investment in Amazonia 
under the equity method of accounting. Thus, income arising from the Participation 
Account Agreement described above has been recorded under Income from 
participation account within Financial income, net. Upon conversion of the 
Amazonia Convertible Debt Instrument on February 15, 2005, the Company 
acquired control over Amazonia and began accounting for such investment on 
a consolidated basis. Accordingly, income resulting from Ternium’s share of the 
Participation Account has been offset against Amazonia’s loss for the same concept 
and shown net under the Loss from participation account line item.

(I)

11. Income tax expense 

Income tax

Income tax expense for each of the years presented 
is as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Current tax

Deferred tax – Note 23

Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses – Note 23

2005

 (246,024)

  24,990

  2,542

(218,492)

2007

(284,704)

  121,296

768

(162,640)

2006

 (387,741)

  111,418

  13,967

(262,356)
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Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 
2007, 2006 and 2005, differed from the amount computed 
by applying the statutory income tax rate in force in each 
country in which the company operates to pre-tax income 
as a result of the following:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Income before income tax

Income tax expense at statutory tax rate

Non-taxable income 

Non-deductible expenses

Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses

Provisions for tax loss carry-forwards

Income tax expense

2005

1,291,305

(271,953)

  70,115

(19,196)

  2,542

–

(218,492)

2007

1,152,988

(352,927)

254,940

(42,730)

768

(22,691)

(162,640)

2006

1,258,322

(383,498)

  156,008

(36,050)

  13,967

(12,783)

(262,356)

Vehicles,
furniture

and fixtures

  192,058

(3,766)

  9,520

  3,996

(3,737)

  1,999

  200,070

(128,737)

  3,290

(13,845)

  2,513

198

(136,581)

  63,489

Land

  311,516

  1,950

  203,586

317

(153)

  6,477

  523,693

–

–

–

–

–

–

  523,693

 1,556,693

(23,368)

  222,134

  8,193

(4,848)

  253,153

 2,011,957

(463,372)

  13,078

(104,357)

  2,846

(272)

(552,077)

 1,459,880

Production
equipment

 5,284,964

(45,519)

 1,102,553

  13,339

(73,886)

  94,207

 6,375,658

(1,708,375)

  39,690

(395,193)

  63,674

  19,301

(1,980,903)

 4,394,755

12. Property, plant and equipment, net

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

COST

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Acquisition of business 

Additions

Disposals / Consumptions

Transfers

Values at the end of the year

DEPRECIATION

Accumulated at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Depreciation charge

Disposals / Consumptions

Transfers

Accumulated at the end of the year

At December 31, 2007

Work in
progress

Spare
parts

  25,587

(719)

  1,814

–

–

  43,743

  70,425

(934)

20

(1,364)

–

39

(2,239)

  68,186

Total

7,722,101

(74,588)

 1,602,398

396,973

(86,526)

(29,779)

 9,530,579

(2,301,418)

  56,078

(514,759)

  69,033

  19,266

(2,671,800)

 6,858,779

  351,283

(3,166)

  62,791

  371,128

(3,902)

(429,358)

  348,776

–

–

–

–

–

–

  348,776

Building and
improvements
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Vehicles,
furniture

and fixtures

  187,207

(1,644)

–

  3,424

(2,500)

(17)

  5,588

  192,058

(116,019)

  1,097

(15,397)

  1,582

–

–

(128,737)

  63,321

Land

  314,467

(3,807)

  2,624

–

(19)

–

(1,749)

  311,516

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

  311,516

 1,441,769

(11,287)

  42,603

–

(40)

–

  83,648

 1,556,693

(386,021)

  3,706

(83,357)

20

–

  2,280

(463,372)

 1,093,321

Production
equipment

 5,257,096

(43,129)

  2,598

  21,275

(1,374)

(38,950)

  87,448

 5,284,964

(1,442,682)

  13,403

(305,320)

388

  25,836

–

(1,708,375)

 3,576,589

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

COST

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Acquisition of business 

Additions

Disposals / Consumptions

Derecognition

Transfers

Values at the end of the year

DEPRECIATION

Accumulated at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Depreciation charge

Disposals / Consumptions

Derecognition

Transfers

Accumulated at the end of the year

At December 31, 2006

Work in
progress

  190,356

(770)

–

  351,744

–

(192)

(189,855)

  351,283

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

  351,283

Spare
parts

  18,619

(155)

–

  7,229

(106)

–

–

  25,587

(921)

 12

(110)

85

–

–

(934)

  24,653

Total

 7,409,514

(60,792)

  47,825

  383,672

(4,039)

(39,159)

(14,920)

 7,722,101

(1,945,643)

  18,218

(404,184)

  2,075

  25,836

  2,280

(2,301,418)

 5,420,683

Building and
improvements
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13. Intangible assets, net

Information
system

projects

  68,326

 (195)

  5,895

  33,843

  107,869

(30,876)

663

(21,511)

(51,724)

  56,145

  129,570

(101)

–

  1,501

  130,970

(13,376)

(59)

(8,585)

(22,020)

  108,950

Customer 
relationships 

and other 
contractual 

rights  

–

  1,169

  380,079

  3,951

  385,199

–

980

(15,086)

(14,106)

  371,093

Total

  595,839

(1,294)

  912,180

  39,295

 1,546,020

(44,252)

  1,551

(51,089)

 (93,790)

 1,452,230

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

COST

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Acquisition of business – Note 3

Additions

Values at the end of the year

AMORTIZATION

Accumulated at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Amortization charge

Accumulated at the end of the year

At December 31, 2007

Mining
concessions 

and exploration 
costs

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

COST

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Additions

Values at the end of the year

AMORTIZATION

Accumulated at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Amortization charge

Accumulated at the end of the year

At December 31, 2006

Information
system

projects

  50,385

(409)

  18,350

  68,326

(19,807)

147

(11,216)

(30,876)

  37,450

Mining
concessions

and
exploration

costs

  126,934

(1,159)

  3,795

  129,570

(4,324)

43

(9,095)

(13,376)

  116,194

Goodwill

  399,694

(2,426)

675

  397,943

–

–

–

–

  397,943

Total

577,013

(3,994)

  22,820

  595,839

(24,131)

190

(20,311)

(44,252)

  551,587

Goodwill

  397,943

(3,017)

  455,776

–

  850,702

–

–

–

–

  850,702

Trademarks  

  –

850

  70,430

–

  71,280

–

(33)

(5,907)

(5,940)

  65,340
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14. Investments in associated companies

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

At the beginning of the year

Translation adjustment

Contributions

Equity in (losses) earnings of associated companies

At the end of the year

2007

  16,285

(16)

  34,838

(7,065)

  44,042

2006

  9,122

31

  2,598

  4,534

  16,285

The principal associated companies, all of which are 
unlisted, are:

COMPANY COUNTRY OF 
INCORPORATION

VOTING RIGHTS
AT DECEMBER 31

VALUE AT DECEMBER 31

2007

  2,893

  40,227

95

827

  44,042

2006

  2,747

12,866

120

552

  16,285

2007

  50.00%

49.80%

38.89%

33.33%

Lomond Holdings 
B.V. (1)

Matesi Materiales
Siderúrgicos S.A. (2)

Compañía Afianzadora 
de Empresas
Siderúrgicas S.G.R. (3)

Finma S.A.I.F. (4)

The Netherlands

Venezuela

Argentina

Argentina

2006

      50.00%

49.80%

38.89%

33.33%

Holding company. Indirectly through the participation in Alvory.
Manufacturing and marketing of briquettes. Indirectly through the participation in Sidor. 
Granting of guarantees to participating partners to facilitate or permit access to credits 
for purchase of national raw material. Indirectly through the participation in Siderar.
Consulting and financial services. Indirectly through the participation in Siderar.

(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
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15. Other investments, net – non-current

AT DECEMBER 31

Time deposits with related parties (I) – Note 30

Guarantee fund Compañía Afianzadora de Empresas Siderúgicas
S.G.R. (II)

Others

Total

2007

 12,673

1,842

300

  14,815

2006

 11,249

1,895

243

  13,387

I. Time deposits with related parties 

The Company holds a savings fund denominated in US 
dollars. Withdrawal of investments before certain dates 
is subject to penalties on amounts invested.

II. Guarantee fund Compañía Afianzadora de Empresas 

Siderúrgicas S.G.R.

Corresponds to the Company’s portion of the risk funds 
sponsored by Compañía Afianzadora de Empresas 
Siderúrgicas S.G.R., which acts as guarantor of third 
parties’ debts.

16. Receivables, net – non-current

AT DECEMBER 31

Receivables with related parties – Note 30

Employee advances and loans

Receivables from sale of fixed assets

Income tax credit paid on business acquisition – Note 3

Tax credits

Others

Allowance for doubtful accounts – Note 21

2007

  35,949

  13,078

  1,378

  138,700

  14,810

  14,235

(512)

  217,638

2006

  63,323

  12,616

  1,542

–

–

  2,795

(1,373)

  78,903
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17. Receivables – current

AT DECEMBER 31

Value added tax

Tax credits

Income tax credit paid on business acquisition – Note 3

Employee advances and loans

Advances to suppliers

Expenses paid in advance

Government tax refunds on exports

Receivables with related parties – Note 30

Others

2007

  23,073

  118,881

  84,000

  17,046

  52,044

  15,585

  56,056

  29,058

  30,295

  426,038

2006

 8,513

19,442

–

6,222

27,583

12,175

43,531

42,619

15,733

  175,818

18. Inventories, net

AT DECEMBER 31

Raw materials, materials and spare parts

Goods in process

Finished goods

Goods in transit

Allowance for obsolescence – Note 22

2007

  732,437

  672,656

  360,526

  229,934

(82,502)

 1,913,051

2006

  519,530

  458,839

  262,873

  78,862

(78,779)

 1,241,325

19. Trade receivables, net

AT DECEMBER 31

Current accounts

Trade receivables with related parties – Note 30

Allowance for doubtful accounts – Note 22 

2007

  845,814

  28,977

(26,964)

  847,827

2006

  592,800

  10,149

(25,083)

  577,866
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Legal
claims and 

other matters 

  60,543

(317)

  10,011

  16,690

(20,874)

(8,708)

  57,345

54,138

(137)

  9,966

(1,321)

(2,103)

  60,543

 20. Cash, cash equivalents and other investments

AS OF DECEMBER 31

(I) OTHER INVESTMENTS

 Deposits and foreign private sector bonds 
 (due in more than 90 days)

(II) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Cash at banks and deposits (due in less than 90 days)

 Restricted cash

2007  

   

  65,337

  65,337

 1,126,041

–

 1,126,041

2006

–

–

  633,002

  10,350

  643,352

21. Allowances and provisions – non-current

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Acquisition of business

Additions

Reversals

Used

At December 31, 2007

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Additions

Reversals

Used

At December 31, 2006

DEDUCTED FROM ASSETS

Allowance
for doubtful 

accounts

  1,373

(33)

–

–

(828)

–

512

3,024

(27)

–

(1,624)

–

  1,373

LIABILITIES
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22. Allowances – current 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Acquisition of business

Reversals

Additions

Used

At December 31, 2007

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

Values at the beginning of the year

Translation differences

Reversals

Additions

Used

At December 31, 2006

DEDUCTED FROM ASSETS

Allowance
for doubtful 

accounts

  25,083

(221)

  4,616

(4,440)

  3,743

(1,817)

  26,964

29,851

(420)

(3,937)

354

(765)

  25,083

Allowance
for

obsolescence 

78,779

(548)

  14,357

(20,958)

  16,541

(5,669)

  82,502

  52,819

(513)

(19,300)

  49,620

(3,847)

  78,779

23. Deferred income tax

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary 
differences under the liability method using the tax rate of 
the applicable country.

Changes in deferred income tax are as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

At the beginning of the year

Acquisition of business 

Translation differences

Uses of tax loss carry-forwards

Income statement credit 

At end of the year

2007

(948,716)

(481,930)

  3,336

–

  122,064

(1,305,246)

2006

(1,019,062)

(1,067)

  9,705

(63,677)

  125,385

(948,716)
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The changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to 
offsetting the balances within the same tax jurisdiction) 
during the year are as follows:

AT DECEMBER 31, 2007

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

At beginning of year

Acquisition of business 

Translation differences

Income statement credit

At end of the year

Total  

(1,163,931)

(481,930)

  4,720

  116,575

(1,524,566)

Fixed
assets

(967,228)

(282,233)

  6,158

  102,828

(1,140,475)

Inventories

(84,448)

(17,818)

(377)

  2,232

(100,411)

Intangible
assets

(41,263)

(115,026)

(1,385)

  10,683

(146,991)

Other

(70,992)

(66,853)

324

832

(136,689)

AT DECEMBER 31, 2007

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

At beginning of year

Acquisition of business 

Translation differences

Income statement credit (charge)

At end of year

Total  

 215,215

–

(616)

  4,721

  219,320

Trade 
receivables

  23,583

–

8

(10,732)

  12,859

Provisions

  37,499

–

(367)

  33,109

  70,241

  47,017

–

(309)

(45,335)

  1,373

Other

  107,116

–

52

  27,679

  134,847

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the entity 
a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized 
amounts; and b) intends to settle the tax on a net basis or to 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, USD 31,793 and 
USD 36,439, respectively, have been classified as non-current 
assets and USD 1,337,039 and USD 985,155, respectively, 
have been classified as non-current liabilities.

The amounts shown in the balance sheet include the 
following:

AT DECEMBER 31

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months

2006

  158,205

(1,078,181)

(919,976)

Tax loss 
carry -forwards

2007

  129,376

(1,339,333)

(1,209,957)
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24. Other liabilities

AT DECEMBER 31

(I) OTHER LIABILITIES – NON-CURRENT

 Termination benefits

 Pension benefits

 Related parties – Note 30

 Other

2007

  8,723

  317,050

  1,272

  9,455

  336,500

2006

  3,716

  263,454

  1,149

  6,247

  274,566

Pension benefits

The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet 
are determined as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Present value of unfunded obligations

Unrecognized prior service costs

Unrecognized actuarial losses

Liability in the balance sheet

2007

  362,748

(2,137)

(43,561)

  317,050

2006

  304,922

(16,282)

(25,186)

  263,454

The amounts recognized in the consolidated income 
statement are as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Current service cost

Interest cost

Changes to pension plan (1)

Amortization of prior service costs

Net actuarial (gains) losses recognized in the year

Total included in labor costs

2007

  7,848

  59,747

–

   580

(4,111)

  64,064

2006

  8,079

  36,549

  46,947

 593

  8,728

  100,896

In December 2006, Sidor decided on a change in the benefits associated to the 
pension plan which became effective on January 1, 2007. This change consists 
mainly of an increase in the minimum pension benefit to be provided to retired 
employees. Consequently, the pension plan actuarial liability was adjusted to reflect 
this change. 

(1)
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Changes in the liability recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheet are as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

At the beginning of the year 

Transfers and new participants of the plan 

Total expenses

Translation differences

Contributions paid

At the end of year

2007

  263,454

258

  64,064

185

(10,911)

  317,050

2006

  177,899

   (130)

  100,896

(1,355)

(13,856)

  263,454

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

VENEZUELA

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase 

MEXICO

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

ARGENTINA

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

2007

29.14 %

16.34 %

8.75 %

4.00 %

7.00 %

2.00 %

2006

26.81%

16.34%

9.50%

4.00%

7.00%

2.00%

AT DECEMBER 31

(II) OTHER LIABILITIES – CURRENT

 Payroll and social security payable

 Termination benefits

 Participation account

 Related parties – Note 30

 Others

2007

  108,020

  3,939

  51,219

  9,194

  9,867

  182,239

2006

  81,841

  2,885

  54,454

  15,090

  4,104

  158,374
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25. Derivative financial instruments

Net fair values of derivative financial instruments

The net fair values of derivative financial instruments at December 31, 
2007 and 2006 were as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

CONTRACTS WITH POSITIVE FAIR VALUES

Interest rate swap contracts

Foreign exchange contracts

Commodities contracts

CONTRACTS WITH NEGATIVE FAIR VALUES

Interest rate swap contracts

Foreign exchange contracts

Commodities contracts

2007

  –

–

577

577

(9,557)

(3,736)

–

(13,293)

2006

  6,857

995

–

  7,852

–

–

(15,487)

(15,487)

Derivative financial instruments breakdown is as follows:

A. Interest rate contracts

Fluctuations in market interest rates create a degree of 
risk by affecting the amount of the Company’s interest 
payments and the value of its fixed-rate debt. As of 
December 31, 2007, most of the Company’s long-term 
borrowings were at variable rates.

Both Hylsa and Grupo Imsa entered into derivative 
instruments to manage the impact of the floating interest 
rate changes on their financial debt. 

As of December 31, 2007, Hylsa had an outstanding 
agreement from 2003, with a notional amount of USD 
120.8 million and a cap interest rate of 7.00%. This 
agreement is due on January 2, 2008. In addition, during 
2007, Hylsa entered into four interest rate collars, that 
fix the interest rate to be paid over an aggregate notional 
amount of USD 1,125 million, in an average range of 
3.28% to 5.50%. These agreements are due in July 2009.

On February 23, 2007, Grupo Imsa entered into four 
interest rate collar agreements that fix the interest rate 
to be paid over an aggregate notional amount of USD 250 
million, in an average range of 4.16% to 6.00%. These 
agreements are due in November 2011 and March 2012. 

On September 21, 2007, after its acquisition by Ternium, 
Grupo Imsa entered into other two interest rate collar 
agreements that fix the interest rate to be paid over 
an aggregate notional amount of USD 375 million, in 
an average range of 3.28% to 5.50%. Both agreements 
are due in July 2009.   

B. Foreign exchange contracts

From time to time, Siderar enters into non-deliverable 
forward agreements to manage its exposure to changes 
in the Argentine peso against the US dollar.

As of December 31, 2007, Siderar had a non-deliverable 
forward agreement with a notional amount of ARS 20.4 
million at an average exchange rate of 3.1655 Argentine 
pesos per US dollar. This forward is due in January 2008.

On May 27, 2003, Grupo Imsa entered into a cross 
currency swap contract with Bank of America to manage 
its exposure to changes in the Mexican peso against 
the US dollar and the impact of the floating interest rate 
changes on certain debt certificates. As of December 31, 
2007, the notional amount totals USD 52.6 million and 
the fixed interest rate is 9.30% per annum. This agreement 
is due on May 27, 2009.
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Futhermore, during September and October 2007, 
Grupo Imsa entered into three forward sales over 
an aggregate notional amount of USD 150 million, 
and an average exchange rate of 11.02 Mexican pesos 
per US dollar, to manage its exposure to changes 

in the Mexican peso against the US dollar. All these 
forwards are due on March 3, 2008. 

The net fair values of the exchange rate derivative contracts 
as of December 31, 2007, and December 31, 2006, were:

CURRENCIES

FAIR VALUE AT DECEMBER 31

2007

 (1,220)

(2,486)

(30)

(3,736)

2006

  817

–

178

995

CONTRACT

MXN / USD

MXN / USD

ARS / USD

Forward

Cross currency swap

ND Forward

C. Commodities contracts

Hylsa entered into derivative structures with JP Morgan 
Chase Bank N.A. and Citibank N.A. to manage the impact 
of the fluctuation of natural gas prices over its cost. 

As of December 2007, Hylsa had four structures 
outstanding over an aggregate notional amount of 6 
MMBTU (50 contracts a month). These structures cover 
Hylsa until March 2008. 

CONTRACT

Call – Purchases

Call – Sales

Put – Sales

Swaps – Purchases

Average price

FAIR VALUE AT DECEMBER 31

2007

  1,200 

(29)

(594)

–

577

2006

7.65/7.45

10.00

7.65@KI /7.45@KI

7.36

  13,167

(6,716)

(12,505)

(9,433)

(15,487)
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26. Borrowings

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(I) NON-CURRENT

Bank borrowings

Less: debt issue costs

(II) CURRENT

Bank borrowings

Borrowings with related parties – Note 30

Less: debt issue costs

Total borrowings

2007

 3,684,702

(7,205)

 3,677,497

  430,452

–

  430,452

(23,048)

  407,404

 4,084,901

2006

  551,990

(3,589)

  548,401

  509,201

  2,161

  511,362

(2,668)

  508,694

 1,057,095

The maturity of borrowings is as follows:

AT DECEMBER 31 (1)

2007

 194,638

3,890,263

4,084,901

2006

 158,124

898,971

 1,057,095

Thereafter

Fixed rate

Floating rate

Total

EXPECTED MATURITY DATE

  7,661

34,974

42,635

201220112010

–

 320,390

320,390

2009

–

  371,232

  371,232

  186,977

  220,427

  407,404

2008

As most borrowings incorporate floating rates that approximate market rates 
and the contractual repricing occurs every 3 to 6 months, the fair value of the 
borrowings approximates its carrying amount and is not disclosed separately.

(1)

–

1,732,767

1,732,767

–

1,210,473

1,210,473
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The weighted average interest rates – which incorporate 
instruments denominated mainly in US dollars – at the 
balance sheet date were as follows: 

Bank borrowings

2007

 6.15%

2006

  6.82%

The nominal average interest rates shown above were 
calculated using the rates set for each instrument in 
its corresponding currency and weighted using the 
dollar-equivalent outstanding principal amount of said 
instruments at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The breakdown of long-term borrowings by currency is as 
follows:

AT DECEMBER 31

Floating

Fixed

Fixed

Fixed

Floating

Fixed

2007

 3,807,438

  190,758

  2,067

  1,812

  82,826

–

 4,084,901

2006

  898,971

  62,179

  55,845

–

–

  40,100

 1,057,095

CURRENCY INTEREST RATES

USD

USD

ARS

MXN

MXN

VEB

Total bank borrowings

USD: US dollars; ARS: Argentine pesos; MXN: Mexican pesos; VEB: Venezuelan bolivar

AT DECEMBER 31
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27. Contingencies, commitments and restrictions 

on the distribution of profits

Ternium is involved in litigation arising from time 
to time in the ordinary course of business. Based on 
management’s assessment and the advice of legal  
counsel, it is not anticipated that the ultimate resolution 
of existing litigation will result in amounts in excess of 
recorded provisions that would be material to Ternium’s 
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

I. Consorcio Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd. – PDVSA Gas C.A. claim

In June 2004, the arbitration proceedings brought by Sidor 
against PDVSA Gas C.A. (on the basis that PDVSA Gas 
had charged Sidor higher than agreed-upon prices in its 
supplies of gas against the application of the most favored 
client clause) were resolved in Sidor’s favor. Accordingly, 
in its financial statements at December 31, 2004, Sidor 
reversed the USD 41.4 million provision it had recorded at 
December 31, 2003. In July 2004, PDVSA Gas C.A. filed 
an appeal with the Venezuelan courts seeking to void the 
arbitral award. Sidor believes that applicable Venezuelan 
law does not allow the courts to void an arbitral award 
under the circumstances and that the likelihood of loss 
thereunder is remote. Accordingly, Sidor did not record 
any liabilities in connection with the appeal. At December 
31, 2007, Sidor’s potential exposure under this litigation 
amounted to USD 160.7 million.

II. Tax claims

A. Siderar. 

AFIP – Income tax claim for fiscal years 1995 to 1999

The Administración Federal de Ingresos Públicos (“AFIP” 
– the Argentine tax authority) has challenged the charge to 
income of certain disbursements that Siderar has treated 
as expenses necessary to maintain industrial installations, 
which as such should be deducted in the year in which they 
take place. The AFIP asserts that these are investments 
or improvements that must be capitalized and, therefore, 
it made a jeopardy assessment of income tax due on a 
nominal tax basis plus fines and interest in fiscal years 1995 
to 1999 amounting to approximately USD 21.7 million. 

The Company appealed these assessments before the 
National Tax Court, as in the view of its legal and tax 
advisors, based on existing evidence and the work 
performed by the tax authorities, the Company would 
likely obtain a favorable ruling. 

On April 13, 2005, the Company was notified of a ruling 
issued by the National Tax Court reducing the assessments 
made by the AFIP for fiscal years 1995 and 1996 by USD 
14.1 million and instructing the recalculation of taxes in 
accordance with this ruling. The Company questioned the 
recalculation conducted by the AFIP, generating an incident 
that had favorable resolution to the criteria exposed by the 
Company. Consequently, in December, 2006, there was a 
payment of USD 0.1 million according to the Company’s 
filing and the tax court’s approval, which was then 
appealed by the AFIP. 

Based on the above, the Company recognized a provision 
amounting to USD 4.8 million as of December 31, 2007 as 
management considers there is a probable cash outflow.

B. Sidor

The Company recorded a provision for a total amount of 
USD 7.3 million in connection with tax matters arising 
from compensations of tax credits made by Sidor since 
the implementation of the V.A.T. law in June, 1999. The 
SENIAT, the Venezuelan tax and customs authority, is 
claiming the interest accrued on the application of those 
tax credits as payment on account of tax obligations.

III. Commitments

The following are the Company’s main off-balance sheet 
commitments:
a. Siderar entered into a contract with Tenaris, a related 
company of Ternium, for the supply of steam generated 
at the power generation facility that Tenaris owns in the 
compound of the Ramallo facility of Siderar. Under this 
contract, Tenaris has to provide 250 tn/hour of steam, and 
Siderar has the obligation to take or pay this volume. This 
outsourcing contract is due to terminate in 2018.

b. Siderar entered into a contract with Transportadora 
de Gas del Norte (TGN) for gas transportation services. 
TGN charges Siderar a price that is equivalent on a 
comparable basis to prices paid by other industrial users, 
and the Argentine government regulates the general 
framework under which TGN operates. Siderar pays a 
monthly fee for reserved cubic meter (1,070 thousand 
m3/day), whether it uses it or not. The contracted volume 
of 900 thousand m3/day will terminate in 2013 and the 
residual volumen, in 2019.
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c. Sidor’s production process requires a large amount of 
electricity. On August 21, 1997, that company entered into 
a twenty-year contract with EDELCA, a Venezuelan state-
owned company, for the supply of all of Sidor’s electricity 
needs. This contract will terminate in 2018. 

d. Sidor’s production process is heavily reliant upon 
supplies of natural gas. Sidor buys 100% of its natural 
gas from PDVSA Gas, a Venezuelan state-owned natural 
gas supply company. In 1997, Sidor signed a twenty-year 
contract with PDVSA Gas for the supply of natural gas.

e. In 1997, Sidor entered into a twenty-year contract with 
Ferrominera del Orinoco (“FMO”) for the supply of iron 
ore. Pursuant to this contract, FMO will supply Sidor 
up to a maximum annual volume of iron ore needed to 
produce 6.6 million tons of pellets until 2017. Sidor and 
FMO entered into an amendment to the 1997 contract 
on November 11, 2005. The revised contract sets the iron 
ore price at the lower of the price charged by FMO to its 
customers (other than certain newly-created state-owned 
steel producers) in the Venezuelan domestic market, 
and 80% of a market reference price (this percentage 
may drop to 70%).

In connection with the iron ore contract, in 1997 Sidor 
and FMO entered into another agreement under which 
Sidor committed to sell, upon the request of FMO, up to 
2 million tons per year of pellets to FMO, at a price based 
on the sale price at which FMO sells iron ore to Sidor plus 
an applicable margin paid to Sidor for the production of 
pellets, which is determined using market references.

f. In 1998, Sidor signed a contract with Ternium’s related 
company TAVSA Tubos de Acero de Venezuela S.A. 
(a Venezuelan seamless steel pipe producer controlled by 
Tenaris), under which it committed to sell up to 90,000 
tons of blooms or 130,000 tons of liquid steel per year, until 
2013. The purchase price varies in relation to changes in the 
costs of production.

g. On August 20, 2004, Sidor entered into a contract with 
its associated company Matesi Materiales Siderúrgicos S.A. 
for the supply of hot briquetted iron (HBI). Sidor commited 
to purchase 29.9% of Matesi’s HBI production volume for 

the term of ten years. In addition, Sidor has the right to 
increase its proportion of Matesi’s production by an extra 
19.9 % until reaching  49.8% of Matesi’s HBI production. 
Under the contract, the sale price is determined on a cost-
plus basis. The contract is renewable for additional three-
year periods unless Sidor or Matesi objects to its renewal 
more than one year prior to its termination. 

h. On April 6, 2006, Sidor entered into a slag removal 
and raw material handling services contract with Sidernet 
de Venezuela C.A., a related party, for a total estimated 
amount of USD 155.9 million. The agreement is due to 
terminate in June 2016.

i. Hylsa’s production process requires a large amount of 
electricity. On December 20, 2000, Hylsa entered into a 
25-year contract with Iberdrola Energia Monterrey, S.A. 
de C.V. (“Iberdrola”), a Mexican subsidiary of the Spanish 
Company Iberdrola Energía, S.A., for the supply of a 
contracted electrical demand of 143.2 MW. This contract 
effectively started on April 30, 2002, and currently supplies 
approximately 42% of Hylsa’s electricity needs with the 
remainder supplied by CFE, the Mexican state-owned 
utility. The contract with Iberdrola will terminate in 2027.

Effective January 1, 2008, Iberdrola invoked an early 
termination clause included in the above-mentioned 
contract in connection with two of the plants located 
in Puebla and Apodaca. This early termination clause 
provides for a ninety-day period before electricity supply 
is suspended. Accordingly, the termination of the 
contract and the suspension of the energy supply will be 
effective on March 31, 2008. The contracted electrical 
demand from these two plants represents approximately 
22% of the total demand of 143.2 MW. 

j. Hylsamex S.A. de C.V. and subsidiaries entered into 16 
long-term operating lease agreements for the rental of 
machinery, materials-handling equipment, earth-moving 
equipment, computers and assorted vehicles. Total 
amounts due, from 2008 to 2012, include USD 13.3 million 
in lease payments. Total loss for lease payments recorded in 
the year ended December 31, 2007, accounts for 
USD 12.7 million.
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases are as follows:

USD
 thousands

2008

2009-2012

Total 

YEAR

  6,625

  6,636

  13,261

k. On April 5, 2000, several subsidiaries of Grupo Imsa 
which have facilities throughout the Mexican territory, 
entered into a 15-year energy purchase agreement for 
approximately 90 MW of electricity as purchased 
capacity with Tractebel Energía de Monterrey S. de 
R.L. de C.V., distributed among each plant defined as 
a capacity user. Each capacity user is committed to pay 
Tractebel for the purchased capacity and for the net 
energy delivered. Grupo Imsa is required to provide its 
best estimate of its expected nomination for capacity 
and energy under the specific limits and timelines. 
The monthly payments are calculated considering the 
capacity charges, energy charges, back-up power charges, 
and transmission charges, less any steam credits.

l. On April 1, 2003, Grupo Imsa (through Industrias 
Monterrey S.A. de C.V.) entered into a contract with 
PEMEX GAS and Petroquímica Básica for the supply 
of natural gas to one of Grupo Imsa’s plants located in 
Monclova, based on an annual program established 30 
days before the commencement of the following service 
year. This annual program is agreed based on Grupo Imsa’s 
needs during the relevant period and Grupo Imsa has the 
obligation to purchase this agreed volume, which is subject 
to renegotiation according to the agreement. The reference 
price is determined based on the average of the quoted 
prices of several indexes plus transportation and service 
costs depending on the areas or cities. 

m. On December 16, 2004, Grupo Imsa entered into a 
ten-year steel slab supply agreement (the “Agreement”) 
with Corus UK Limited (“Corus”) together with Grupo 
Marcegaglia (Italy), Duferco International (Switzerland), 
Donkuk Steel (South Korea) (collectively referred to as the 

“Off-takers”). During the term of the contract, Grupo Imsa 
through one of its subsidiaries, will be entitled to purchase 
15.4% of the production of Corus’ Teeside plant, estimated 
between 3.2 and 3.6 million tons of steel slab per year. This 
represents approximately 20% of Grupo Imsa’s actual 
steel slab needs. The Agreement also establishes a supply 
schedule for each of the Off-takers.

As per the Agreement, Grupo Imsa is committed to make 
pre-determined cash payments during the term of the 
contract in addition to the purchase price paid for the 
steel slab, as follows: (I) an initial payment of USD 14.3 
million, (II) twenty semi-annual payments distributed 
proportionately in different percentages until 2014 for a 
total of USD 16.5 million, and (III) additional payments 
for future capital investments in Corus’ Teeside plant 
amounting to approximately USD 15.1 million. The initial 
payment and the due payments described in (II) above 
have been made prior to the acquisition of Grupo Imsa 
by Ternium. In December 2007, the rights and obligations 
established in this contract were transferred to Alvory S.A.

n. On January 19, 2006, Grupo Imsa (through Industrias 
Monterrey S.A. de C.V) entered into an agreement with Gas 
Industrial de Monterrey, S.A. de C.V (GIMSA), under which 
GIMSA agrees to supply natural gas to two of Grupo Imsa’s 
plants, based on an Annual Firm Base which is established 
45 days before the commencement of the following service 
year and is determined based on Grupo Imsa’s daily needs 
for the relevant period. Grupo Imsa has the obligation to 
purchase the agreed volume, which is subject to changes 
according to written communications, as established in 
the agreement. The price is determined on a monthly basis 
pursuant to the methodology approved by the Energy 
Regulatory Commission for prices applicable to the area.

IV. Restrictions on the distribution of profits

Under the credit agreements entered into to finance the 
acquisition of Hylsamex, the Company and its affiliates 
had some restrictions on the payment of dividends in excess 
of certain amounts, among other limitations. See Note 
3 E. As of December 31, 2007, Ternium S.A. and Siderar 
S.A.I.C. have fully repaid these loans, and at the same time 
the guarantees and restrictions imposed by the financing 
contracts have been released.
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During the annual general shareholders’ meeting held on 
June 6, 2007, the shareholders approved the consolidated 
financial statements and unconsolidated annual 
accounts for the year ended December 31, 2006, and a 
distribution of dividends of USD 0.05 per share (USD 
0.50 per ADS), or USD 100.2 million. The dividends 
were paid on June 12, 2007.

28. Earnings per share

On December 30, 2004, the Company converted the 
currency in which its share capital is expressed from EUR 
to USD. The share capital of EUR 31,000, represented 
by 31 shares of EUR 1,000 nominal value each, was 
converted into USD 41,471.80, represented by 31 shares 
with no nominal value. On June 17, 2005, the share 
capital of the Company was restructured by setting the 
nominal value per share at USD 1.00 and dividing the 
31 issued shares into 41,471 shares of USD 1.00 nominal 
value each, and further transferring USD 0.80 to the share 
premium account of the Company. 

On June 29, 2005, ISL contributed all of its assets 
(including 41,470 shares of the Company) and liabilities 

to the Company, in exchange for 959,482,775 new shares 
in the Company. 

Upon consummation of this contribution, the 41,470 
shares contributed by ISL to the Company were cancelled 
and the Company’s issued share capital was increased 
to USD 959,482,776 represented by 959,482,776 shares 
of USD 1.00 nominal value each.

On September 15, 2005, ISL made a second contribution 
of all of its assets (including 750,021,919 shares of the 
Company) and liabilities to the Company, in exchange 
for 959,482,775 new shares in the Company. 

Upon consummation of this second contribution, the 
750,021,919 shares contributed by ISL to the Company 
were cancelled and the Company’s issued share capital 
was increased to USD 1,168,943,632 represented by 
1,168,943,632 shares of USD 1.00 nominal value each.

In October 2005, Usiminas exchanged its 5.32% equity 
interest in Siderar, its 16.58% equity interest in Amazonia 
and its 19.11% equity interest in Ylopa and other items 
for 227,608,254 new shares in the Company.

Under Luxembourg Law, at least 5% of net income per 
year calculated in accordance with Luxembourg Law and 
regulations must be allocated to a reserve until such reserve 
has reached an amount equal to 10% of the share capital. 
At December 31, 2007, this reserve reached the above-
mentioned threshold.

Ternium may pay dividends to the extent that it has 
distributable retained earnings and distributable reserves 
calculated in accordance with Luxembourg Law and 
regulations. Therefore, retained earnings included in 
the consolidated financial statements may not be wholly 
distributable.

Shareholders’ equity under Luxembourg Law and 
regulations comprises the following captions:

AT DECEMBER 31

Share capital

Legal reserve

Distributable reserves

Non-distributable reserves

Accumulated profit at January 1, 2007

Profit for the year

Total shareholders' equity under Luxembourg GAAP

2007

 2,004,744

  200,474

  301,912

 1,414,122

  499,842

  731,983

 5,153,077
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Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 

Basic earnings per share (USD per share)

Diluted earnings per share (USD per share)

  784,490

2,004,743,442

0.39

0.39

2007

795,424

1,936,833,060

0.41

0.41

2006

704,406

1,209,476,609

0.58

0.54

2005

Upon the consummation of this exchange, as of 
December 31, 2005, the capital was increased to 
USD 1,396,551,887 represented by 1,396,551,887 
shares of USD 1.00 nominal value each.

Furthermore, in November 2005, Sidetur, a subsidiary 
of Sivensa, exchanged with ISL its 3.42% equity interest 
in Amazonia and USD 3.1 million in cash for shares 
in the Company. 

As mentioned in Note 1, on January 11, 2006, the 
Company launched an Initial Public Offering of 
24,844,720 ADSs (each representing 10 shares of the 
Company) in the United States. The Company’s Initial 
Public Offering was settled on February 6, 2006.

In connection with the over-allotment described in 
Note 1, on March 1, 2006, the Company issued 
22,981,360 new shares.

As per the provisions contained in the Subordinated 
Convertible Loan Agreement, on February 6, 2006, 
the Company exchanged the Subordinated Convertible 
Loans (including interest accrued through January 31, 
2006) held by ISL and converted them into shares at a 

conversion price of USD 2.00 per share, resulting in the 
issuance of 302,962,261 new shares on February 9, 2006.

As provided in the Corporate Reorganization Agreement, 
on February 9, 2006, ISL contributed all of its assets 
and liabilities (including its interest in Amazonia) to 
the Company in exchange for 959,482,775 newly-issued 
shares in the Company after the settlement of the Initial 
Public Offering. 

Upon consummation of the transactions mentioned, 
as of December 31, 2006, the capital was increased to 
USD 2,004,743,442 represented by 2,004,743,442 shares, 
each having a nominal value of USD 1.00.

For fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, the weighted 
average of shares outstanding totaled 2,004,743,442, 
1,936,833,060 and 1,209,476,609 shares, respectively.

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net 
income attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the daily weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share 
have been calculated giving effect to the conversion 
of the Subordinated Convertible Loans on the date each 
one was entered into.
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29. Discontinued operations

On December 19, 2007, Ternium, through its subsidiary 
Imsa Acero S.A. de C.V., entered into a stock purchase 
agreement with BlueScope Steel North America 
Corporation, a subsidiary of BlueScope Steel Limited, for 
the sale of Imsa’s interests in Steelscape Inc., ASC Profiles 
Inc., Varco Pruden Buildings Inc. and Metl-Span LLC. 
Following consummation of the sale, Ternium will continue 
to own Steelscape’s Shreveport plant. See Note 34.

Analysis of the result of discontinued operations:

AT DECEMBER 31

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Other operating expenses, net

Operating income

Financial income, net

Income before income tax 

Income tax expense

Income for the year from discontinued operations

2007  

  37,145

(23,765)

(839)

  12,541

419

  12,960

(2,142)

  10,818

Cash from discontinued operations decreased by USD 3.9 
million in 2007, mainly as a result of a USD 6.5 million 
increase in cash provided by operating activities and a USD 
10.4 million decrease in cash from investing activities.
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30. Related party transactions

The Company is controlled by San Faustín, which at 
December 31, 2007 indirectly owned 70.52% of Ternium’s 
shares and voting rights. Rocca & Partners S.A. controls a 
significant portion of the voting power of San Faustín N.V. 
and has the ability to influence matters affecting, or 
submitted to, a vote of the shareholders of San Faustín N.V., 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

I.  TRANSACTIONS

a. SALES OF GOODS AND SERVICES

 Sales of goods to associated parties

 Sales of goods to other related parties

 Sales of services to associated parties

 Sales of services to other related parties

b. PURCHASES OF GOODS AND SERVICES

 Purchases of goods from associated parties

 Purchases of goods from other related parties

 Purchases of services from associated parties

 Purchases of services from other related parties

c. FINANCIAL RESULTS

 Income with associated parties

 Income with other related parties

 Expenses with other related parties

2007 2006

  52

  130,893

  2,100

  3,855

  136,900

  49,524

  49,041

  25,664

  167,754

  291,983

  3,440

26

–

  3,466

  1,650

  90,665

  2,938

  1,608

  96,861

  75,751

  62,023

  3,999

  156,716

  298,489

  3,820

38

(1,815)

  2,043

such as the election of directors, the approval 
of certain corporate transactions and other matters 
concerning the Company’s policies. There are no 
controlling shareholders for Rocca & Partners S.A. 
For commitments with Related parties. See Note 27.

The following transactions were carried out 
with related parties:
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AT DECEMBER 31

II. YEAR-END BALANCES

a. ARISING FROM SALES/PURCHASES OF GOODS/SERVICES 
 AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS

 Receivables from associated parties

 Receivables from other related parties

 Payables to associated parties

 Payables to other related parties

b. OTHER INVESTMENTS

 Time deposit

c. FINANCIAL DEBT

 Borrowings with other related parties – Note 26

2007  2006

  40,980

  53,004

(7,681)

(29,749)

  56,554

  12,673

–

  67,558

  48,533

(5,588)

(48,032)

  62,471

  11,249

(2,161)

III. OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION

 The aggregate compensation of Officers and Directors earned during the  

 years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, amounts to USD 9,984  

 thousand, USD 10,276 thousand and USD 4,485 thousand, respectively.  

31. Cash flow disclosures

AT DECEMBER 31

I. CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL (1)

 Inventories

 Receivables, other investments and others

 Trade receivables

 Other liabilities

 Trade payables

     

II. INCOME TAX ACCRUALS LESS PAYMENTS

 Tax accrued – Note 11

 Taxes paid

     

III. INTEREST ACCRUALS LESS PAYMENTS

 Interest accrued

 Interest paid

2007  2006

(171,938)

(5,476)

  40,841

(5,422)

  166,878

  24,883 

  162,640

(343,688)

(181,048)

  142,137

(52,672)

  89,465

 (271,480)

  122,917

(96,122)

(93,472)

  62,004

(276,153)

  262,356

(280,431)

(18,075)

  112,918

(108,721)

  4,197

2005

 (133,995)

  3,103

  97,814

  46,117

  41,381

  54,420

  218,492

(262,500)

(44,008)

  81,608

(57,085)

  24,523 

Changes in working capital are shown net of the effect 
of exchange rate changes.

(1)
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32. Recently-issued accounting pronouncements 

I. International Accounting Standard 23 (revised 2007), 

“Borrowing Costs”

In March 2007, the International Accounting Standards 
Board issued International Accounting Standard 23 (revised 
2007), “Borrowing Costs” (the “Standard”). The Standard 
provides that borrowing costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset form part of the cost of that asset, while 
all other borrowing costs shall be recognized as an expense.

The Standard supersedes IAS 23 (revised 1993) and is 
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009. Earlier application is permitted. If an 
entity applies the Standard from a date before January 1, 
2009, it shall disclose that fact.

The Company’s management estimates that the application 
of IAS 23 (revised 2007) will not have a material effect on 
the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

II. IFRIC Interpretation 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes

In June 2007, the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) issued IFRIC 
Interpretation 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” 
(“IFRIC 13”). IFRIC 13 applies to customer loyalty award 
credits that:

a. an entity grants to its customers as part of a sales 
transaction (i.e, a sale of goods, rendering of services 
or use by a customer of entity assets); and 
b. subject to meeting any further qualifying conditions, 
the customers may redeem in the future for free or 
discounted goods or services.

IFRIC 13 addresses accounting by the entity that grants 
award credits to its customers.

An entity shall apply IFRIC 13 for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2008, although earlier 
application is permitted. If an entity applies IFRIC 13 
for a period beginning before July 1, 2008, it shall 
disclose that fact. 

The Company’s management estimates that the application 
of IFRIC 13 will not have a material effect on the 
Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

III. IFRIC Interpretation 14, IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined 

Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their 

Interaction

In July 2007, IFRIC issued IFRIC Interpretation 14 “IAS 19 
– The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction” (“IFRIC 14”). IFRIC 
14 applies to all post-employment defined benefits and 
other long-term employee defined benefits and addresses 
the following issues:

a. when refunds or reductions in future contributions 
should be regarded as available in accordance with 
paragraph 58 of IAS 19;
b. how a minimum funding requirement might affect the 
availability of reductions in future contributions; and
c. when a minimum funding requirement might give rise 
to a liability.
An entity shall apply this Interpretation for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application 
is permitted.

The Company’s management has not assessed the potential 
impact that the application of IFRIC 14 may have on the 
Company’s financial condition or results of operations. 

IV. International Accounting Standard 1 (revised 2007), 

“Presentation of Financial Statements”

In September 2007, the International Accounting Standards 
Board issued International Accounting Standard 1 Revised, 
“Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1 Revised”). 
IAS 1 Revised sets overall requirements for the presentation 
of financial statements, guidelines for their structure and 
minimum requirements for their content. The main changes 
introduced by IAS 1 Revised in respect of the previous 
version of IAS 1 include the following:

a. a complete set of financial statements shall include 
a statement of financial position as at the beginning 
of the earliest comparative period whenever the entity 
retrospectively applies an accounting policy or makes 
a retrospective restatement;
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b. changes in equity arising from transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners shall be reported separately 
from non-owners’ changes in equity;
c. an entity shall disclose income tax relating relating to 
each component of other comprehensive income; and
d. the option to present distributions to equity holders 
(dividends) in the income statement is no longer available

IAS 1 Revised is applicable for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2009, although earlier application is 
permitted.

The Company’s management has not assessed the potential 
impact that the application of IAS 1 Revised may have on 
the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. 

33. Financial risk management 

1. Financial risk factors

Ternium’s activities expose the Company to a variety 
of risks: market risk (including the effects of changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and 
commodities prices), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Ternium’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize 
potential adverse effects on financial performance. 
Ternium’s subsidiaries may use derivative financial 
instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury 
department that identifies, evaluates and hedges financial 
risks in cooperation with Ternium’s subsidiaries. 
The Company has written principles for overall risk 
management, as well as policies covering specific areas, 
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative 
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

1.1. Market risk

I. Foreign exchange rate risk

Ternium operates and sells its products in different 
countries, and as a result is exposed to foreign exchange 
rate volatility. Ternium’s subsidiaries may use derivative 
contracts in order to hedge their exposure to exchange rate 
risk derived from their trade and financial operations.

Ternium’s general policy is to minimize the negative impact 
of fluctuations in the value of other currencies with respect 
to the US dollar. Ternium’s subsidiaries monitor their net 
operating cash flows in currencies other than the US dollar, 
and analyze its potential hedging according to market 
conditions. This hedging can be carried out by netting 
operational positions or by financial derivatives. However, 
regulatory or legal restrictions in the countries in which 
Ternium’s subsidiaries operate could limit the possibility 
of the company carrying out its hedging policy.

Ternium has certain investments in foreign operations, 
whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation 
risk. The fact that some subsidiaries have measurement 
currencies other than the US dollar may, at times, distort 
the results of the hedging efforts as reported under IFRS.

We estimate that if the Argentine peso, Mexican peso and 
Venezuelan bolivar had weakened by 1% against the US 
dollar with all other variables held constant, total pre-tax 
income for the year would have been USD 30 million lower, 
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation 
of the US dollar-denominated financial position, mainly 
trade receivables and borrowings. This effect would have 
been offset by the change in the currency translation 
adjustment recorded in equity.

II. Interest rate risk

Ternium manages its exposure to interest rate volatility 
through its financing alternatives and hedging instruments. 
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group 
to the risk of increased interest expense in the event of 
a raise in market interest rates, while borrowings issued 
at fixed rates expose the Group to a variation in its fair 
value. The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from 
long-term borrowings that bear variable-rate interest that 
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is partially fixed through different derivative transactions, 
such as swaps and structures with options. The Group’s 
general policy is to maintain a balance between instruments 
exposed to fixed and variable rates; which can be modified 
according to long-term market conditions.

Our nominal weighted average interest rate for our debt 
instruments was 6.15% and 6.82% for 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. These rates were calculated using the rates 
set for each instrument in its corresponding currency and 
weighted using the dollar-equivalent outstanding principal 
amount of each instrument as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

Ternium’s total variable interest rate debt amounted to 
USD 3.890 million (95% of total borrowings) for the year 
ended December 31, 2007, and USD 899 million (85 % of 
total borrowings) for the year ended December 31, 2006.

If interest rates on the aggregate average notional of US 
dollar-denominated borrowings held during 2007, had 
been 100 basis points higher with all other variables held 
constant, total profit for the year ended December 31, 2007, 
would have been USD 29.8 million lower. 

III. Commodity price risk

In the ordinary course of its operations, Ternium purchases 
raw materials (such as iron ore and slabs) and other 
commodities (including electricity and gas). Commodity 
prices are generally volatile as a result of several factors, 
including those affecting supply and demand, political, 
social and economic conditions, and other circumstances. 
Ternium monitors its exposure to commodity price 
volatility on a regular basis and applies customary 
commodity price risk management strategies, including 
entering into long-term supply agreements and/or fixing 
commodity prices for limited periods of time. For further 
information on long-term commitments, see Note 27 III.

1.2. Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits 
with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables 
and committed transactions. Ternium’s subsidiaries have 

credit guidelines in place to ensure that derivative and 
treasury counterparties are limited to high-credit quality 
financial institutions. 

 Ternium has no significant concentrations of credit risk 
from customers. No single customer accounts for more 
than five percent of Ternium’s sales. Ternium’s subsidiaries 
have policies in place to ensure that sales are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history,  and that 
credit insurances,  letters of credit or other instruments are 
requested to reduce credit risk whenever deemed necessary. 
The subsidiaries maintain allowances for potential credit 
losses. The utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored.

Trade and other receivables are carried at face value less 
allowance for doubtful accounts, if applicable. This 
amount does not differ significantly from fair value. 
The other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

As of December 31, 2007, the total of trade receivables is 
of USD 847.8 million. These trade receivables have 
guarantees under letter of credit and other bank guarantees 
of USD 62.6 million, credit insurance of USD 327.9 million 
and other guarantees of USD 58.2 million.

As of December 31, 2007, trade receivables of USD 768.2 
million were fully performing.

As of December 31, 2007, trade receivables of USD 79.6 
million were past due but not impaired. These relate to 
a number of independent customers for whom there is 
no recent history of default. These trade receivables as of 
December 31, 2007, are less than 3 months past due.

The amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts was 
USD 27.0 million as of December 31, 2007. This allowance 
for doubtful accounts and the existing guarantees are 
sufficient to cover overdue trade receivables. 
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other 
receivables as of December 31, 2007, are denominated 
in the following currencies:

CURRENCY

US dollar (USD)

EU euro (EUR)

Argentine peso (ARS)

Mexican peso (MXN)

Venezuelan bolívar (VEB)

Other currencies

USD
million

 686.0

25.4

30.5

680.7

95.3

6.0

1.3. Liquidity risk

Management maintains sufficient cash and marketable 
securities and credit facilities to finance normal operations. 
The Company also has committed credit facilities to 
support its ability to close out market positions if needed.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s 
liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flow.

The table below analyses financial liabilities into 
relevant maturity groups based on the period remaining 
at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

AT DECEMBER 31 2007

 4,084.9

868.7

4,953.6

Thereafter

Borrowings

Interests to be accrued

Total

EXPECTED MATURITY DATE

  42.6

6.8

49.4

2012

 1,210.5

101.7

1,312.2

2011

 1,732.8

146.2

1,879.0

2010

320.4

176.3

496.7

2009

  371.2

  208.3

  579.5

  407.4

  229.4

  636.8

2008



 97. Financial statements 2007

1.4. Capital risk

Ternium seeks to maintain an adequate debt/equity 
ratio considering the industry and the markets where it 
operates. The year-end ratio debt over debt plus equity 
is 0.39 and 0.16 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. The Company does not have to comply with 
regulatory capital adequacy requirements as known in 
the financial services industry.

2. Accounting for derivative financial instruments 

and hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized 
in the balance sheet at cost and subsequently remeasured 
at fair value. Changes in fair value are disclosed 
under Financial income, net line item in the Income 
statement. Ternium does not hedge its net investments 
in foreign entities.

Derivative transactions and other financial instruments, 
while providing economic hedges under risk management 
policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the 
specific rules in IAS 39. Changes in the fair value of 
any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting under IAS 39 are recognized immediately in the 
income statement. The fair value of derivative instruments 
is disclosed in Note 25.

3. Fair value estimation

The estimated fair value of a financial instrument is the 
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than 
in a forced or liquidation sale. 

For the purpose of estimating the fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities with maturities of less than one year, 
the Company uses the market value less any estimated 
credit adjustments. For other investments, including the 
trust fund, the Company uses quoted market prices.

As most borrowings include variable rates or fixed rates 
that approximate market rates and the contractual re-
pricing occurs every 3 to 6 months, the fair value of the 
borrowings approximates its carrying amount and is not 
disclosed separately.

In assessing the fair value of derivatives and other financial 
instruments, Ternium uses a variety of methods, including, 
but not limited to, the estimated discounted value of future 
cash flows using assumptions based on market conditions 
existing at each balance sheet date.

34. Post-balance sheet events

On February 1, 2008, Ternium, through its subsidiary Imsa 
Acero S.A. de C.V., completed the sale of its interests in 
Steelscape Inc., ASC Profiles Inc., Varco Pruden Buildings 
Inc. and Metl-Span LLC to BlueScope Steel North America 
Corporation, a subsidiary of BlueScope Steel Limited, for 
a total consideration of USD 726 million on a cash-free 
and debt-free basis, subject to working capital and other 
adjustments. Ternium intends to use the proceeds of the 
sale to prepay financial debt.

Ternium sold the assets after determining that they 
were not a strategic fit with its production system. The 
Company continues to own Steelscape’s Shreveport, LA 
plant, which has already been integrated into its operations. 
Ternium has also retained its pre-engineered metal 
buildings and insulated steel panels businesses in Mexico.

Roberto Philipps
Chief Financial Officer
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Management Report

The board of directors of Ternium S.A. (the “Company”) 
submits the annual accounts for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2007 in accordance with article 20 of the 
Company’s articles of association and Luxembourg 
applicable laws and regulations.

The Company

The Company has qualified for, and was admitted to, 
the Billionaire holding company tax regime in conjunction 
with the financing holding company tax regime in 
Luxemburg starting January 1, 2006.

On January 11, 2006, the Company announced that it 
had filed a registration statement on Form F-1 with the 
US Securities and Exchange Commission related to its 
proposed initial public offering of 24,844,720 American 
Depositary Shares (“ADSs”), each representing ten shares 
of common stock.

Ternium’s ADSs began trading on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the symbol “TX” on February 1, 2006. 

On April 29, 2007, the Company entered into an 
agreement with Grupo Imsa S.A.B. de C.V. (“Grupo 
Imsa”) and Grupo Imsa’s controlling shareholders 
under which the Company obtained control of Grupo 
Imsa for a total consideration (equity value) of 
approximately USD 1.7 billion.

Under the above-mentioned agreement with Grupo 
Imsa, the Company, through Ternium Internacional 
España S.L.U. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ternium 
Internacional), made a cash tender offer under applicable 
Mexican law for all of the issued and outstanding share 
capital of Grupo Imsa at a price of USD 6.40 per share. 
Pursuant to the tender offer, the Company indirectly 
acquired 25,133,856 shares representing 9.3% of the issued 
and outstanding capital of the company.

Concurrently with the consummation of the tender offer, 
on July 26, 2007, all the shares of Grupo Imsa that were 
not tendered into the tender offer (including the shares 
owned by Grupo Imsa’s majority shareholders), 
representing 90.7% of Grupo Imsa’s issued and 
outstanding share capital, were redeemed for cash pursuant 
to a capital reduction effected at the same price per share.

Accordingly, the Company, through Ternium Internacional 
España S.L.U., now owns all of Grupo Imsa’s issued and 
outstanding share capital.

The transactions were financed primarily through the 
incurrence of debt as follows:

The Company made several borrowings in an aggregate 
principal amount of USD 125 million under a loan facility 
with a syndicate of banks led by Calyon New York Branch 
as administrative agent, the proceeds of which were 
primarily used to finance the tender offer described above.

Ternium’s affiliated company Hylsa made several 
borrowings in an aggregate principal amount of 
USD 3,485 million under a loan facility with a syndicate 
of banks led by Calyon New York Branch as administrative 
agent, the proceeds of which were primarily used to 
finance the capital reduction described above by Grupo 
Imsa, to refinance existing indebtedness of Grupo Imsa 
and Hylsa and to pay taxes, fees and expenses related to 
the transactions. 

On December 19, 2007, the Company, through its 
subsidiary Imsa Acero S.A. de C.V., entered into a stock 
purchase agreement with BlueScope Steel North America 
Corporation, a subsidiary of BlueScope Steel Limited, for 
the sale of Imsa’s interests in Steelscape Inc., ASC Profiles 
Inc., Varco Pruden Buildings Inc. and Metl-Span LLC. 
Following consummation of the sale, the Company will 
continue to own Steelscape’s Shreveport plant.

On February 1, 2008, the Company completed this sale 
for a total consideration of USD 726.0 million on a 
cash-free and debt-free basis, subject to working capital 
and other adjustments. The Company intends to use 
the proceeds of the sale to prepay financial debt.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, sold the assets 
after determining that they were not a strategic fit with 
its production system. The Company continues to own 
Steelscape’s Shreveport, LA plant, which has already 
been integrated into its operations. Ternium has also 
retained its pre-engineered metal buildings and insulated 
steel panels businesses in Mexico.

•

•
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Following the positive business environment and its sound 
financial position, as of 31 December, 2007, Tranche B of 
the Ternium Credit Facility related to the Grupo Hylsa 
acquisition has been fully repaid.

On January 28, 2008, the Company prepaid all of its 
outstanding obligations with Calyon New York Branch, 
aumonting to approximately USD 129.1 million, 
related to the Grupo Imsa acquisition. 

Results for the year

Profit for the year ended December 31, 2007, totaled 
USD 732.0 million.

Income for the year 2007 totaled USD 771.5 million:
a. Dividends obtained by the Company totaled 
USD 522.2 million, from its investments in Consorcio 
Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd. (USD 277.5 million), Inversiones 
Siderúrgicas S.A. (USD 79.9 million), I.I.I Industrial 
Investments Inc. (USD 126.2 million), 
Siderar S.A.I.C. (USD 30.7 million), Fasnet International 
S.A. (USD 7.8 million).
b. Interest earnings from convertible loans entered into 
with a subsidiary company (USD 50.4 million).
c. Interest earnings from financial investments amounted 
to USD 8.9 million.
d. Gains from sale of shares in affiliated undertakings 
totaled USD 190.0 million.

Charges for the year 2007 totaled USD 39.5 million, 
principally due to: 
a. Interest expenses totaled USD 17.5 million, as a result 
of the amounts owed to: (I) affiliated companies in 
connection with the acquisitions of investments (USD 
8.7 million), and (II) financial institutions involved in the 
acquisition of Hylsamex SA de CV and its subsidiaries 
(USD 5.3 million) and Grupo Imsa (USD 3.5 million). 
b. Administration and general expenses totaled 
USD 10.9 million, amortization of formation expenses 
USD 4.8 million and taxes USD 6.0 million.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had investments 
in affiliated companies for USD 4.991 million.

Detailed below are modifications of investments in 
affiliated companies (not including dividends received):

On May 3, 2007, the Company made a cash contribution 
of USD 1,793,658 to Alvory, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company. 

On May 24, 2007, the Company acquired from the 
wholly-owned subsidiary Industrial Investments Inc. 
(“I.I.I. B.V.I.”) one share of Fasnet International S.A. 
(“Fasnet”), a holding company whose main asset was 
an ownership interest in I.I.I. B.V.I. Purchase price for 
this acquisition totaled USD 187,740 and through this 
acquisition the Company reached a 100% equity interest 
in Fasnet. As of that date, Fasnet transferred to the 
Company its entire investment in I.I.I. B.V.I. by means 
of a capital reduction of USD 19,179,200. 

On June 27, 2007, the Company made a cash contribution 
of USD 3,000,000 to Ternium Treasury Services S.A., 
a wholly-owned subsidiary company.

On June 1, 2007, the Company and Ternium Internacional 
S.A. (a wholly-owned subsidiary company) entered into the 
I.I.I. B.V.I. acquisition agreement. On the terms and subject 
to the conditions of this agreement, on June 6, 2007, 
Ternium Internacional S.A. (“Ternium Internacional”) 
acquired from the Company 50,000 shares of I.I.I. B.V.I. 
representing 100% of the issued and outstanding share 
capital of this company. In accordance with the agreement, 
the purchase price (amounting to USD 1,700,000,000) 
would be paid as follows: (I) USD 150,000,000 in cash; and 
(II) USD 1,550,000,000 through a convertible loan. 

•

•

•

•
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–

85.62%

100%

–

60.93%

100%

88.89%

100%

100%

COMPANY COUNTRY

I.I.I. Industrial Investments Inc. – Note 2

Consorcio Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd. – Note 2

Ternium Treasury Services S.A.– Note 2

Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A. – Note 2

Siderar S.A.I.C. – Note 2

Ternium Internacional Uruguay S.A. – Note 2 

Ylopa – Serviços de Consultadoria Lda. – Note 2

Fasnet International S.A. – Note 2 

Alvory S.A.– Note 2

Shares in affiliated undertakings

British Virgin 
Islands

Cayman Islands

Uruguay

Panama

Argentina

Uruguay

Portugal

Panama

Uruguay

Net additions 
/ (decrease)

USD

 1,490,636,610

1,120,262,694

–

561,050,327

1,475,154,500

120,000,000

7,378,665

19,189,200

2,354,000

4,796,025,996

Book value at   
12.31.2006

USD

(1,490,636,610)

 544,378,049

 3,000,000

(561,050,327)

–

1,700,000,000

16,672,277

(19,179,200)

1,793,658

194,977,847

Book value at   
12.31.2007

USD

–

1,664,640,743

3,000,000

–

1,475,154,500

1,820,000,000

24,050,942

10,000

4,147,658

4,991,003,843

% of 
beneficial
ownership

On December 6, 2007, the convertible loan was converted 
into shares of Ternium Internacional (excluding interest 
accrued at that day for USD 50,374,979). On June 6, 
2007, the Company made a cash contribution of USD 
150,000,000 to Ternium Internacional. This contribution 
was used to cancel the cash portion of the purchase price 
agreed for the acquisition of I.I.I. B.V.I. as described above

On August 17, 2007, Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A. 
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) transferred 
to the Company its investments in Amazonia and Ylopa 

Roberto Philipps

Chief Financial Officer

– Serviços de Consultadoria. As a result of the transactions 
mentioned above, the Company increased its ownership 
in Amazonia and Ylopa up to 85.62% and 88.89%, 
respectively. Afterwards, the Company decided the 
reduction of Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A.’s capital to 
USD 800 and sold it for an aggregate purchase price 
of USD 982.

As a result of the transactions detailed above, the financial 
assets of the Company as at December 31, 2007, consist of 
the following:

•

•
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To the Shareholders of 
Ternium S.A.

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Ternium S.A., which comprise the 
balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the profit and loss account for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to the 
preparation of the financial statements. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing as adopted 
by the “Institut des Réviseurs d’Entreprises”. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the Auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the Auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

Independent auditor’s report

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Société à responsabilité limitée                                                 
Réviseur d’Entreprises
400, route d’Esch
B.P. 1443

L-1014 Luxembourg
Telephone +352 494848-1
Facsimile +352 494848-2900
www.pwc.com/lu
info@lu.pwc.com
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control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Ternium S.A. as of December 31, 2007, and of the results of its operations for the year then ended 
in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to the preparation of 
financial statements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The management report, which is the responsibility of the Board of Directors, is in accordance 
with the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.à r.l. 

Réviseur d’entreprises

Represented by

Mervyn R. Martins

(Partner)

Luxembourg, 

February 26, 2008
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12.31.2006

 18,635,656

 18,635,656

4,796,025,996

–

4,796,025,996

–

  8,405

  8,405

–

 66,763,655 

 66,763,655

4,881,433,712

ASSETS

FORMATION EXPENSES

FIXED ASSETS

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Shares in affiliated undertakings

Loans to affiliated undertakings

CURRENT ASSETS

DEBTORS

Receivables owed by affiliated undertakings

Other receivables

CASH AT BANKS, CASH IN HAND AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

With affiliated undertakings

With third parties

Total assets

Amounts expressed in USD

12.31.2007

 14,858,687

 14,858,687

4,991,003,843

 32,583,576

5,023,587,419

 1,500,849

  21,663

 1,522,512

 337,876,480

 31,707,391

 369,583,871

5,409,552,489

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these annual accounts. 

Balance sheets
as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 

NOTES

4

5

6

7

2,004,743,442  

 200,474,346  

 402,148,809  

1,414,121,505  

 107,612,101 

 392,230,475

4,521,330,678 

4,758,926

 4,758,926

117,245,291

 3,763,818

 181,188,895

 51,835,596

 1,310,508

 355,344,108

4,881,433,712

LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital

Legal reserve

Distributable reserves

Non distributable reserves

Retained earnings 

Profit for the year

PROVISIONS

Tax provision

CREDITORS

Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings
becoming due and payable after more than one year 

becoming due and payable within one year

Amounts owed to credit institutions 
Becoming due and payable after more than one year 

becoming due and payable within one year

OTHER CREDITORS

becoming due and payable within one year

Total liabilities

2,004,743,442  

200,474,346  

301,911,637  

1,414,121,505  

499,842,576 

731,983,510

5,153,077,016

 5,814,588

 5,814,588

 117,245,291

 2,889,945

 111,111,111

 17,407,495

 2,007,043

 250,660,885

5,409,552,489

8

10

13

11

11

12

12
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12.31.2006

   

 4,659,163

8,709,577

40,233,956

30,120

4,640,297

392,230,475

 450,503,588

–

 10,561,099

 439,942,489

 450,503,588

CHARGES

Amortization of formation expenses

Administrative and general expenses

Interest expense

Realized loss on exchange

Taxes (other than income taxes)

Profit for the year

Total charges

INCOME

Realized gain from sale of shares in affiliated undertakings

Interest income 

Dividends income

Total income

Amounts expressed in USD

12.31.2007

 4,808,219

 10,919,853

 17,458,077

  296,171

 5,986,682

 731,983,510

 771,452,512

 189,986,450

 59,260,209

 522,205,853

 771,452,512

Profit and loss accounts 
for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

NOTES

4

14

15

13

2

15

16

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these annual accounts. 
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Notes to the accounts 

1. Business of the Company

Ternium S.A. (the “Company” or “Ternium”) was 
incorporated on December 22, 2003 as a Luxembourg 
société anonyme holding under the law of August 10, 
1915, relating to commercial companies and the law 
of July 31, 1929, relating to holding companies for an 
unlimited period. 

The registered office of the Company is established in 
Luxembourg. The Company’s financial year starts on 
January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year.

Ternium’s ADS began trading on the New York Exchange 
under the symbol “TX” on February 1, 2006.

The Company’s objective is to invest in companies that 
manufacture, process and distribute flat and long steel 
products, providing raw materials for several industrial 
activities.

The Company also prepares consolidated financial 
statements, which are published according to the 
provisions of the law and are available at the registered 
office of the Company, 46a, Avenue John F. Kennedy - 
2nd floor, L-1855, Luxembourg.

2. Acquisition of business

On March 28, 2006, the Company acquired from its 
affiliated company Hylsamex S.A. de C.V. (“Hylsamex”) 
3,500,000 shares of Consorcio Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd 
(“Amazonia”) and 12,831,079 shares of Hylsa Latin L.L.C. 
(“Hylsa Latin”). Hylsa Latin was a holding company 
whose main asset was an ownership interest in Amazonia. 
As of that date, the Company acquired from its affiliated 
company Hylsa S.A. de C.V. (“Hylsa”) 210,089,045 
additional shares of Hylsa Latin, thus reaching a 100% 
equity interest in that company.

On September 29, 2006, the Company made a cash 
contribution of USD 2,354,000 to Alvory S.A. (“Alvory”), 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The above-
mentioned contribution was used to purchase a 50% equity 
interest in Lomond Holdings B.V. from Tenaris S.A., a 
related entity under the common control of Ternium’s 
majority shareholders. The purchase price for this 
acquisition totaled USD 2,254,000.

On October 31, 2006, Hylsa Latin transferred to the 
Company its entire investment in Amazonia. Afterwards, 
the Company commenced the cancellation process of 
Hylsa Latin, which was completed in January, 2007.

As a result of the transactions mentioned above, at the end 
of the year 2006, the Company increased its ownership in 
Amazonia Ltd. up to 60.63%.

On December 28, 2006, the Company acquired from 
CVRD International S.A. 16,860,000 shares representing 
a 4.85% equity interest in Siderar S.A.I.C. (a subsidiary 
company), for an aggregate purchase price of 
USD 107,500,000. Upon consummation of this 
transaction, the Company increased its ownership in 
Siderar S.A.I.C. (“Siderar”) to 211,701,012 shares or 
60.93% of its share capital.

On April 29, 2007, the Company entered into an 
agreement with Grupo Imsa S.A.B. de C.V. (“Grupo 
Imsa”) and Grupo Imsa’s controlling shareholders under 
which the Company, through its subsidiaries, obtained 
control of Grupo Imsa for a total consideration (equity 
value) of approximately USD 1.7 billion.

Under the above-mentioned agreement with Grupo 
Imsa, the Company, through Ternium Internacional 
España S.L.U. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Terrnium 
Internacional), made a cash tender offer under applicable 
Mexican law for all of the issued and outstanding share 
capital of Grupo Imsa at a price of USD 6.40 per share. 
Pursuant to the tender offer, the Company indirectly 
acquired 25,133,856 shares representing 9.3% of the 
issued and outstanding capital of Grupo Imsa.

Concurrently with the consummation of the tender 
offer, on July 26, 2007, all the shares of Grupo Imsa that 
were not tendered into the tender offer (including the 
shares owned by Grupo Imsa’s majority shareholders), 
representing 90.7% of Grupo Imsa’s issued and 
outstanding share capital were redeemed for cash pursuant 
to a capital reduction effected at the same price per share.

Accordingly, the Company, through Ternium Internacional 
España S.L.U., now owns all of Grupo Imsa’s issued and 
outstanding share capital.



 108. Ternium

The transactions were financed primarily through the 
incurrence of debt as follows:

The Company made several borrowings in an aggregate 
principal amount of USD 125 million under a loan facility 
with a syndicate of banks led by Calyon New York 
Branch as administrative agent, the proceeds of which 
were primarily used to finance the tender offer described 
above. Ternium S.A.’s loans under the Ternium Facility 
will be repaid in nine consecutive and equal semi-annual 
installments commencing on July 26, 2008. See Note 12.

Ternium’s affiliated company Hylsa made several 
borrowings in an aggregate principal amount of 
USD 3,485 million under a loan facility (the “Hylsa 
Facility”) with a syndicate of banks led by Calyon New 
York Branch as administrative agent, the proceeds of 
which were primarily used to finance the capital reduction 
described above by Grupo Imsa, to refinance the existing 
indebtedness of Grupo Imsa and Hylsa and to pay taxes, 
fees and expenses related to the transactions. 

Grupo Imsa assumed on August 3, 2007, certain of Hylsa’s 
loans under the Hylsa Facility, as well as a portion of 
Hylsa’s remaining unused commitments. Following the 
assumption date:

Hylsa’s debt under the Hylsa Facility amounted to 
USD 2,070 million in principal amount, and Grupo Imsa’s 
debt under that facility amounted to USD 1,415 million in 
principal amount; and

Grupo Imsa’s unused commitment under the facility 
amounted to USD 140 million. 

The loans of Hylsa and Grupo Imsa are each divided in 
two tranches of equal principal amount. Tranche A loans 
will be repaid in seven equal semi-annual installments 
beginning on January 26, 2009, while Tranche B loans will 
be repaid in one installment due on July 26, 2012.

On May 3, 2007, the Company made a cash contribution 
of USD 1,793,658 to Alvory, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company. 

On May 24, 2007, the Company acquired from the 
wholly-owned subsidiary Industrial Investments Inc. 

(“I.I.I. B.V.I.”) one share of Fasnet International S.A. 
(“Fasnet”), a holding company whose main asset was an 
ownership interest in I.I.I. B.V.I. The purchase price for this 
acquisition totaled USD 187,740: through this acquisition 
the Company reached a 100% equity interest in Fasnet. As 
of that date, Fasnet transferred to the Company its entire 
investment in I.I.I. B.V.I. by means of a capital reduction of 
USD 19,179,200. 

Afterwards, on June 1, 2007, the Company and Ternium 
Internacional S.A. (a wholly-owned subsidiary company) 
entered into the I.I.I. B.V.I. acquisition agreement. On the 
terms and subject to the conditions of this agreement, 
on June 6, 2007, Ternium Internacional S.A. (“Ternium 
Internacional”) acquired from the Company 50,000 
shares of I.I.I. B.V.I. representing 100% of the issued and 
outstanding share capital of this company. In accordance 
with the agreement, the purchase price (amounting to 
USD 1,700,000,000) would be paid as follows: (i) USD 
150,000,000 in cash; and (II) USD 1,550,000,000 through 
a convertible loan. On December 6, 2007, the convertible 
loan was converted into shares of Ternium Internacional 
(excluding interest accrued at that day for USD 50,374,979).

On June 6, 2007, the Company made a cash contribution 
of USD 150,000,000 to Ternium Internacional. This 
contribution was used to cancel the cash portion of the 
purchase price agreed for the acquisition of I.I.I. B.V.I. as 
described above.

On June 27, 2007, the Company made a cash contribution 
of USD 3,000,000 to Ternium Treasury Services S.A. 
(“T.T.S.”), a newly-incorporated company whose main 
activity is the rendering of financial services to Ternium 
and its subsidiaries as well as the centralization of the 
Company’s cash management functions.

Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A. (a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company) is a holding company, whose main 
assets were ownership interests in Ylopa – Serviços de 
Consultadoria (“Ylopa”) and Amazonia. On August 
17, 2007, Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A. transferred to the 
Company its entire interest in these investments. As a 
result of the transactions mentioned above, the Company 
increased its ownership in Amazonia and Ylopa up 
to 85.62% and 88.89%, respectively. On October 10, 
the Company, as the sole shareholder of Inversiones 

•

•

•

•
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Siderúrgicas S.A., decided the reduction of its capital 
to USD 800. On November 22, 2007, the Company 
sold Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A. to Techint Financial 
Corporation N.V. for an aggregate purchase price 
of USD 982.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

3.1 Basis of preparation

The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements and 
accounting standards on a basis consistent to that used in 
the previous year.

3.2 Foreign currency translation

Financial assets, current and non-current assets and debts 
denominated in currencies other than the United States 
dollar (“USD”) are translated into USD at the rate of 
exchange at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses in 
currencies other than the USD are translated into USD at 
the exchange rate prevailing at the date of each transaction. 
Only realized exchange gains and losses and unrealized 
losses are accounted for in the profit and loss accounts.

3.3 Formation expenses

IPO expenses are amortized on a straight-line method over 
a period of 5 years.

2006

 5,457,657

 17,838,570

–

 23,296,227

  1,408

 4,659,163

–

 4,659,163

 4,660,571

 18,635,656

DECEMBER 31

GROSS AMOUNT

At the beginning of the year

Additions of IPO expenses (I)

Additions of debt issue costs (II)

At the end of the year

AMORTIZATION

At the beginning of the year

Charge for the year – IPO expenses

Charge for the year – debt issue costs

Total charge for the year

At the end of the year

Net book value at the end of the year

2007

 23,296,227

–

 1,031,250

 24,327,477

 4,660,571

 4,658,914

  149,305

 4,808,219

 9,468,790

 14,858,687

Expenses incurred in connection with the Initial Public Offering are being 
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 years beginning at the closing 
date of such process.
Expenses incurred in connection with a financial debt are being amortized over the 
life of the respective debt.

(I)

(II)

Amounts expressed in USD

Capitalized debt issue costs are amortized over the life 
of the respective debt. 

3.4 Financial assets

Shares in affiliated undertakings are stated at cost. 

Loans to affiliated undertakings are stated at nominal value 
plus accrued interest at year end.

In case of other than temporary decline in the value of an 
investment, its carrying value will be reduced to recognize 
this decline. Reductions in the carrying value will be 
reversed in case of a rise in the value of the investment 
or when the reasons for the reduction no longer exist. At 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, no impairment provisions 
were recorded. 

3.5 Financial debt

Financial liabilities are stated at nominal value plus accrued 
interest at year end.

3.6 Receivables and payables

Receivables and payables are valued at their nominal value.

4. Formation expenses
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5. Financial assets

Shares in affiliated undertakings

Ternium’s investments in affiliated undertakings at 
December 31, 2007, were as follows:

Loans to affiliated undertakings

On November 23, 2007, the Company granted a loan to 
Ternium Treasury Services B.V. (a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of T.T.S.) for a total amount of EUR 22,000,000 due in one 
year. This loan accrues interest at an annual rate of LIBO in 
Euros for six months.

6. Receivables owed by affiliated undertakings

–

85.62%

100%

–

60.93%

100%

88.89%

100%

100%

COMPANY COUNTRY % of 
beneficial
ownership

I.I.I. Industrial Investments Inc. – Note 2

Consorcio Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd. – Note 2

Ternium Treasury Services S.A.– Note 2

Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A. – Note 2

Siderar S.A.I.C. – Note 2

Ternium Internacional Uruguay S.A. – Note 2 

Ylopa – Serviços de Consultadoria Lda. – Note 2

Fasnet International S.A. – Note 2 

Alvory S.A.– Note 2

Shares in affiliated undertakings

British Virgin 
Islands

Cayman Islands

Uruguay

Panama

Argentina

Uruguay

Portugal

Panama

Uruguay

Net additions 
/ (decrease)

USD

 1,490,636,610

1,120,262,694

–

561,050,327

1,475,154,500

120,000,000

7,378,665

19,189,200

2,354,000

4,796,025,996

Book value at   
12.31.2006

USD

(1,490,636,610)

 544,378,049

 3,000,000

(561,050,327)

–

1,700,000,000

16,672,277

(19,179,200)

1,793,658

194,977,847

Book value at   
12.31.2007

USD

–

1,664,640,743

3,000,000

–

1,475,154,500

1,820,000,000

24,050,942

10,000

4,147,658

4,991,003,843

2007

Ternium Treasury Services B.V.  32,583,576

2006

 –

2007

Ternium Internacional España S.L.U. (1)  1,500,849

2006

 –

Corresponds to fees paid by the Company on behalf of Ternium Internacional 
España S.L.U. in connection with the acquisition of Grupo Imsa. 

(1)
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2006

–

–

 5,206,666 

  65,989

  84,606

  55,972

 61,332,811

  16,731

880

 66,763,655   

 66,763,655

2007

 337,876,480

 337,876,480

 31,337,671

  222,414

  91,236

  45,936

  8,250 

–

  1,884

 31,707,391

 369,583,871

The authorized capital of the Company amounts to 
USD 3,500 million. The total authorized share capital of 
the Company is represented by 3,500,000,000 shares with 
a par value of USD 1.00 per share. The total capital issued 
and fully paid-up at December 31, 2007, was 2,004,743,442 
shares with a par value of USD 1.00 per share.

9. Distributions of dividends

During the Annual General Shareholders’ meeting held 
on June 6, 2007, the shareholders approved a 
distribution of dividends of USD 0.05 per share (USD 
0.50 per ADS), or USD 100.2 million. The dividends 
were paid on June 12, 2007.

8. Shareholders’ equity

ITEM

Balance at the beginning of the year

Allocation of previous year results (1)

Payment of dividends (1) – Note 9 

Profit for the year

Balance at the end of the year

Legal
reserve

2,004,743,442

–

–

–

2,004,743,442

 Share
capital

 200,474,346

–

–

–

 200,474,346

Distrib.
reserves

402,148,809

–

(100,237,172)

–

 301,911,637

Non-distrib.
reserves

1,414,121,505

–

–

–

1,414,121,505

Retained
earnings

107,612,101

392,230,475 

–

–

 499,842,576

Result for 
the year

392,230,475

(392,230,475) 

–

 731,983,510

 731,983,510

Shareholders’
equity

4,521,330,678

–

(100,237,172)

 731,983,510

5,153,077,016

As approved by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on June 6, 2007.(1)

Amounts expressed in USD

DECEMBER 31 

WITH AFFILIATED UNDERTAKINGS – NOTE 2

T.T.S. – Time deposits denominated in USD 

WITH THIRD PARTIES

Citifunds – Time deposits denominated in USD 

Citibank, New York – DDA account denominated in USD

Citibank, London – DDA account denominated in USD

Citibank, London – DDA account denominated in EUR 

Investments in securities in USD

Lehman Brother – DDA account denominated in USD

Petty cash

 Total cash at banks, cash in hand and cash equivalents

7. Cash at banks, cash in hand and cash equivalents 
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DECEMBER 31

NON-CURRENT

Hylsamex (1)

Hylsa

Total non-current

CURRENT

Siderar

Hylsamex (1)

Hylsa

Total current

2007

117,245,291

–

117,245,291

680,075

2,209,870

–

2,889,945

10. Restrictions on the distribution of profits

In accordance with Luxembourg Law, the Company is 
required to set aside a minimum of 5% of its annual net 
profit for each financial period to a legal reserve. This 
requirement ceases to be necessary once the balance of 
the legal reserve has reached 10% of the Company’s issued 
share capital. At December 31, 2007, this reserve reached 
the above-mentioned threshold. The legal reserve is not 
available for distribution to shareholders.

11. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings

DECEMBER 31

FINANCIAL DEBT

Non-current

Current

2007

 111,111,111

 17,407,495

12. Amounts owed to credit institutions

Amounts expressed in USD

Amounts expressed in USD

During the year ended December 31, 2007, Hylsamex acquired from Hylsa the credit 
previously held by that company against Ternium. This loan accrues interest at an annual 
rate of LIBO plus 200 basis points.

(1)

2006

14,059,444

103,185,847

117,245,291

1,486,654

273,066

2,004,098

3,763,818

2006

 181,188,895

 51,835,596
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DECEMBER 31

Services and fees

Other expenses

Total

2007

 9,095,789

1,824,064

 10,919,853

Amounts expressed in USD

As of December 31, 2007, the entire outstanding debt 
corresponds to a financial loan granted by a syndicate of 
banks led by Calyon New York Branch.

Following the positive business environment and its sound 
financial position, as of 31 December, 2007, Tranche B 
of the Ternium Credit Facility related with Grupo Hylsa 
Acquisition has been fully repaid.

On January 28, 2008, the Company prepaid all of its 
outstanding obligations with Calyon New York Branch, 
aumonting to approximately USD 129.1 million, related 
with Grupo Imsa Acquisition.

13. Taxes

The Company has qualified for, and was admitted to, the 
Billionaire holding company tax regime in conjunction 
with the financing holding Company tax regime in 

Luxembourg starting January 1, 2006. The company 
recorded USD 0.2 million in this connection during the 
year ended December 31, 2007.

The Company is also subject to personal assets tax 
in Argentina for the holding of stock in its subsidiary 
Siderar. Accordingly, the Company recognized a provision 
amounting to USD 5.8 million as of December 31, 2007,
for that concept.

On December 29, 2006, the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg 
announced the decision to terminate its 1929 holding 
company regime, effective January 1, 2007. However, 
under the implementing legislation, pre-existing publicly 
listed companies (including Ternium S.A.) will be entitled 
to continue benefiting from their current tax regime until 
December 31, 2010.

14. Administrative and general expenses

15. Interest expenses/income

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2007, 
totaled USD 17.5 million, as a result of the amounts 
owed to: (I) affiliated companies in connection with 
the acquisitions of investments (USD 8.7 million) and 
(II) financial institutions involved in the acquisition of 
Hylsamex SA de CV and its subsidiaries (USD 5.3 million) 
and Grupo Imsa (USD 3.5 million). 

Interest income totaled USD 59.3 million as a result of the 
convertible loan entered into with Ternium Internacional 
(USD 50.4 million), financial investments held with 
T.T.S.(USD 6.0 million) and other financial investments in 
securities as mentioned in Note 7 (USD 2.9 million).

2006

7,934,181

  775,396

 8,709,577



 114. Ternium

DECEMBER 31

Consorcio Siderurgia Amazonia Ltd. (Cayman Islands)

Industrial Investments Inc. B.V.I. (British Virgin Islands)

Inversiones Siderúrgicas S.A. (Panama)

Siderar S.A.I.C. (Argentina)

Fasnet Internacional S.A. (Panama)

Ylopa – Serviços de Consultadoria Lda. (Madeira – Free Zone)

Ternium Internacional Uruguay S.A. (Uruguay)

Hylsa Latin L.L.C. (USA)

Total

2006

  232,935,424

–

113,280,040

22,650,268

–

24,255,389

5,000,000

41,821,368

439,942,489

Amounts expressed in USD

16. Dividends income

2007

277,464,108

 126,230,000

 79,946,642

 30,744,103

7,821,000

–

–

–

522,205,853

17. Parent company

The Company is controlled by San Faustín, which at 
December 31, 2007, indirectly owned 70.52% of Ternium’s 
shares and voting rights. Rocca & Partners S.A. controls 
a significant portion of the voting power of San Faustín 
N.V. and has the ability to influence matters affecting, or 
submitted to a vote of the shareholders of San Faustín 
N.V., such the election of directors, the approval of certain 
corporate transactions and other matters concerning the 
Company’s policies. There are no controlling shareholders 
for Rocca & Partners S.A.

18. Other significant transaction

On December 19, 2007, the Company, through its 
subsidiary Imsa Acero S.A. de C.V., entered into a stock 
purchase agreement with BlueScope Steel North America 
Corporation, a subsidiary of BlueScope Steel Limited, for 
the sale of Imsa’s interests in Steelscape Inc., ASC Profiles 
Inc., Varco Pruden Buildings Inc. and Metl-Span LLC. 
Following consummation of the sale, the Company will 
continue to own Steelscape’s Shreveport plant.

On February 1, 2008, the Company completed this sale for 
a total consideration of USD 726.0 million on a cash-free 
and debt-free basis, subject to working capital and other 
adjustments. The Company intends to use the proceeds of 
the sale to prepay financial debt.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, sold the assets 
after determining that they were not a strategic fit with 
its production system. The Company continues to own 
Steelscape’s Shreveport, LA plant, which has already been 
integrated into its operations. Ternium has also retained 
its pre-engineered metal buildings and insulated steel 
panels businesses in Mexico.
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